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AA- Aa3
S&P AA-
UVAE
UAE
UAE UAE 1980 11
22 GCC
2015
2015 20
2015 12 21
GCC
UAE GCC
UAE UAE UAE

UAE
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UAE
UAE 2018
UAE GCC VAT GCC 2021 VAT
UAE 2017 23 2017 UAE
2017 11 28 UAE VAT
2020 5 11 VAT 5% 15%
2020 7 1 2020 5 11 UAE UAE
VAT
VAT UAE
2019 12 31 12 20.2 19.4
2019 5.1
2018
2018
12.8 NIM 2.11% 2018 2.36
16 7.5
FX
FX
5.5
2019 12
2019 2018 25.8 26.8
1.8 2018
48
2018 12 11.5 13.5

2018
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3.2 93
2019
16
408
12 519
CASA
174
LCR 129
2019 5.8
850
1.1
500
MENA
2020 500 485 30
2019 12 108
CET
12.4 13.5
CET D-SIB 1.5
11
2018 12 15.7 14.6 16.9 15.7
2019 RoTE RoORWA 2018
16.2 2.46 16.1 2.56
CIB 2019
55 PBG 37
14
CiB
CIB 2019
11

UAE
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ooooood
21
12
GM 33
ALM
GM
GM
2019
GTB
CASA
RPA)
2020 UAE UTC)
GCF 2019 36 2014
MENA
GCF
2019 MENA
DCM
ESG
GCF ECM
PBG
2019
CASA 13
IVR
KYC
Payit 2020
2019

Tawazun Economic Council
(Mohammed Bin Rashid Fund)
Ras Al Khaimah Economic Zone
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12 UAE ID UAEPASS

IT
IT

NBAD FGB IT IT
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2019 12 31
15
2019 12 31 UAE 67 535
ATM 2019 12 31
2019 12 31 4.6
2019 12 31

7.9

2019 12 31
47.1
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ADX 2000
2019 12 31 10,920,000
2018 12 31
10,897,545 40 UAE
2019 12 31
10,920,000 10,920,000
2019 12 31
10,920,000 ADX
2015 12 31
473,611 5,209,723 473,611 5,209,723
2016 1231 44,823 5,254,546 44,823 5,254,546
2017 12 31
5,643,000 10,897,545 5,643,000 10,897,545
2018 12 31
0 10,897,545 0 10,897,545
2019 12 31
22,455 10,920,000 22,455 10,920,000
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2015
2017 2017 FGB
5,643,000,000 FGB NBAD 1.254
2016 2019 NBAD
2019 12 31
7 833 3,685 4,575
. 216,605,176 528,576,590 2,155,953,415 10,901,135,181
1.98% 78.4% 19.78% 100.00%
ADX

18,864,819
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(2019 12 31 )

3,634,790 33.34
61999

401,507 3.68
15

10 50
10
50

10
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2009 518 SCA
2010
UAE 2010
UAE
UAE SCA
UAE
2009 UAE UAE
UAE 2019

BRCC

10

GCEO

GCEO

GCEO GCEO GCEO

UAE
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OooooOodd
4
(RENCO)
REMCO 3
RENCO
REMCO
REMCO H.H.
H.E.
H.E.
REMCO REMCO
REMCO 2
2019 12 31 RENCO 2
BiC
BUC 4 BNC
BMC
UAE
BNC H.E.
H.E. H.E.
H.E.
BIC BIC
BIC 4 2019
12 31 REMCO 4
BRCC
BRCC 4

BRCC
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BRCC

BRCC H.E.

H.E. H.E

BRCC BRCC

BRCC 4
2019 12 31 BRCC 5

BAC

BAC 3

BAC H.E. H.E.
H.E.
H.E.

BAC 3 BAC

BAC 4 2019
12 31 BAC 4

EXco

GCEO
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10
GCEO
1
2019 12 31
BRCC
7
2019 12 31
4
BRCC BRCC
GCEO
2019 12 31

10
GCEO
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OooooOodd

2019 12 31 13

cIB

3
GCEO
2019 12 31
10
BMC( BRCC
4
GCEO
2019 12 31
REMCO
7 GCEO
2019 12 31

12
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9
6
2019 12 31
6
BRCC
IT
ERMP
ID
6
6
2019 12 31
EXCO EXCO
BRCC IT
EXCO
9
CGEO
2019 12 31
11

10
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(2019 12
31 )
H.H. FGB
1968
H.H. Sheikh 12
Tahnoon Bin
Zayed Al
Nahyan
H.E. NBAD
15
1978 o Abu
H.E. Dhabi National Insurance Company
Sheikh 10 19
Mohammed Bin
Saif Bin
Mohammed Al
Nahyan
2019 4
1
(National
Electronic Security Authority NESA )
Abu Dhabi
H.E. Development Holding Company
Abu Dhabi Retirement
Pensions & Benefits Fund
1974
H.E. Jassim 28 Injazat Data Systems Company
Mohammed
Buataph Al Al Yahsat
Zaabi

Satellite Communications Company

Mohamed bin Zayed University of
Artificial Intelligence
Emirates Nuclear
Energy Corporation
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UAE

Abu Dhabi National
0il Company ADNOC

UAE
MIC
MIC
H.E Masdar 2009
2019
Abu Dhabi Ports Company
1973
H.E. Dr. 8 31
Sultan Ahmed
Al Jaber
Masdar UAE
UAE National Media Council
Abu
Dhabi Media Company
Emirates
Diplomatic Academy Board of Trustees
Emirates Global Aluminium
NBAD
Bin Srour
H.E. Engineering
NCC
1971 Abu Dhabi National Hotels
H.E. Sheikh Company
Ahmed Mohammed Abu Dhabi Aviation
Sultan Al
Dhaheri 1996 2009
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FGB

Shuaa Capital
Shuaa Capital

Abu Dhabi
Financial Group
Gulf Finance House
H.E. SALAMA(Islamic Arab Insurance
Company)
Eshraq
H.E. 1984 Investments PJSC
Jassim 26 Khaleeji Commercial Bank
Mohammed Al the Entertainer
Seddiqi
Abu Dhabi Capital Group ANDOC
ADNOC Distribution
Dana Gas
Petroleum Institute
NBAD
H.E. ADIC
1974 ADIA
H.E. Khalifa 1 UAE
Sultan Al
Suwaidi
FGB GCC
H.E. Abu Dhabi Chamber of Commerce
and Industry
National Marina
1966 Dredging Co
Arabtec Holding
H.E.

Mohammed Thani
Al Rumaithi

Thani Murshed
Unilever
Abu Dhabi Sports Council
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FGB
Abu Dhabi Fund for
Development

Al Ain Farms for Livestock

Production
H.E. Abu Dhabi Centre of Food
Security
1968 Al Jazira
H.E. 10 Sports and Cultural Club,  UAE
Mohammed Saif UAE Red Cresent DP DP
Al Suwaidi World
11
MIC
4
MIC
MIC
2030
H.E. MIC
UAE
Offsets Program Bureau
1974
H.E. Waleed 12
Al Mokarrab Al
Muhairi
H.E.
Cleveland Clinic Abu Dhabi
Waha Capital
Aldar
Properties

Abu Dhabi Global
Market Emirates
Investment Authority
Tamouh Investments

Investcorp Holdings
Bahrain
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10 : )
(2019 12
31 )
2017
FGB
2006
2017 FGB
FAB 20
FAB FGB
UAE
UAE
FGB BB+
1954 A
Andre 11
Sayegh
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OOoOooOodd
2016
FGB NBAD
2017
2017
FGB
FGB
IT
36
1959 FGB
- ) 23
Zulfigar Ali
Sulaiman
A B
ABN ABN AMRO
Standard
Chartered
1969 ASEAN
Mr. Pradeep 20
Rana
Danske Bank
M&A
2017
FGB
25
1964 FeB
Ka(im WA 16
Karoui
First Gulf Libyan Bank
IHEC
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FGB
UAE FGB
FGB
1972
Hana Al 19
Rostamani
VISA International
Association
2014
30
ANZ NBAD NBAD
ANZ
ANZ
HSBC 17
1968
James 31
Burdett HSBC
2017
A
B 1964
Fadel A. B.
Al Ali
Dubai Holding
UAE
15
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FGB
26
20
National Commercial
1
o 968 Bank 2013
Shirish 29 FGB 2016
Bhide FGB
25
Procter &
Gamble Maersk
1971 Group
Peter Baker 80
Damco
HSBC
NAB 21
1977 UAE
o 27
Yuri Misnik NAB
NAB
21
1,590
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BAC

30
FGB 2001
2007 FGB

National Bank of Umm Al Quwain

Sampath Bank UAE
1966 Commercial Bank plc
Nurendra
Perera
UAE
CIA CFSA CRMA ISACA CISA
CRISC
CIB INSEAD
2015 UAE 169
10%
2019 12 31 54,750
)
7613
15 1995
UAE 22 UAE
2019 12 31
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UAE

12

oOoOooodn

)
Abu Dhabi Accountability Authority
150,000

)
AED
UAE 4,681,216 51,450 4,732,666
724,003 - 724,003
332,160 101,652 433,812
1,214 12,309 13,523
42,607 - 42,607
244,022 113,061 357,083
338,727 - 338,727
AlB* - - -
133,560 - 133,560
* 291,089 65,545 356,633
127,918 - 127,918
131,821 3,069 134,889
ADNL* - - -
84,726 132,953 217,679
ADNP* - - -
ADNIF* 75,128 - 75,128
FAB 169,958 - 169,958
DIFC* - - -
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ooooooo
- 310,736 310,736
17,587 - 17,587
104,344 - 104,344
38,955 - 38,955
FG 254,172 - 254,172
FGP 92,453 - 92,453
50,085 - 50,085
Midmak 38,955 - 38,955
Mismak 72,345 - 72,345
Sas 20,553 - 20,553
45,000 30,121 75,121
8,112,595 820,894 8,933,489

*

AED
UAE 5,369,549 975,356 6,344,905
592,478 - 1,200,107
71,278 76,210 147,488
85,160 7,516 92,676
107,494 79,467 186,962
233,370 84,000 317,370
223,045 137,361 360,406
AlB* - - -
183,707 245,642 429,349
* 250,732 624,795 875,527
212,398 - 212,398
112,568 38,974 151,542
ADNL* 25,175 - 25,175
200,007 96,830 296,837
ADNP* 36,173 - 36,173
ADNIF* 75,128 - 75,128
FAB * 247,649 - 247,649
* - 159,153 159,153
25,807 - 25,807
DIFC* - - -
257,317 - 828,664
8,309,035 2,525,304 12,013,315
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IFRS 2019 12 31
38 59
131
AED
2020 UFJ
29.65
IFRS
IFRS
IFRS
b.
23 103

UAE 23 25 193
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Ooooood
12 31
2019 2018

169,702,008 5,031,664,537 182,908,727  5,423,243,756
20,099,181 595,940,717 14,620,910 433,509,982
10 17,026,502 504,835,784 19,176,092 568,571,128
11 24,678,375 731,713,819 19,033,451 564,341,822
40 15,917,321 471,948,568 13,084,192 387,946,293
12 407,903,028  12,094,324,780 352,966,420  10,465,454,353
13 114,644,422 3,399,207,112 90,433,574  2,681,355,469
14 7,956,854 235,920,721 7,388,493 219,068,817
15 4,618,986 136,952,935 3,991,215 118,339,525
16 19,498,087 578,118,280 19,699,711 584,096,431
17 19,923,251 590,724,392 20,583,602 610,303,799
821,968,015  24,371,351,645 743,886,387  22,056,231,375
18 36,007,875 1,067,633,494 40,266,535  1,193,902,763
19 38,821,848 1,151,067,793 34,769,685  1,030,921,160
20 21,236,955 629,675,716 18,144,105 537,972,713
40 19,228,541 570,126,241 15,219,464 451,257,108
21 519,161,857  15,393,149,060 465,237,066  13,794,279,007
22 55,751,819 1,653,041,433 42,268,173  1,253,251,329
23 381,305 11,305,693 401,979 11,918,677
24 23,340,779 692,054,097 25,606,380 759,229,167
713,930,979  21,168,053,527 641,913,387  19,032,731,925
25 10,920,000 323,778,000 10,897,545 323,112,209
53,434,461 1,584,331,769 53,188,043  1,577,025,475

(18,864) (559,318) (25,530) (756,965)
10,920,000 323,778,000 9,483,238 281,178,007

25 2,474,032 73,355,049 (37,477) (1,111,193)
26 10,754,750 318,878,338 10,754,750 318,878,338
27 249,816 7,407,044 266,841 7,911,836
18,872,367 559,565, 682 17,083,868 506,536,686
107,606,562 3,190,534,563 101,611,278  3,012,774,393
430,474 12,763,554 361,722 10,725,057
108,037,036 3,203,298,117 101,973,000  3,023,499,450
821,968,015  24,371,351,645 743,886,387  22,056,231,375

2019 31
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46
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Ooooood
12 31
2019 2018
28 24,368,947 722,539,279 21,840,614 647,574,205
29 (11,594,145)  (343,766,399) (8,810,445)  (261,229,694)
12,774,802 378,772,879 13,030,169 386,344,511
4,730,688 140,264,899 4,879,988 144,691,644
(1,561,259) (46,291,329) (1,487,616) (44,107,814)
30 3,169,429 93,973,570 3,392,372 100,583,830
31 2,600,978 77,118,998 2,042,480 60,559,532
32 1,506,277 44,661,113 826,225 24,497,571
33 197,571 5,857,980 154,496 4,580,806
20,249,057 600,384,540 19,445,742 576,566,250
34 (5.498,991)  (163,045,083) (5,328,555)  (157,991,656)
14,750,066 437,339,457 14,117,187 418,574,595
35 (1,842,980) (54,644,357) (1,725,794) (51,169,792)
12,907,086 382,695,100 12,391,393 367,404,802
36 (314,463) (9,323,828) (325,004) (9,636,369)
12,592,623 373,371,272 12,066,389 357,768,434
12,520,203 371,224,019 12,010,820 356,120,813
72,420 2,147,253 55,569 1,647,621
12,592,623 373,371,272 12,066,389 357,768,434
/) v 1.10 32.62 1.06 31.43
/) & 1.10 32.62 1.06 31.43

46
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12 31
2019 2018
12,592,623 373,371,272 12,066,389 357,768,434
(47,394) (1,405,232) (270,017) (8,006,004)
) 1,941,181 57,556,017 (936,930) (27,779,975)
27,308 809,682 (102,223) (3,030,912)
(17,295) (512,797) (13,601) (403,270)
(54,750) (1,623,338) (54,750) (1,623,338)
1,849,050 54,824,333 (1,377,521) (40,843,498)
14,441,673 428,195,604 10,688,868 316,924,936
14,372,921 426,157,108 10,655,460 315,934,389
68,752 2,038,497 33,408 990,547
14,441,673 428,195,604 10,688,868 316,924,936
46
12 31
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2019

oOoOooodn
2018

12 31

46

12,907,086 382,695,100

15,16 652,936 19,359,552
14 6,699 198,625
(136)(4,032)
(28,897)(856,796)
35 2,187,815 64,868,715
1,425,680 42,271,412
(22,997)(681,861)
(17,025)(504,791)

12,391,393 367,404,802

437,249 12,964,433
95,764 2,839,403
(1,551) (45,987)

(111,422)(3,303,662)

2,029,564 60,176,573

36,452 1,080,802
(670,603) (19,883,379)
10,576 313,578

17,111,161 507,345,924

(5,478,271)(162,430,735)
(8,870, 320) (263,004, 988)
(5,629,982) (166,928, 966)

(56,983,821)(1,689,570,293)

681,475 20,205,734
(4,258, 660) (126, 269, 269)
4,052,163 120,146,633
53,925,873 1,598,902,134

2,884,178 85,515,878
(2,949,789 (87,461,244)

14,217,422 421,546,562

7,093,387 210,318,925
(9,379,910)(278,114,332)
2,298,167 68,140,652
(27,190,417) (806,195, 864)
(5,009,629)(148,535,500)
9,690,199 287,314,400
(2,904,331)(86,113,414)
69,872,574 2,071,721,819
(2,308,854)(68,457,521)
4,086,161 121,154,674

(5,515,993) (163,549,192)
24 (312,750)(9,273,038)
(54,750)(1,623,338)

60,464,769 1,792,780,401
(293,342)(8,697,590)
(49,000) (1,452, 850)

(5,883,493) (174,445, 567)

60,122,427 1,782,629,961

(22,427,994) (664,990,022)

(489,805) (14,522,718)
8,865 262,847

(869,740)(25,787,791)

(5,381,782) (159,569, 836)
(270,046) (8,006, 864)
20,990 622,354
(885,837) (26,265, 067)

(23,778,674)(705,037,684)

(6.516,675)(193,219,414)

27 275,539 8,169,731

25 (7.843,642) (232,563, 985)
3,092,850 91,703,003

22 23,906,212 708,819,186

22 (13,529,379) (401,146, 087)

26 (571,855) (16,955,501)

178,302 5,286,654
(7,578,784)(224,710,946)
(5,979,992) (177,306, 763)

9,076,645 269,122,524
(7,735,417)(229,355,114)
(495,047) (14,678, 144)

5,329,725 158,026,346

(12,534,293)(371,641,787)

(24,332,442) (721, 456,905)
175,677,376 5,208,834,198

41,071,459 1,217,768,759
134,605,917 3,991,065,439

37 151,344,934 4,487,377,293

175,677,376 5,208,834,198
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12 31
2018 10,897,545 53,026,644 (42,433) 7,081,074 962,736 10,754,750 256,265 108,265 18,677,552 101,722,398 487,015 102,209,413
2018 IFRS 9
- - - - (184,078) - - - (2,682,560) (2,866,638) (158,701) (3,025,339)
2018 10,897,545 53,026,644 (42,433) 7,081,074 778,658 10,754,750 256,265 108,265 15,994,992 98,855,760 328,314 99,184,074
- - - - - - - - 12,010,820 12,010,820 55,569 12,066,389
- - - - (1,287,009) - - - (68,351) (1,355,360) (22,161) (1,377,521)
- - - - - - - - 7,597 7,597 - 7,597
27 - 161,399 16,903 - - - - - - 178,302 - 178,302
( ) - - - - - - - - (7,601,370) (7,601,370) - (7,601,370)
- - - - - - 10,576 - - 10,576 - 10,576
( 26) - - - - - - - - (495,047) (495,047) - (495,047)
- - - 2,402,164 108,265 - - (108,265) (2,402,164) - - -
IFRS - - - - 362,609 - - - (362,609) - - -
2018 12 31 10,897,545 53,188,043 (25,530) 9,483,238 (37,477) 10,754,750 266,841 - 17,083,868 101,611,278 361,722 101,973,000
2019 10,897,545 53,188,043 (25,530) 9,483,238 (37.477) 10,754,750 266,841 - 17,083,868 101,611,278 361,722 101,973,000
- - - - - - - - 12,520,205 12,520,205 72,420 12,592,625
- - - - 1,924,762 - - - (72,045) 1,852,717 (3,668) 1,849,049
- - - - - - - - 1,279) 1,279) - 1,279)
27 - 246,418 29,121 - - - - - - 275,539 - 275,539
( ) - - - - - - - - (8,063,018) (8,063,018) - (8,063,018)
- - - - - - (17,025) - - (17,025) - (17,025)
«  26) - - - - - - - - (571,855) (571,855) - (571,855)
- - - 1,436,762 - - - - (1,436,762) - - -
IFRS - - - - 595,921 - - - (595,921) - - -
FVoCI - - - 9,174) - - - 9,174 - - -
22,455 - (22,455) - - - - - - - - -
2019 12 31 10,920,000 53,434,461 (18,864) 10,920,000 2,474,032 10,754,750 249,816 - 18,872,367 107,606,562 430,474 108,037,036
46
2018 1 1 323,112,209  1,572,239,995 (1,258,138) 209,953,844 28,545,122 318,878,338 7,598,257 3,210,057 553,789,417 3,016,069,101 14,439,995 3,030,509,095
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OoOooOodnd

2018 IFRS 9

- - - - (5,457,913) - - - (79,537,904) (84,995,817)  (4,705,485) (89,701,301)
2018
323,112,209  1,572,239,995 (1,258,138) 209,953,844 23,087,210 318,878,338 7,598,257 3,210,057 474,251,513 2,931,073,284 9,734,510 2,940,807,794
- - - - - - - - 356,120,813 356,120,813 1,647,621 357,768,434
- - - - (38,159,817) - - - (2,026,607) (40,186,424)  (657,074) (40,843,498)
- - - - - - - - 225,251 225,251 - 225,251
27 - 4,785,480 501,174 - - - - - - 5,286,654 - 5,286,654
( ) - - - - - - - - (225,380,621) (225,380,621) - (225,380,621)
- - - - - - 313,578 - - 313,578 - 313,578
(  26) - - - - - - - - (14,678,144) (14,678,144) - (14,678,144)
- - - 71,224,163 3,210,057 - - (3,210,057) (71,224,163) - - -
IFRS - - - - 10,751,357 - - - (10,751,357) - - -
2018 12 31 323,112,209  1,577,025,475 (756,965) 281,178,007 (1,111,193) 318,878,338 7,911,836 - 506,536,686 3,012,774,393 10,725,057 3,023,499,450
2019 323,112,209  1,577,025,475 (756,965) 281,178,007 (1,111,193) 318,878,338 7,911,836 - 506,536,686  3,012,774,393 10,725,057 3,023,499,450
- - - - - - - - 371,224,078 371,224,078 2,147,253 373,371,331
- - - - 57,069,193 - - - (2,136,134) 54,933,059 (108,756) 54,824,303
- - - - - - - - (37,922) (37,922) - (37,922)
27 - 7,306,204 863,438 - - - - - - 8,169,731 - 8,169,731
( ) - - - - - - - - (239,068,484)  (239,068,484) - (239,068,484)
- - - - - - (504,791) - - (504,791) - (504,791)
( 26) - - - - - - - - (16,955,501)  (16,955,501) - (16,955,501)
- - - 42,599,993 - - - - (42,599,993) - - -
IFRS - - - - 17,669,058 - - - (17,669,058) - - -
FVOCI - - - (272,009) - - - 272,009 - - -
665,791 - (665,791) - - - - - - - - -
2019 12 31 323,778,000 1,584,331,769 (559,318) 323,778,000 73,355,049 318,878,338 7,407,044 - 559,565,682  3,190,534,563 12,763,554 3,203,298,117
46
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FVOCI
2019 12 31
164,343,649 40,694 3,520,018 112,473 - - - - 167,863,667 153,167
16,186,541 10,310 887,930 37,659 - - - - 17,074,471 47,969
24,678,789 414 - - - - - - 24,678,789 414
385,583,423 1,739,418 19,642,585 3,228,577 11,768,567 4,581,173 4,735,753 1,478,975 421,730,328 11,028,143
5,387,087 1,020 - - - - - - 5,387,087 1,020
FvOCl 108,576,288 159,477 22,582 1,806 - - - - 108,598,870 161,283
13,282,010 61,762 46,176 1,363 3,791 486 - - 13,331,977 63,611
200,490,346 190,504 5,341,218 106,985 1,532,564 304,272 - - 207,364,128 601,761
918,528,133 2,203,599 29,460,509 3,488,863 13,304,922 4,885,931 4,735,753 1,478,975 966,029,317 12,057,368
1
FVOCI
ECL
4,560
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2018 12 31
176,630,171 26,142 4,838,929 230,651 - - - - 181,469,100 256,793
18,540,275 19,658 685,973 30,498 - - - - 19,226,248 50,156
19,048,807 15,356 - - - - N - 19,048,807 15,356
335,890,867 1,507,539 17,228,374 4,063,427 8,894,605 4,682,146 4,803,837 1,630,136 366,817,683 11,883,248
5,630,295 2,736 - - - - - - 5,630,295 2,736
FVOCI 84,319,951 42,586 24,658 1,498 - - - - 84,344,609 44,084
12,110,664 102,321 425,367 1,568 - - - - 12,536,031 103,889
205,202,317 121,991 5,104,229 153,389 488,030 137,568 - - 210,794,576 412,948
857,373,347 1,838,329 28,307,530 4,481,031 9,382,635 4,819,714 4,803,837 1,630,136 899,867,349 12,769,210
1
FVOCI
ECL
4,572
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AAA 16,237,301 14,156,082 4,076 16,562
AA A 71,921,751 58,732,451 9,030,149 7,327,891
BBB B 21,514,326 14,650,910 6,577,622 3,981,306
ccc - 20,780 - 21
4,972,064 2,876,087 4,487,334 3,295,130
114,645,442 90,436,310 20,099,181 14,620,910
CRM
SBLC
2019 2018

0-50 8,069,457 6,599,383

51-100 3,861,786 3,424,391

100 1,598,753 1,474,542

13,529,996 11,498,316

2018 2019
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1SDA
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1,2

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
MENA 2.08% 2.62% 0.93% 1.57% 2.06%
23.55% 1.23% -0.83% -0.41% 0.37%
-29.25% 14.29% 10.20% 10.40% 7.32%
UAE 6.85% 2.61% 7.24% 6.55% 5.47%
27.94% 22.12% 16.95% 5.61% -0.52%
-22.08% -9.54% 1.15% 5.34% 5.01%
GDP 6.77% 5.51% 5.68% 5.61% 5.54%
8.76% 5.57% 5.27% 5.42% 5.54%
4.77% 5.44% 6.10% 5.79% 5.54%
13.22% 13.55% 11.64% 9.31% 8.76%
21.96% 14.45% 11.75% 9.15% 8.75%
-10.07% 9.82% 10.07% 8.54% 9.91%
GDP 0.96% 1.00% 1.11% 1.20% 1.28%
3.20% 1.72% 1.13% 0.99% 1.16%
-2.40% 0.34% 1.87% 1.36% 1.55%
0.27% 5.37% 4.13% 3.78% 2.79%
12.97% 1.72% 1.36% 3.12% 2.37%
-11.15% 10.98% 8.17% 6.28% 3.89%%
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2019
1,838,329 4,481,031 4,819,715 1,630,135 12,769,210
(154,401) 154,401 - - -
(53,470) - 53,470 - -
151,137 (151,137) - - -
- (1,142,873) 1,142,873 - -
- 197,841 (197,841) - -
46,493 - (46,493) - -
(10,241) (941,768) 952,009 - -
376,231 (40,094) 1,604,096 (54,495) 1,885,738
(721) (10,304) (2,489,889) (96,665) (2,597,579)

2,203,598 3,488,865 4,885,931 1,478,975 12,057,369
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oooooog
2018
8,146,848 - 4,581,263 - 12,728,111
IFRS (5,953,631) 6,405,571 265,455 2,383,559 3,099,954
2,193,217 6,405,571 4,845,718 2,383,559 15,828,065
(129,413) 129,413 - - -
(152,427) - 152,427 - -
141,307 (141,307) - - -
- (2,533,498) 2,535,498 - -
- 177,075 (177,075) - -
10,423 - (10,423) - -
(130,110) (2,370,317) 2,500,427 - -
(188,697) 657,932 1,708,792 (364,204) 1,813,823
(36,081) (212,155) (4,235,222) (389,220) (4,872,678)
1,838,329 4,481,031 4,819,715 1,630,135 12,769,210
1
ECL
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oOoOooodn

2019 2018
8 167,863,667 181,469,100
9 17,385,250 11,679,960
10 17,074,471 19,226,248
11 24,678,789 19,048,807
12 421,730,328 366,817,683
13 114,582,043 90,371,169
19,757,099 20,484,753
783,071,647 709,097,720
40 15,064,074 11,258,237
40 853,247 1,825,955
15,917,321 13,084,192
39 167,922,102 165,134,974
39 39,442,026 45,659,602
207,364,128 210,794,576
1,006,353,096 932,976,488
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2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
667,898 313,175 - - - - - -
35,946,386 35,074,356 14,719,913 14,134,203 - - 6,767,683 7,718,901
23,859,479 23,947,527 1,463,452 271,889 - - 8,451,075 5,704,950
10,212,445 8,721,546 319,869 151,922 - - 972,225 834,848
81,283,262 80,261,445 2,391,124 1,484,402 - - 12,757,183 7,514,438
25,288,459 22,885,471 117,296 88,183 - - 1,330,860 2,686,769
25,534,949 25,333,824 5,388,929 4,738,702 - - 2,706,854 3,702,437
24,681,349 28,472,001 29,767,786 24,343,036 22,622,936 17,467,876 - -
33,943,336 28,844,388 14,091,567 15,386,871 2,055,853 1,580,931 38,429,740 3,718,900
21,063,352 22,340,939 359,996 140,337 - - 4,881,620 6,187,837
66,387,415 17,362,994 66,124,691 44,317,675 - - 3,033,116 6,610,027
53,826,058 55,859,338 - - - - 111,670 980,495
18,808,371 16,979,596 - - - - -
227,569 421,083 - - - - - -
421,730,328 366,817,683 134,744,623 105,057,220 24,678,789 19,048,807 39,442,026 45,659,602
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UAE
2019 12 31
54,566,643 88,416,330 15,289,971 11,542,835 39,396 - 169,855,175
4,301,099 3,038,934 3,618,927 1,267,952 5,292,225 2,580,044 20,099,181
404,163 14,121,121 1,658,071 329,108 233,704 328,304 17,074,471
1,862,437 6,295,022 14,452,444 333,042 1,552,194 183,650 24,678,789
3,424,370 9,094,116 1,589,852 137,379 1,592,137 79,467 15,917,321
286,108,908 38,920,838 35,344,158 27,260,040 28,419,159 5,677,225 421,730,328
37,435,572 20,207,419 23,978,309 12,580,027 17,906,508 2,537,607 114,645,442
388,103,192 180,093,780 95,931,732 53,450,383 55,035,323 11,386,297 784,000,707
2018 12 31
47,026,895 72,551,134 6,508,746 57,009,376 69,369 - 183,165,520
6,769,352 1,768,902 2,606,908 1,234,093 1,943,808 297,847 14,620,910
1,498,500 8,045,846 3,931,969 4,762,883 430,776 556,274 19,226,248
3,443,738 9,302,435 5,604,980 - 146,704 550,950 19,048,807
1,726,108 8,975,904 962,168 115,023 1,302,345 2,644 13,084,192
230,645,073 40,954,112 29,518,809 29,948,854 31,483,051 4,267,784 366,817,683
31,920,824 17,602,295 15,668,070 10,700,661 13,689,257 855,203 90,436,310
323,030,490 159,200,628 64,801,650 103,770,890 49,065,310 6,530,702 706,399,670
39

2019 2018 2019 2018
58,151,621 41,637,190 7,973,070 2,680,485
1,806,646 2,504,208 1,851,821 810,394
23,953,560 22,515,092 1,442,491 1,251,552
23,049,215 17,552,792 6,718,571 6,790,244
/ 7,684,400 6,227,028 2,113,228 3,088,235
114,645,442 90,436,310 20,099,181 14,620,910
(1,020) (2,736) - -
114,644,422 90,433,574 20,099,181 14,620,910
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(b)
FAB
ALCO
LCR FAB
LCR
UAE ELAR
G-ALCO
2019 12 31
169,702,008 157,052,194 12,649,814 - - - -
20,009,181 7,039,406 4,988,693 3,804,611 768,014 784,526 2,713,931

17,026,502 15,553,869 1,470,664 1,969 - - -
24,678,375 14,548,779 10,129,596 - - - -

15,917,321 1,577,301 1,716,629 2,947,588 2,986,952 6,688,851 -
407,903,028 101,578,990 40,796,737 87,188,070 60,981,193 117,358,038 -
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oOoOooodn
114,644,422 10,026,052 11,575,687 19,638,363 26,383,410 46,361,425 659,485
7,956,854 - - - - - 7,956,854
4,618,986 - - - - - 4,618,986
19,498,087 - - - - - 19,498,087

19,923,251 14,943,541 4,979,710 - - - -
821,968,015 322,320,132 88,307,530 113,580,601 91,119,569 171,192,840 35,447,343

36,007,875 32,689,185 3,318,690 - - - -

38,821,848 31,022,552 4,066,570 3,732,726 - - -

21,236,955 19,934,339 1,302,616 - - - -

! 19,228,541 1,503,596 1,690,847 3,232,732 3,338,054 9,463,312 -
519,161,857 459,015,160 54,213,676 3,589,339 1,152,926 1,190,756 -
55,751,819 6,398,243 4,195,259 10,190,316 17,610,323 17,357,678 -

381,305 - - - - 381,305 -

23,340,779 17,505,377 5,835,402 - - - -
108,037,036 - - - - - 108,037,036

821,968,015 568,068,452 74,623,060 20,745,113 22,101,303 28,393,051 108,037,036

39,442,026 8,634,424 21,590,701 3,239,297 2,134,177 3,843,427 -
167,922,102 77,220,091 20,842,492 33,130,448 10,041,478 26,687,593 -
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2018 12 31
182,908,727 173,951,213 8,957,514 - - - -
14,620,910 3,099,469 3,615,152 3,750,902 620,869 593,569 2,940,949
19,176,092 19,176,092 - - - - -
19,033,451 7,812,517 9,042,380 342,059 1,836,495 - -
13,084,192 1,532,117 1,705,972 2,640,094 2,567,203 4,638,806 -
352,966,420 58,757,473 49,905,144 68,651,892 68,877,833 106,774,078 -
90,433,574 4,001,571 5,936,507 25,316,677 14,378,331 40,339,082 461,406
7,388,493 - - - - - 7,388,493
3,991,215 - - - - - 3,991,215
19,699,711 - - - - - 19,699,711
20,583,602 15,437,701 5,145,901 - - - -
743,886,387 283,768,153 84,308,570 100,701,624 88,280,731 152,345,535 34,481,774
40,266,535 37,685,831 2,370,601 210,103 - - -
34,769,685 31,628,667 1,304,559 1,836,459 - - -
18,144,105 17,254,974 889,131 - - - -
! 15,219,464 1,600,273 1,653,419 3,369,951 2,573,849 6,021,972 -
465,237,066 417,594,834 36,212,483 9,830,082 1,435,463 164,204 -
42,268,173 2,945,133 10,352,657 10,245,303 7,479,023 11,246,057 -
401,979 - - - - 401,979 -
25,606,380 19,204,785 6,401,595 - - - -
101,973,000 - - - - - 101,973,000
743,886,387 527,914,497 59,184,445 25,491,898 11,488,335 17,834,212 101,973,000
45,659,602 12,887,475 23,726,362 5,524,790 3,122,821 398,154 -
165,134,974 75,782,817 19,340,637 27,536,499 15,504,100 26,970,921 -
1
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2019 12 31
36,007,875 36,211,011 32,862,711 3,348,300 - - -
38,821,848 39,131,621 31,206,879 4,179,726 3,745,016 - -
21,236,955 21,277,912 19,966,199 1,311,713 - - -
519,161,857 527,077,505 464,357,773 55,913,718 4,009,781 1,316,654 1,479,579
55,751,819 91,784,613 6,815,902 4,781,987 11,717,654 18,205,708 50,263,362
381,305 619,632 - 21,384 42,769 42,593 512,886
671,361,659 716,102,294 555,209,464 69,556,828 19,515,220 19,564,955 52,255,827
! 39,442,026 39,442,026 8,634,424 21,590,701 3,239,297 2,134,177 3,843,427
167,922,102 167,922,102 77,220,091 20,842,492 33,130,448 10,041,478 26,687,593
2018 12 31
40,266,535 40,424,411 37,797,953 2,409,127 217,331 - -
34,769,685 35,087,490 31,814,905 1,341,723 1,930,862 - -
18,144,105 18,197,308 17,296,217 901,091 - - -
465,237,066 468,670,837 418,570,295 37,142,125 11,065,988 1,674,701 217,728
42,268,173 73,942,394 3,275,459 11,018,473 11,104,186 7,939,714 40,604,562
401,979 634,444 - 21,109 42,276 42,276 528,783
601,087,543 636,956,884 508,754,829 52,833,648 24,360,643 9,656,691 41,351,073
45,659,602 45,659,602 12,887,475 23,726,362 5,524,790 3,122,821 398,154
165,134,974 165,134,974 75,782,817 19,340,637 27,536,499 15,504,100 26,970,921
1
©

IMCO

IMCO
G-ALCO
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IMCO
G-ALCO BRCC
VaR
VaR
VaR 99
VaR
VaR IMCO G-ALCO
VaR
VaR VaR
VaR
MAT
VaR
2019 2019 2019 2019 2018

VaR

24,736 37,287 71,388 13,957 14,660

24,863 34,782 81,154 11,339 11,076

9,132 6,317 13,222 3,739 4,520

6,010 7,844 32,805 4,089 8,062

683 1,741 4,887 595 4,023

(15,952) (13,397) (60,680) (5,805) (13,021)
VaR
VaR VaR
VaR
VaR
IMCO G-ALCO VaR
VaR
2019 2019 2019 2019 2018

VaR
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OOoOooOodd
166,793 160,245 210,750 105,706 112,130
26,499 20,185 50,000 14,598 20,400
180,865 161,191 208,526 115,210 115,533
15,548 14,374 36,792 6,241 17,078
6,901 5,612 10,549 4,142 4,147
(63,020) (41,117) (95,117) (34,485) (45,028)
40
50 2018 50
2019 2018 2019 2018
+ 534,036 + 472,083 + 773,385 + 532,858
616,651
2018 555,714 533,118 2018

472,889
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oOoOooodn
2019 12 31

169,702,008 118,546,742 12,649,814 - - - 38,505,452
20,099,181 7,724,439 4,400,968 1,699,223 688,152 2,317,558 3,268,841
17,026,502 13,130,412 1,469,648 1,969 - - 2,424,473
24,678,375 14,548,779 10,129,596 - - - -
15,917,321 15,917,321 - - - - -
407,903,028 315,624,872 57,832,645 10,220,078 8,546,551 15,678,882 -
114,644,422 14,201,971 11,337,755 18,045,151 24,564,226 45,835,834 659,485
7,956,854 - - - - - 7,956,854
19,498,087 - - - - - 19,498,087
4,618,986 - - - - - 4,618,986
19,923,251 14,475,328 4,661,085 93,284 53,649 - 639,905
821,968,015 514,169,864 102,481,511 30,059,705 33,852,578 63,832,274 77,572,083
36,007,875 30,199,502 3,392,824 - - - 2,415,549
38,821,848 31,022,552 4,066,570 3,732,726 - - -
21,236,955 19,934,339 1,302,616 - - - -
19,228,541 19,228,541 - - - - -
519,161,857 334,972,912 54,114,220 3,081,938 833,061 1,089,483 125,070,243
55,751,819 21,323,690 857,255 5,295,540 11,367,549 16,907,785 -
23,340,779 9,166,969 3,536,481 308,344 270,661 - 10,058,324
381,305 - - - - 381,305 -
108,037,036 - - - - - 108,037,036

821,968,015 465,848,505 67,269,966 12,418,548 12,471,271 18,378,573 245,581,152

48,321,350 35,211,545 17,641,157 21,381,307 45,453,701  (168,009,069)
40,229,529 (1,580,669)  (9,538,714)  (11,581,070)  (17,529,076) -
88,550,888 , 33,630,876 8,102,443 9,800,237 27,924,625  (168,009,069)
88,550,888 122,181,764 130,284,207 140,084,444 168,009,069 -
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oooooog
2018 12 31

182,908,727 145,024,919 8,957,514 - - - 28,926,294
14,620,910 7,792,279 2,282,820 1,608,098 383,758 503,270 2,050,685
19,176,092 8,597,754 - - - - 10,578,338
19,033,451 7,444,973 9,042,380 342,303 2,203,795 - -
13,084,192 13,084,192 - - - - -
352,966,420 270,093,919 56,660,483 11,382,438 3,813,934 11,015,646 -
90,433,574 7,437,555 6,091,043 24,439,299 12,380,920 39,278,553 806,204
7,388,493 - - - - - 7,388,493
19,699,711 - - - - - 19,699,711
3,991,215 - - - - - 3,991,215
20,583,602 10,689,569 2,514,976 432,497 351,565 1,260,218 5,334,777
743,886,387 470,165,160 85,549,216 38,204,635 19,133,972 52,057,687 78,775,717
40,266,535 29,247,739 2,371,155 210,965 - - 8,436,676
34,769,685 31,628,631 1,304,559 1,836,495 - - -
18,144,105 17,254,973 889,132 - - - -
15,219,464 15,219,464 - - - - -
465,237,066 313,071,546 34,859,077 9,396,000 1,115,065 164,204 106,631,174
42,268,173 10,102,042 4,178,931 8,479,537 7,108,465 12,399,198 -
25,606,380 10,561,803 2,200,267 204,582 129,606 841,612 11,668,510
401,979 - - - - 401,979 -
101,973,000 - - - - - 101,973,000
743,886,387 427,086,198 45,803,121 20,127,579 8,353,136 13,806,993 228,709,360

43,078,962 39,746,095 18,077,056 10,780,836 38,250,694  (149,933,643)
33,378,072 550,348 (3,974,801)  (7,886,524)  (22,067,095) -

76,457,034 40,296,443 14,102,255 2,894,312 16,183,599  (149,933,643)
76,457,034 116,753,477 130,855,732 133,750,044 149,933,643 -
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OooooOodd
12 31
2019 2018
( ) ) ) )/

(50, 151,996) 82,463,912 32,311,916 15,130,919

5,493,681 (5.213,708) 279,973 98,062

70,140,725 (69.726,056) 414,669 579,735

1,023,458 (3.410,922) (2.387,464) (1,200,989)

7,070,935 (14,716,788) (7.645,853) (611,589)

5,280,776 (4.659,905) 620,871 512,919

(3.584,727) 3,675,666 90,939 51,394

2,093,754 (3.245,230) (1.151,476) (783,968)

1,409,667 (1.553,399) (143,732) 252,866

6,820 55,454 62,274 266,597

1,130,249 (78.700) 1,051,549 718,524
(853,051) 898,291 45,240 (261,117)

300,239 - 300,239 263,663

2,245,030 (1.573,276) 671,754 110,139

2019 2018 12 31
2019 + 4,147 + 2,800 + 6,209 + 10,516
2018 + 5,797 + 981 + 5,129 + 7,185
2019 2018 12 31

FAB
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2019 2018
5 230 1,172
5 50,743 41,508
5 74,329 91,366
5 10,394 13,009
135,696 147,055
2019 2018 12 31
2019 2018
5 9,772 9,719
5 1,692 618
5 17,215 8,351
5 1,124 1,126
29,803 19,814

@
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ooDoogd
1CAAP
1CAAP
CBUAE
ICAAP
2019
CBUAE 1CAAP
CBUAE D BIS
3.5 CUBE

2020

CBUAE CET
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2019 2018

10,920,000 10,897,545
53,434,461 53,188,043
18,469,164 16,678,196
10,629,011 9,192,759
478,081 495,106
612,744 (598,021)
330,417 361,722
(354,657) (310,931)
(8,080,800) (8,064,183)
@ 86,438,421 81,840,236
(18,864) (25,530)
(40,336) (72,635)
(20,621,922) (20,606,448)
(141,752) (197, 465)
(20,822,874) (20,902,078)
65,615,547 60,938,158
10,754,750 10,754,750
76,370,297 71,692,908
305,044 361,782
5,292,741 5,340,017
5,597,785 5,701,799
81,968,082 77,394,707
423,419,311 427,201,365
25,737,601 29,475,312
35,913,142 35,696,011
485,070,054 492,372,688

CET 13.5 12.4

15.7 14.6

16.9 15.7

®
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Q)
IBOR
IBOR
IBOR
IBOR
FAB
IBOR
usb GBP LIBOR EUR,CHF,JPY 1BOR IBOR
2019 IBOR
IBOR IBOR

IBOR IBOR
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IFRS

IFRS 1ASB

@
(b)
¢ ()
IFRS
ECL
ECL
PD
ECL
ECL
ECL
PD EAD LGD
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0TC

0TC

0TC

0TC

CVA DVA

CVA DVA

CVA DVA
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CDS

CVA DVA 68.8
2018 48.3
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oOoOooodn
O)
2019 12 31
FVoCI FvoCI
- N - - 169,702,008 169,702,008
- 20,099,181 - - - 20,099,181
- = - - 17,026,502 17,026,502
- - - - 24,678,375 24,678,375
853,247 15,064,074 - - - 15,917,321
- - - - 407,903,028 407,903,028
- - 108,597,850 596,086 5,387,087 114,581,023
- - - - 19,693,488 19,693,488
853,247 35,163,255 108,597,850 596,086 644,390,488 789,600,926
- - - - 36,007,875 36,007,875
- - - - 38,821,848 38,821,848
- N - - 21,236,955 21,236,955
3,640,341 15,588,200 - - - 19,228,541
- - - - 519,161,857 519,161,857
399,025 - - - 55,352,794 55,751,819
1 - 325,634 - - 21,687,480 22,013,114
- - - - 381,305 381,305
4,039,366 15,913,834 - - 692,650,114 712,603,314
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OoooooO
2018 12 31
Fvocl Fvocl

- - - - 182,908,727 182,908,727

- 14,620,910 - - - 14,620,910

- - - - 19,176,002 19,176,002

- - - - 19,033,451 19,033,451
1,825,955 11,258,237 - - - 13,084,192
- - - - 352,966,420 352,966,420

- - 84,341,873 396,265 5,630,295 90,368,433

- - - - 20,380,864 20,380,864
1,825,955 25,879,147 84,341,873 396,265 600,095,849 712,539,089
- - - - 40,266,535 40,266,535

- - - - 34,769,685 34,769,685

- - - - 18,144,105 18,144,105
5,297,423 9,922,041 - - - 15,219,464
- - - - 465,237,066 465,237,066

352,522 - - - 41,915,651 42,268,173

- 215,601 - - 24,372,956 24,588,557

- - - - 401,979 401,979
5,649,945 10,137,642 - - 625,107,977 640,895,564
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Ooooood
2019 12 31
15,150,281 3,468,678 1,480,222 20,099,181
FVoCI 103,832,350 4,766,520 - 108,598,870
FVoCI 573,601 - 22,485 596,086
5,393 15,911,928 - 15,917,321
119,561,625 24,147,126 1,502,707 145,211,458
- 399,025 - 399,025
65,518 19,163,023 - 19,228,541
65,518 19,562,048 - 19,627,566
2018 12 31
11,188,493 1,608,998 1,823,419 14,620,910
FVOCI 80,714,588 3,630,021 - 84,344,609
FVOCI 373,752 - 22,513 396,265
47,141 13,037,051 - 13,084,192
92,323,974 18,276,070 1,845,932 112,445,976
- 352,522 - 352,522
10,775 15,208,689 - 15,219,464
10,755 15,561,211 - 15,571,986
0Cl 68.4 2
34.9
13.9
2019 2018
1,845,932 1,875,367
41,251 113,431
(384,476) (142,866)
12 31 1,502,707 1,845,932
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2019 2018

1,991,508 1,696,420
UAE

29,796,172 22,496,362
21,989,135 17,995,385
883,662 4,926,819
115,194,698 136,050,534
169,855,175 183,165,520
(153,167) (256,793)
169,702,008 182,908,727

2019 2018
6,380 3,917
1,591,074 1,823,408
1,116,477 1,113,625
17,385,250 11,679,960
20,099,181 14,620,910
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Ooooood
10
2019 2018
8,098,662 10,118,939
4,597,478 5,635,525
4,378,331 3,471,784
17,074,471 19,226,248
(47,969) (50,156)
17,026,502 19,176,092
11
24,678
2018 19,033
414 2018
15,356
2019 12 31
26,675 2018 19,378
2019 12 31
11,729 2018 11,903
12
2019 2018
421,730,328 366,817,683
(2,799,157) (1,968,015)
(11,028,143) (11,883,248)
407,903,028 352,966,420
2019 2018
66,387,415 17,362,994
64,816,580 61,790,844
24,681,349 28,472,001
/ 193,210,555 186,352,910
/ 72,634,429 72,838,934
421,730,328 366,817,683
2019 2018
24,652,642 22,237,129
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Ooooood
324,545,497 278,329,346
33,778,265 27,927,281
31,493,689 31,261,531
6,019,027 6,137,491
1,241,208 924,905
421,730,328 366,817,683
15,920 2018 8,276
17,390 2018 13,200
2019 2018
9,304,260 8,172,431
21,766,334 23,174,504
69,114 59,046
261,374 318,422
31,401,082 31,724,403
(785,581) (704,387)
(130,991) (27,811)
30,484,510 30,992,205
13

2019 2018
108,598,870 84,344,609
596,086 396,265
5,387,087 5,630,295
63,399 65,141
114,645,442 90,436,310
(1,020) (2,736)
114,644,422 90,433,574
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oooooog
2019 2018
523,401 136,084 659,485 373,752 87,654 461,406
113,065,018 920,939 113,985,957 89,060,242 914,662 89,974,904
113,588,419 1,057,023 114,645,442 89,433,994 1,002,316 90,436,310
(1,002) (18) (1,020) (2,411) (325) (2,736)
113,587,417 1,057,005 114,644,422 89,431,583 1,001,991 90,433,574
2019 12 31 28,428
2018 12 31 22,971
2019 2018
16 16
23 23
30 30
Midmak
Midmak Midmak
16
2017 16
UAE
14
2019 2018
7,388,493 6,927,692
583,789 576,004
(8.729) (19,439)
(6,699) (95,764)
12 31 7,956,854 7,388,493
2019 2018
92,264 52,328
(45,154) (33,233)
47,110 19,095
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2019 2018 12 31

RICS

2019 2018 12 31
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ooooodo
15
2018 2,954,615 1,460,521 485,872 500,323 5,401,331
395,413 36,336 35,226 870,895 1,337,870
248,985 747,769 1,752 (998,506) -
1 (443,864) (251,798) (129,938) (75,950) (901,550)
2018 12 31 3,155,149 1,992,828 392,912 296,762 5,837,651
280,682 171,849 119,463 1,032,465 1,604,459
66,428 347,027 11,504 (424,959) -
! (639,471) (4,972) (8,951) (©) (653,403)
2019 12 31 2,862,788 2,506,732 514,928 904,259 6,788,707
2018 646,542 869,769 349,519 - 1,865,830
81,447 125,073 29,066 - 235,586
1 (20,239) (185,347) (49,394) - (254,980)
2018 12 31 707,750 809,495 329,191 - 1,846,436
134,462 280,136 36,714 - 451,312
1 (117,021) 2,367 (13,373) - (128,027)
2019 12 31 725,191 1,091,998 352,532 - 2,169,721
2018 12 31 2,447,399 1,183,333 63,721 296,762 3,991,215
2019 12 31 2,137,597 1,414,734 162,396 904,259 4,618,986
1
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16
2018 17,317,445 1,813,517 976,038 - 22,000 20,129,000
52,804 (38,801) (382,703) 368,700 - -
2018 12 31 17,370,249 1,774,716 593,335 368,700 22,000 20,129,000
2019 12 31 17,370,249 1,774,716 593,335 368,700 22,000 20,129,000
2018 - 181,285 41,758 - 4,583 227,626
- 151,761 48,802 - 1,100 201,663
2018 12 31 - 333,046 90,560 - 5,683 429,289
- 149,870 49,353 - 2,401 201,624
2019 12 31 - 482,916 139,913 - 8,084 630,913
2018 12 31 17,370,249 1,441,670 502,775 368,700 16,317 19,699,711
2019 12 31 17,370,249 1,291,800 453,422 368,700 13,916 19,498,087
CGU
Cceu
CGU Ceu
2019 12 31 Ceu
2018
CGU
17
2019 2018
9,866,628 9,169,190
7,529,457 6,899,762
2,550,441 4,546,623
40,336 71,916
19,986,862 20,687,491
(63,611) (103,889)
19,923,251 20,583,602

170/332



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

171/332



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

Doooood
18
2019 2018
2,270,422 8,158,400
1,917,342 897,243
12,758,412 16,177,477
16,946,176 25,233,120
144,066 50,759
18,917,633 14,982,656
19,061,699 15,033,415
36,007,875 40,266,535
-0.57 4.44 2018 -0.50
16.85
19
28,763
2018 23,707 38,822
2018 34,770
10,059 2018 11,063
20
10.5
21,237 2018 18,144
12
2019
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21
2019 2018
163,661,767 150,416,721
10,338,002 10,125,980
2,921,202 2,822,821
311,441,597 271,291,828
488,362,568 434,657,350
30,799,289 30,579,716
519,161,857 465,237,066
2019 2018
152,374,406 141,661,679
88,803,076 73,231,345
/ 166,584,489 149,329,566
/ 80,600,597 70,434,760
488,362,568 434,657,350
30,799,289 30,579,716
519,161,857 465,237,066
2019 2018
UAE 394,392,055 333,024,490
31,836,181 35,862,559
34,296,726 27,451,582
16,872,179 31,768,355
9,531,168 5,411,063
1,434,259 1,139,301
488,362,568 434,657,350
30,799,289 30,579,716
519,161,857 465,237,066
2019 2018
1,754,317 1,213,380
136,227 523,985
1,890,544 1,737,365
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ooooogd
22
2019 2018
55,352,794 41,915,651
399,025 352,522
55,751,819 42,268,173
500 2018
108,265
2019 2018
42,268,173 42,145,718
23,906,212 9,076,645
(13,529,379) (7,735,417)
3,106,813 (1,218,773)
12 31 55,751,819 42,268,173
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OoOooOodnd
2019 2018
UAE 4.00
4.20 - - - 3,689 92,988 96,677 - - - - - -
UAE
EIBOR+2.59 - - - - - - - 49,991 - - - 49,991
3 373'17 - 77,803 78,468 - - 156,271 1,039,197 649,250 155,245 - - 1,843,692
- - - - 51,792 - 64,504 - 116,296
BBSH+110bps 64,403 77,557 141,960 , , ,
0 410-16 - - 762,375 2,089,794 1,118,045 3,970,214 - - - 1,485,350 549,312 2,034,662
. 804'00 105,760 58,750 1,459,407 1,406,112 - 3,030,029 69,571 310,856 1,626,254 36,861 - 2,043,542
0.52
3.00 - 103,202 - 101,366 629,286 833,854 - - 105,495 - 547,502 652,997
EURIBOR+0.33 - 246,699 - - - 246,699 - - 250,582 - - 250,582
1.66
901 - - 121,897 - 233,411 355,308 - - 117,265 - - 117,265
- 1,647,446 121,012 - - 1,768,458 - - - - - -
LIBOR+0.80
2.37
418 8 75,378 169,701 599,435 482,837 231,203 1,558,554 - 151,052 243,099 707,220 182,810 1,284,181
2.60
- - - - 357,315 357,315 - 333,661 - - 356,906 690,567
0-50 - - - - 3,010 3,010 - - - - 1,425 1,425
4.90
- 450,428 - - - 450,428 - - 432,417 - - 432,417
5-10 5,870,694 72,519 2,354,991 7,770,416 14,434,213 30,502,833 1,836,365 2,709,970 5,744,730 5,061,974 9,608,102 24,961,141
LIBOR+2.10 346,410 1,368,711 4,628,328 5,753,110 183,650 12,280,209 - 6,096,085 1,570,216 123,114 - 7,789,415
6,398,242 4,195,259 10,190,316 17,607,324 17,360,678 55,751,819 2,945,133 10,352,657 10,245,303 7,479,023 11,246,057 42,268,173
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2019 2018
UAE 96,677 -
1,896,474 744,638
1,409,954 1,455,069
213,306 -
10,972,190 5,176,396
232,633 117,564
400,003 187,593
77,331 -
10,627,704 1,384,631
1,768,981 -
27,695,253 9,065,891
45.71 2018 33.52
499.27 2018 1,264
2019 2018
23
2019 2018
2012 12 10 4.75 2027 12 381,305 401,979
2019 12 31
24
2019 2018
8,631,724 8,329,375
- 17 5,039,143 5,668,690
469,894 472,607
9,005,759 10,943,162
194,259 192,546
23,340,779 25,606,380
2019 12 31

UAE
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2019 2018
3.13 3.53
2.30 1.77
+/-50 10,313
10,862 +/-50
10,895 10,441
2019 2018
472,607 512,346
68,354 66,285
ocl 21,980 21,901
(93,047) (127,925)
12 31 469,894 472,607
91,718 2018 69, 955
12,662 2018 10,795
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2019 2018
192,546 160,884
314,463 325,004

(312,750) (293,342)
12 31 194,259 192,546
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Ooooood
25
2019 2018
10,920,000 10,897,545
18,864 25,530
2019 25 AGM
0.74 8,064 2017
0.70 7,628
10,898 10,920
NBAD
1980 10
50 10
12 31
2019 2018
7,843,642 7,578,784
IFRS
2018 1 625,210 120,000 (63,075) 280,601 - - 962,736
2018
IFRS
(184,078) - - - - - (184,078)
441,132 120,000 (63,075) 280,601 - - 778,658
(1,039,153) - (247,856) - - - (1,287,009)
- 108,265 - - - - 108,265
IFRS
- - - - 297,621 64,988 362,609
2018 12 31 (598,021) 228,265 (310,931) 280,601 297,621 64,988 (37,477)
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Ooooood
IFRS IFRS
2019 1 (598,021) 228,265 (310,931) 280,601 297,621 64,988 (37,477)
1,968,488 - (43,726) - - - 1,924,762
IFRS
- - - - 18,287 577,634 595,921
FVOCI
(9,174) - - - - - 9,174)
2019 12 31 1,361,293 228,265 (354,657) 280,601 315,908 642,622 2,474,032
Fvoct
2018 677,495 (52,285) 625,210
2018 IFRS (184,078) - (184,078)
493,417 (52,285) 441,132
(1,137,667) (32,869) (1,170,536)
136,412 - 136,412
ECL (5,029) - (5,029)
2018 12 31 (512,867) (85,154) (598,021)
2019 (512,867) (85,154) (598,021)
2,633,928 70,090 2,704,018
(861,904) - (861,904)
ECL 117,200 117,200
2019 12 31 1,376,357 (15,064) 1,361,293
280,601 2018 280,601
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Ooooood
() IFRS
CBUAE CBUAE IFRS
IFRS
2019 2018
12 31 -
CBUAE  28/2010 6,341,246 6,723,798
IFRS (6,348,700) (6,426,177)
- 297,621
315,908 -
315,908 297,621
12 31 -
CBUAE  28/2010 6,351,290 6,408,021
IFRS (5,708,668) (6,343,033)
642,622 64,988
26
2019 2018
8,000,000 8,000,000
EIBOR 2.3
750 2,754,750 2,754,750
2020 5.25
3.35
10,754,750 10,754,750
b

2018 12 31 495,047
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Doooood
27
2008 NBAD
NBAD
29,121 2018 12 31 16,903
29,121 2018 12 31 16,903
246,418 2018 12 31 161,399
28
2019 2018
976,641 968,840
1,427,702 1,040,394
700,208 388,117
343,327 385,429
3,194,015 2,314,943
17,727,054 16,742,891
24,368,947 21,840,614
29
2019 2018
1,525,185 800,414
1,171,377 706,723
481,252 432,428
6,669,362 5,307,623
1,725,839 1,542,847
21,130 20,410
11,594,145 8,810,445
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0000000
30
2019 2018
907,730 1,053,033
17,930 33,569
25,743 25,535
56,325 141,906
6,794 7,090
1,502,355 1,333,257
1,764,010 1,885,819
54,379 60,165
107,084 115,273
288,338 224,341
4,730,688 4,879,988
54,002 42,530
1,076,309 1,086,900
378,837 306,290
52,111 51,896
1,561,259 1,487,616
3,169,429 3,392,372
31
2019 2018
1,2
1,950,259 1,456,886
3 650,719 585,594
2,600,978 2,042,480
1
32
2
ECB 366.49 (2018  285.44 )
3
32
2019 2018
611,253 891,021
/ 861,902 (136,412)
33,122 71,616
1,506,277 826,225
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OOoooo0
33
2019 2018
(6,068) (90,946)
126,772 107,157
! 76,867 138,285
197,571 154,496
28.9 2018 111.4
34
2019 2018
3,205,375 3,156,395
1,560,519 1,668,221
15 451,312 235,586
16 201,624 201,663
80,161 66,690
5,498,991 5,328,555
35
2019 2018
/
1,742,433 2,107,219
(38,267) 33,147
181,570 (326,543)
1,353 -
(344,835) (303,770)
300,726 215,741
1,842,980 1,725,794
36
2019 2018
314,463 325,004
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Ooooood
37
2019 2018
169,855,176 183,165,520
17,074,471 19,226,248
186,929,647 202,391,768
(21,493,508) (18,726,908)
(14,091,205) (7,987,484)
151,344,934 175,677,376
38
10
IT
1AS 17
2019 12 31
130,152
144,715
(57,686)
12 31 217,181
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ooOooood
2019 12 31
70,455
161,209
26,011
12 31 257,675
2019 IFRS 16
6,005
51,789
73,249
2018 IAS 17
120,873
39
2019 2018
63,227,522 59,955,337
102,673,707 104,894,326
2,020,873 285,311
167,922,102 165,134,974
39,442,026 45,659,602
841,722 991,968
794,001 772,322
41,077,749 47,423,892
208,999,851 212,558,866
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ooOooood
73.46 2018 73.46
2019 2018 2019 2018
UAE 24,763,624 24,865,542 116,513,529 118,693,398
5,753,526 7,422,210 19,210,556 19,593,289
3,092,043 4,202,963 7,491,914 6,967,012
3,057,299 3,035,469 12,099,805 11,956,195
2,396,190 3,659,085 9,885,439 7,755,276
379,344 2,474,333 2,720,859 169,804
39,442,026 45,659,602 167,922,102 165,134,974
40
/
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2019 12 31

11,824,387 13,050,401 1,354,394,679 210,476,933 251,548,568 417,580,845 191,507,168 283,281,165
11,672 14,460 63,092,794 20,388,639 40,495,083 1,364,282 293,840 550,950
97,029 160,003 132,010,216 83,466,280 40,681,071 6,981,536 183,650 697,679

1,775,128 1,947,857 339,425,825 164,537,645 119,486,036 47,338,549 7,688,952 374,643
178,057 111,871 64,758,853 18,826,365 39,234,421 6,689,379 8,688 -
1,177,801 303,608 11,638,589 5,326,346 1,783,324 2,513,361 1,923,733 91,825
15,064,074 15,588,200 1,965,320,956 503,022,208 493,228,503 482,467,952 201,606,031 284,996,262
826,068 3,453,143 150,671,464 28,607,570 12,559,318 20,755,142 30,678,692 58,070,742
826,068 3,453,143 150,671,464 28,607,570 12,559,318 20,755,142 30,678,692 58,070,742

- 3,506 4,643,918 907,287 2,754,750 981,881 - -

27,179 183,692 21,254,879 21,254,879 - - - -
27,179 187,198 25,898,797 22,162,166 2,754,750 981,881 - -
15,917,321 19,228,541 2,141,891,217 553,791,944 508,542,571 504,204,975 232,284,723 343,067,004
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2018 12 31

8,152,999 7,598,766 1,099,051,876 114,781,773 287,845,196 303,348,196 211,848,433 181,228,278
5,165 3,724 57,016,206 11,031,032 6,199,712 39,785,462 - -
83,215 117,837 64,186,503 1,517,329 52,873,360 8,028,574 1,010,075 757,165
1,652,063 1,676,905 377,427,044 231,424,514 116,532,513 26,411,029 3,058,971 17
327,635 284,415 95,215,819 42,284,251 46,249,596 6,182,935 499,037 -
1,037,160 240,395 8,980,883 3,856,034 2,046,555 386,641 2,691,653 -
11,258,237 9,922,042 1,701,878,331 404,894,933 511,746,932 384,142,837 219,108,169 181,985,460
1,242,665 4,208,904 106,264,029 1,642,409 7,880,884 22,661,174 20,900,395 53,179,167
583,148 461,592 108,956,518 599,041 12,677,590 22,471,213 20,232,359 52,976,315
1,825,813 4,670,496 215,220,547 2,241,450 20,558,474 45,132,387 41,132,754 106,155,482
123 503,660 4,800,940 - 178,697 4,622,243 - -

19 123,266 20,042,459 20,042,459 - - - -

142 626,926 24,843,399 20,042,459 178,697 4,622,243 - -
13,084,192 15,219,464 1,941,942,277 427,178,842 532,484,103 433,897,467 260,240,923 288,140,942
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3,010.9 (2018  1,136.5 )
12,915.5
(2018  6,124.4 )
41

CIB
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UAE

2019 12 31

5,637,831 5,949,652 (85,188) 1,272,507 12,774,802 10,977,297 1,439,987 357,518 12,774,802

5,595,406 1,608,759 212,860 57,230 7,474,255 6,375,301 771,823 327,131 7,474,255

11,233,237 7,558,411 127,672 1,329,737 20,249,057 17,352,598 2,211,810 684,649 20,249,057

2,007,235 2,949,232 142,946 309,578 5,498,991 4,384,989 890,082 223,920 5,498,991

991,180 961,520 (122,347) 12,627 1,842,980 1,631,108 113,909 97,963 1,842,980

8,144,822 3,647,659 107,073 1,007,532 12,907,086 11,336,501 1,207,819 362,766 12,907,086

218,647 72,216 6,990 16,610 314,463 2,811 227,890 83,762 314,463

7,926,175 3,575,443 100,083 990,922 12,502,623 11,333,690 979,929 279,004 12,502,623
2019 12 31

761,351,000 108,645,370 12,625,249 119,745,452 1,002,367,071 672,176,128 199,259,956 45,531,216 916,967,300

(180,399,056) (94,999,285)

821,968,015 821,968,015

550,148,233 97,570,693 9,906,056 236,705,053 894,330,035 579,331,310 188,059,669 41,539,285 808,930,264

(180,399, 056) (94,999,285)

713,930,979 713,930,979
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UAE
2018 12 31

5,771,940 5,759,972 (36,041) 1,534,298 13,030,169 11,280,298 1,471,341 278,530 13,030,169

4,340,661 1,758,882 184,869 131,161 6,415,573 5,441,803 677,667 296,103 6,415,573

10,112,601 7,518,854 148,828 1,665,459 19,445,742 16,722,101 2,149,008 574,633 19,445,742

1,805,077 2,699,401 139,798 684,279 5,328,555 4,379,665 732,693 216,197 5,328,555

1,225,162 454,855 (13,704) 59,481 1,725,794 1,807,984 (155,840) 73,650 1,725,794

7,082,362 4,364,598 22,734 921,699 12,391,393 10,534,452 1,572,155 284,786 12,391,393

188,097 94,001 33,163 9,743 325,004 1,313 297,208 26,483 325,004

6,894,265 4,270,597 (10,429) 911,956 12,066,389 10,533,139 1,274,947 258,303 12,066,389
2018 12 31

722,723,140 105,746,740 13,162,063 108,297,619 949,929,562 612,128,044 210,877,111 39,650,488 862,655,643

(206,043,175) (118,769, 256)

743,886,387 743,886,387

500,599,188 87,702,880 10,117,659 249,536,835 847,956,562 502,817,914 216,308,262 41,556,467 760,682,643

(206,043,175) (118,769, 256)

641,913,387 641,913,387
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42
2019 2018

12,520,203 12,010,820

(571,855) (495,047)

11,948,348 11,515,773

10,872,015 10,855,112

23,6092 8,399

C ) 10,895,707 10,863,511

1.10 1.06

11,948,348 11,515,773

- 18,801

11,948,348 11,534,574

10,895,707 10,863,511

- 28,606

C ) 3,875 10,468

10,899,582 10,902,585

1.10 1.06
43

EXCO
2019 2018

5,956,938 44,404,300 50,361,238 12,933,731

10,934,652 33,870,159 44,804,811 12,596,616

4,647,873 8,329,761 12,977,634 13,077,111

222,884 1,626,175 1,849,058 416,238

226,489 355,821 582,310 262,880
44
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2018 7,667.91

45

SPE

SPE
SPE

46
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First Al Dhabl Bank
Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 December

Assets Hote 2019 018

AED"000 AED'O00
Cash and balances with central banks & 169,702,008 182,308,727
Investments at fair value threugh profit or loss F:] 20,059,181 14,620,910
Due from banks and financial institutions 10 17,026,502 19,176,092
Reverse répurchase agreements ii 24,678,375 19,033,451
Derivative financial instruments i) 15,917,321 13,084,192
Loans and advances 12 407,903,028 352,966,420
Non-trading investments 13 114,544,422 0,433,574
Investment properties 4 7,956,854 T.3BE,493
Property and equipment 15 4,618,986 3,001,215
Intangibles 18 19,498,087 19,699,711
Other assets 17 19,923 251 20,583,602
Total assets 821,968,015 742,386 387
Liabsilities
Due to banks and financial institutions 18 36,007,875 40,266,535
Repurchase agreements 19 38,821,848 34,769,685
Commercial paper 0 21,236,955 18,144,105
Derivative financial instruments 40 19,228,541 15,219,464
Customer accounts and other deposits 21 519,161,857 465,237 066
Term borrowings 22 55,751,819 42,268,173
Subordinated notes 23 381,305 401,575
Other liabilities M 23,340,779 25,606,380
Total liabilities 713,930,579 541,913,387
Equity
Share capital 25 10,920,000 10,897,545
Share premium 53,434,461 53,188,043
Treasury shares (18,864) (25,5300
Statutory and special reserves 10,920,000 5,483,238
Other reserves 25 2,474,032 {37477)
Tier 1 capital notes 26 10,754,750 10,754,750
Share option scheme 27 249,816 266,841
Retained earnings 18,872,367 17,083,858
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Bank 107,606,562 101,611,278
Nan-controlling interest 430,474 361,722
Total Equity 108,037,036 101,973,000
Total liabilities and equity 821,968,015 743,885,387

To the best of our knowledge, the financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial condition, financial perlarmance
and cash flows of the Growp as of, and for, the periods presented therein,
These consolsdated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and autharized for issue on 27 January 2020 and signed

o al:
2t Nt
{ Chairman Group Chief Executive Officer Group Chief Financial Officer
r—l-

The nates 1 bo 46 are an integral part of these consolidated finandal statements.
The independent audites’s report on audit of consolidated financlal statements is set out on pages 2 1o 9.

10
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Fiest Abus Dty Bank
Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December

Nate 2018 ig
AED'D00 AEDDD0
Interest income 28 24,368,947 11,840,614
Interest expense 29 {11,594,145) {8,810,445)
Net interest income 12,774,802 13,030,169
Fee and commission incame 4,730,688 4,879,9EE
Fee and commission expense (1,561,259) {1,487,616)
Met fee and commission income 30 3,169,429 3,392,372
Met foreign exchange gain 31 2,600,978 2,042 480
Met gain on investments and derivatives 32 1,506,277 826,225
Other aperating income 33 197,571 154, 496
Operating income 20,249,057 19,445,742
General, administration and other operating expense 34 (5,498,991} 15,328,555}
Profit before net impairment charge and taxation 14,750,066 14,117,187
Met impairment charge 35 (1,842,980) {1,725,794)
Profit before tawation 12,907,088 12,391,393
Choeroeas iNCome 1ax expenie £ {314,453} [325,004)
Profit for the year 12,592,623 12,066,389

Profit attributable to:
Sharehaolders of the Bank 12,520,203 12,010,820
Mon-contralling interests 72,420 55,569
12,592,623 12,066,389
Basic earnings per share (AED) 42 110 1.06
Diluted eamings per share (AED) 42 110 1.06

Thee notes 1 10 46 are an integral pant of these consobdated financi | statements.
The independent auditors’ report on audit of consolidated financial statements & 5ot out on pages 209,

11
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Fiest Abus Bty Bank
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December
2018 2018
AED'DO0 AEDD00
Praofit for the year 12,552,623 12066389
Gther comprohensive income
ftems that are or may subsequently be reclassified to
consolidated statement of profit or loss
Exchange difference on translation of fareign operations (47,394 (270,017}
Met change in fair value reserve during the year (including ECL) 1,041,181 [936,930)
Items that will not be subsequently be reclassified to
consolidated statement of profit or loss
Met change in fair value of investments in equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income 27,308 {102,223)
Re-rreasurement of defined benefit abligations {17,295} (13,801)
Board of Director's remuneration {54,750) [54,750)
Other comprehensive income for the year 1,849,050 (1,377,521}
Total comprehendive income for the year 13,441,673 10,688 868
Comprehensive income attributable to:
Shareholders of the Bank 14,372,921 10,655,480
Mon-contralling interest 68,752 33,408
Total comprehensive income for the year 14,441,673 10,688,858

The notes 1 1o 46 are an Integral pant of these consobidated financa| stabements,
The independent auditors’ report on audit of consolidated financlal itatements i 4ot out on pages 2to 9.

12
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Fiest Abus Bty Bk
Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December
Maote 2019 048
AED'DOD AEDDDD
Cash flows from operating activities
Prafit before taxation 12,907 0BG 12,391,393
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amaortization 1516 652,936 437, 1489
Laoss on revaluation of investment properties. 14 6,699 45,764
Gain on sale of investment property {136) [1.551)
Gain on sale of fixed assets {28,897) [111,422)
Net impairment charges 35 2,187,815 2.005,564
Acereted interest 1,425,680 36,452
Foreign currency translation adjustment {22,997) [670,603)
Share option scheme {17,025) 10,576
17,111,161 14,217,432
Changes in:
Inveestments at fair value through profit or loss [5.478,271) 7093387
Due from central banks, banks and financial institutions (8,870,320) 19,379,910}
Reverse repurchase agreements (5,629,982) 2,198,167
Loans and advances (56,983,821) {27.190.417)
Other assels E81,475 {5.008,629)
Due to banks and financial institutions (4,258,660) 9. 690,159
Repurchase agreements 4,052,163 12,904, 331)
Customer acoounts and ather deposits 53925 E73 B9.ET2574
Derivative financial instruments 2,884,178 {2,308,854)
Orher liabilities {2,949,789) 4,086,161
{515,993} 60,464,769
Chwerseas income tax paid, net of recoveries. 24 {312, 750) [293.342)
Directors' remuneration paid {54, 750) [49,000)
Net cash [used in} / from operating activities (5,883,493) 60,122,437
Cash flows from Investing activities
Net purchase of non-trading investments (22,427 594) 15.381.782)
Purchase of imestment property {489, 805) [270,046)
Sale proceeds from disposal of investrment property B,EBS 20,990
Purchase of praperty and equipment, net of dispasals {869, 740) [(8E5,837)
Net cash used in investing activities [23,778,674) 16,516,675)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares under share option scheme 7 275,539 178,302
Dividend paid 25 [7,843,642) (7.578,784)
Net movement of commercial paper 3,092,850 (5,979,992}
Issue of term borrowings 22 13,906,212 9,076,645
Repayment of term borrowings 22 (13,529,379) (7.735,417)
Fayrment an Tier 1 capital notes 26 (571,855) [495,047)
Met cash from / (used in) financing activities 5,329,725 (12,534,293)
Met {decrease) [ increase in cash and cash equivalents (24,332,442) 41,071,459
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 175,677,376 134,605,917

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 Decemnber iz 151,344,934 175,677,376

The notes 1 1o 46 are an integral part of these consolidated financia | statements.
The independent auditors' report on audit of consolidated financial Satements i et out an pages 2 to 9.

13
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Legal status and principal activities

Cn 7 December 2016, Shareholders of Mational Bank of Abu Dhabi PISC ("NBAD} and First Guif Bank PISC ("FGE"}
approved the merger of the two banks pursuant to Article 283{1} of UAE Federal Law Mo, 2 of 2015 Concerning
Commercial Companées (the Law), The merger was effected through the issuance of 1.254 new NBAD shares for ewery 1
shase in FGB on close of business 30 March 2017, subsequent to which FGB shares were delisted from Abu Dhabi
Securities Exchange. On 25 April 2017, NBAD shareholders approved the propasal to change the name of the combined
bank ta “First Abw Dhabi Bank™ (the “Bank™) and have its registered office in FAB Building. Khalifa Business Park 1 A Qurem
P. 0. Box 6316 Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates.

These consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019 comprises the Bank and fts
subsidiaries [together referred to as the "Group®). The Group is primarily engaged in corporate, retail, private and
investment banking activities, management services, |slamic banking activities, real estate activities; and carries out its
aperations through its lecal and everseas Branches, subsidiaries and representative offices located in the United Arab
Emirates, Bahsain, Brazil, Cayman lslands, China, Egypt, France, Hong Kong, India, Jordan!, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,
Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, Malaysial, Oman, Qatar, Singapose, South Karea, Sudan!, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and
the United States of America.

The Group’s Islamic banking activities are conducted in accordance with Islamic Sharia’a laws [ssued by the Sharia’a
Supendsary Board.

The Groasp is listed on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (Ticker: FAR),

The consolidated financial staterments of the Group a5 at and for the year ended 31 December 2019 are available upan
request from the Group's registered office or ot hitpo{fwenw. bankfab.com

' Under chosure,
? During the periad, the Bank has notified the Qatar Financial Centre Regulatary Autharity ("QFCRA" ) that it will relinguish
its Qatar Financial Centre {“0QFC”) branch license and permanently chose its QFC branch,

2 Basis of Preparation
(a) Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on poing concern basis in accordance with International
Finandal Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board [ "1ASE") and the requirements
of applicable laws in the UAE.

On 1 April 2015, UAE Federal Law No 2 for Commercial Companies (“UAE Companies Law of 2005") was issued with
effective date 1 July 20:15. The Bank is in compliance with applicable sections of the UAE Companies Law of 2015 as at
the date of these financial statements.

Cn 23 September 2018, a new Decretal Federal Law Mo 14 of 2018 regarding the Central Bank and Organization of
Financial Instituthons and Activities was issued. As per the transitional provisions of the new Law, financial institutions are
1o ensure compliance within 3 years fram the date of issuance of the decretal law. The Bank is in the process of adopting
the new deoretal federal law and will be fully comipliant before the transitional provisions deadline.

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27th January 2020,

[b)  Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the sequisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferned measured a1 acquisition date fair value and the amown of any non-contralling

interests in the acquiree, Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in general, administration and
other aperating expenses, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.

208/332



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

OOoOooooad
el b de b
g FABT

Wt A (bl Bk

MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

2 Basis of Preparation (continued)
[b) Business combinations [continued)

Whien the Group Stquires s busingis, it sseises the financial assets and liabilities sssumed for sgprapriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, ecenomic cirowmstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquires.

If the business combdnation is achieved in stages. any previously held equity interest is re-measured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 1t is then considered in the determination of
poodwill,

Any contingent consideration ls measwed at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation 1o pay contingent
consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrurment is elassified a5 equity, then it is mot remeasured and
settlernent is acoounted for within equity. Otheraise, other contingent consideration ks remeasured at fair value at each
reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred or
i an excess of the fair value of net asets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is
recognised in profit or loss.

After [mivial recognition, goodwill is measwred at cost less amy accurmulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
ar liabllities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill asodated with the disposed operation is induded in the carrying amount af the operation when
determining the gain or loss on dispesal, Goodwill disposed in these crcumstances is measured based on the relative
values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

e}  Basis of measurement
These consofidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis except for the following:

investments at fair value through profit ar lass are measured at fair valoe;
derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value;
debt and equity Instruments designated at fair value theough other comprehensive income are measured at fair
value;

*  investment properties are measuced at fair value;
recognised assets and liakbilities designated as hedged items in qualifying hedge relationships are adjusted for
changes in fair value attributable to the risk being hedged; and

«  non-financial assets acquired in settlement of loans and advances are measured at the lower of their fair value less
costs to sell and the carrying amouwnt of the loan and advances.

[d) Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams {“AED™), which is the Group’s
functional currency. All amaunts have been rounded 1o the neareit thousand, unless atherwise indicated. Items included
in the financial statements of each of the Bank's overseas subsidiaries and branches are measured using the currency of
the primary economic erviranment in which they operate,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

2 Basis of Preparation (continued)
[e}  Use of estimates and judgements

The greparation of consolidated finandal statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting polides and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and
expense. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised prospectively,

Infarmation about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that
hawve the moast significant effect an the amounts recognised in these consalidated financial statements are deseribed in
note 6.

3 Significant accounting policies
[a}  Mew and Amended standards and interpretations adopted

The Group initially adopted IFRS 16 from 1 lanuary 2019, & number of other new standards are also effective from 1
January 2019 but they do ot have a material effect on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS 16 = Leases

The Group applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, under which the right of use assets is equal to
lease liabilities, less prepaid lease rental, if any, as at 1 Janwary 2019, Accordingly, the comparative information presented
for 2018 is not restated - i.e. it is presented, as previowsly reported, under 145 17 and related interpretations, The details
of the changes in accownting palicies are disclosed below. Additionally, the disclosure requirements in IFRS 16 have not
generally been applied 10 comparative information.

Definition of a lease

Previously, the Group determined at contract inception whether an arrangement is or contains a bease under IFRIC 4
Determining whether on Arrongement contains a Lease. The Group now assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition of a lease, as explained in note 3 (aj},

On transition to IFRS 16, the Group elected 1o apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which
transdactions are leases. The Group applied IFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts
that were not identified as leases under 145 17 and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed for whether there is a lease under IFRS
16.

As a lesses

As alessee, the Group leases some branches and office premises and IT equipment, The Group previously classified these
leases as aperating leases under |AS 17 based on its assessment of whether the lease transferred substantially all of the
risks and rewards incidental 1o ownership of the underlying asset to the Group, Under IFRS 16, the Group recognises
right-of-wse assets and lease liabilities for beases of branch and officr premises — i these leases are gn-balance sheet,

At commencement o on modification of a contract that containg a lease component, the Group allocates the
condideration in the contract ta esch lease companent on the basis of its relative stand-alane prices.

However, for leases of branches and office premises the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and
accaunt for the lease and associated non-lease components as a single lease component.

Cn transition, for these leases, lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted at the Group's incremental borrowing rate as a1 1 January 2019,

17
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[a} Mew and Amended standards and interpretations adopted (continued)
IFRS 16 — Leases [continued)}
As a lessee [continued)

Right-of-use asseis are measured at their carrying amount as if IFRS 16 had been applied since the commencerment date,
discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.

The Groug used a number of practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating
leases under 1AS 17, In particular, the Group:
#  relied onits assessment of whether leases are onerous wunder 145 37 Provisions, Contingent Liohilities and Contingent
Assets immediately before the date of initial application as an alternative to performing an impairment review;
= did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months of the
date of initial application;
did not recognise right-of-ase assets and lizbilities for leases of low-value assets (i.e. IT equipment):
excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application; and
used hindsight when determining the lease term,

As @ lessor

The Groug leases out certain property and equipment. The Group had dassified these leases as follows:
+  finance leases of property and equipment; and
=  operating leases of investment property.

The Group is not required to make any adjustments on transition to IFRS 16 for leases inwhich it acts as a bessor,

The Group has applied IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in the contract 1o each
lease and non-lease companent,

The impact on the consolidaved financial statements has been disclosed innote 4.
[b)  Basis of consolidation
i}  Subsidiaries

IFRS 10 governs the basis for consolidation where it establishes a single control moded that applies to all entities including
special purpose entities or structured entities, The definition of controd is such that an investor controds aninvestee when
it is exposed 1o, or hag rights, 1o variable retwrns fram its invalvement with the investes and has the ability 1o affect those
returns through its power aver the iwestes, To meet the definition of contrel in IFRS 10, all three criteria must be met,
Induding:

{a) theinvestor has power over an investes;
(b} theinvestor has exposure to, or rights, to variable returns from its invohement with the investee; and
{c] theimestor has the ability to use its pawer over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns,

Subsidiaries are entities that are controlled by the Group, The Group controls the investee if it meets the control criteria
set oul above, The Group reassesses whether it has control if, there are changes 1o one o more of the elements of
contral. This includes circumstances in which protective rights held becorme substantive and lead 1o the Groug having
pewwer aver an investee, The financial staternents of subsidiaries are included in thege consolidated finandal statements
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OC1) are attributed to the equity holders of the Bank
and to the non-controlling interests [NCI}, even if this results in the RCl having a deficit balance.

18

211/332



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

Grow

Stronger

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(b)
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The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and those of s following

subsidiaries:

Legal Marme

First Abu Dhabi Ban'k LISA NV,

FAR Securities LLC

Abu Dhabi Mational Leasing LLC

Abu Dhabié National Properties Pyt 15C

FAB Private Bank [Sutssa) 54

First &b Dhabd slamic Finance PISC

b Dhabi Securities Brokerage Egypt’
National Bank of Abu Dhabi Malaysia Berhad®
NBAD Employes Share Options Limted

S45 10 Magellan

Mational Bank of &bi Dhabi Representacdes Lida
FAR Global Markets [Cayman] Limibed

Nawat Maragement Services - One ban Compary
LLC
Mismak Properties Co, LT [Mismak)

Moora Properties Co. LLC |Subsidiary of BMismak)
First Mlerchant International LLC [FMI

FABR Employment Services LLE [Sulsidiary of FMI)
FAB Resourdng Services LLC (Subsidiary of FMi]
Fa Sukuk Company Limited

First Gulf Libyan Bank’

FGRE Global Markets Cayman Limited

FAB Properties LLC

Aseel Finanos PISC
Dwbai First PISC

First Gulf Infarmation Technology LLE

FAUB Irvestement KSA |sinple Sharehalder LLC)

' Under liquidation.

Courtry of
Incorporathon

Curatan

United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates
Swizerland

United Arab Emirates
Emyot

Blalaysia

United Arab Emirates
France

Bramd

Cayrnan Hlands
United Arab Emirates
LUnited Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates
United Arab Emirates
Unized Arab Emiratis
United Arab Emirates
Cayman Islands

Litera

Cayman Islands
United Arab Emirates

United Arab Emirates
Uniged Arab Emiirates
Unized Arab Emirates
Eingdom of Saudi Arabia

Principal activities
Barlking

Brokerage

Lisasing

Property Management
Baniing

kslamic Finane
Brokerage

Banlang

Shares and Secunties
Leasing
Representative office
Finamtial Institution

Services

Real estate investments
Real estate imestments
Real estate imvestments
Resourong services
Resourong services
Special purpose vehcle
Baniking services
Financial knstitution

Management and
broerage of real eitite

proparties
Eslamic finance

Credit card finance
IT Sarvices

Finamndial nstitution

Halding %
e

1000
100EE
100

? Although the Bank owns 50% of the outstanding shares of First Gulf Libvan Bank, the investment has been classified as
a subsidiary as the Bank exercises contral over the investee because it casts the majarity of the wotes on the board of

directars,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[b) Basis of consolidation [continuved)
{ii}  Structured entities

A structured entity is established by the Group to perform a specific task. Structured entities are designed so that their
activities are not governed by way of voting rights. In assessing whether the Group acts 35 a principal or has power over
inwestees in which it has an interest, the Group considers factors such as the purpose and design of the investes, its
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee; the nature of its relationship with the investee; and the
size of its exposure to the variability of refurns of the investes,

The Group acts as fund manager 19 a number of investment funds, Determining whether the Group centrals such an
investment fund usually fecuses on the asessment of the aggregate sconamic interests of the Group in the fund. Whilst
assessing control, the Group reviews all facts and circumstances to determine whether as a fund manager the Group is
acting as agent or principal. If deemed to be a principal, the Group controls the fund and would consolidate them else as
an agent the Group would account for them as investments in funds.

The Group's interest in investment funds in which it act as an agent is set out below, these funds are included as part of

investments,
Type of Structured Entity Nature and purpose Interest held by the Group
Irvestment Funds managing assets  Generate fees from managing assets  Investrnents in units issued by the fund

on behalf of third-party imvestors amounting 1o AED 3,914 thousand
{2018: AED 2,050 thousond)

{iii}  Joint Arrangements and Investments in Assodiates

An Associate is an investee over which the Group has significant influence. Significant Influence is the power to participate
in the finandal and operating policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint control over those policies.
Inwestment in associates is accounted under the equity method of accounting.

A jaint arrangement is an arrangement between the Group and other parties where the Group aleng with one or more
parties has joint control by wirtue of a contractual agreement. Joint arrangement may be 3 joint operation or 3 jeint
venture. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint contral of the arrangement have
rights ta and recard their respective share of the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint contral of the arrangernent, have rights to the
net assets of the arrangement and, thus, are accounted wnder the equity method of acocounting.

Under the equity method, the investment in an assodate is initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the cordolidated financial statements indude the Group's share of the prafit or loss
and OC1 of equity accounted investees, until the date an which significant influence or joint contral ceases, Goodwill
relating to the associate is incuded in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amartized nor individually
tested for impairment. The consclidated statement of income reflects the Graug’s share of the results of operations of
the associates. Any change in other comprehensive income of those investees is presented as part of the Group's other
comprehensive income, In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the
Group recagnises its share of any changes, when applicabde, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The aggregate of the Group's share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement

of income. The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting peried as the Groug. When
necessary, adjust ments are made to bring the accaunting palicies in line with those of the Groug,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[b) Basis of consolidation [continuved)
{iii}  loint Arrangements and Investments in Assodiates (continued)]

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary 1o recognise an impairment boss
on its imeestment inits associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that
the investment in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group caloulates the amount of impairment as
the difference between the recoverable amount of the assodate and its carrying value, and then recognises the boss in
the consalidated staterment of income,

{iv)] Mon-controlling interests

MNen-controlling interests are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at
the date of acquisition.

Changes in the Group™s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions,

v Loss of control

When the Group loses control aver a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-
contralling interests and the other components of equity refated to the subsidianyg. Any surplus or deficit arising on the
loss of control is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the former
subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value when control is lost.

{vi}  Transactions eliminated on consolidation

The carrying amount of the Group's investment in each subsidiary and the equity of each subsidiary are eliminated an
comsclidation, All significant intra-group balances, transactions and unrealised income and expenses (except for fareign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised
lasses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there Is no evidence of impalrment.

{¢}  Financial assets and liabilities

i) Recognition and initial measurement
The Groug initially recognised loans and advances, deposits, debt secsrities issued and subordinated liabilities on the
date an which they are originated, All other financial instruments {excluding regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets) are recognised an the trade date, which is the date en which the Group becomes a party 1o the contractual
provisions of the instrument.
All regulor way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised an the settlernent date, {.e. the date the asset is
delivered to or received from the counterparty. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are those that require
delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or comention in the market place.

i}  Classification
On initial recognition, a Financial asset is classified a: measured at: amortized cost, Fair Valee through Other

Comprehensive Income (*FYOCIT} or Fair Value through prefit or loss ("FWTPL"). A financial asset is measured at
amortised cost if it meets bath of the fallowing conditions 3nd i not designated as at FYTRL:

® e asset s held within 3 busingss model whase abjeetive is to held 353813 10 eallect contractual eazh flows; snd
»  the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are Solely Payment of
Principal and Interest {“SPPI™).

i |
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(e} Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
{ii}  Classification [cantinded)

A debt instrament is measured at PYOC! onby if it meets both of the follewing conditions and is not designated as at

FVTFL:

= the asset is hild within  business model whase objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets; and

= the contractual terms of the financial atset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI,

On initial recognition af an equity investment that is nat held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subiequent changes in fair value in OCL. This election is made on an investrment-by-imestrment basis,

All ather financlal assets are classified as measured at FYTPL

In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FWOCH as FYTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch that would othensdse arise,

Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of 2 busine ss madel in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because
this best reflects the way the business is managed and information & provided to management. The information
considered includes:

#  the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policles in practice. In particular,
whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest
rate profile, matching the duration of the finandal assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those
assels or realising cash flows throagh the sale of the assets;
haw the perfarmance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Groug's management;
thee risks that affiect the performance of the business mode (and the finandial assets held within that business model)
and its strategy for how those risks are managed;

#  how managers.of the business are compensated {e_g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets
managed or the cantractual cash flows collected]); and

«  the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior pericds, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about
futwre sales activity. However, infarmation about sales activity is not considered inisolation, but as part of an overall
assessment of how the Group's stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and haw much cash
flows are realised,

Financial assets that are either held for trading or managed and whose perfermance is evaluated on a fair value bags are
measured a1 FUTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both 1o collect contractual
cash flows and to sell inancial asse1s.

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest [“SPP1)

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal” is defined as the fair value of the finandlal asset on initlal recognition.
‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal
amaount gutstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs {e.g. liquidity risk and
administrative costs), as well as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the cantractual térms of the instrurment.

This inchedes assessing whether the financial asset containg a contractual term that could change the timing or amount
of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. lnmaking the assessment, the Group considers:

n
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(e} Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
{ii}  Classification [cantinded)
Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest [“SPP1") (continued)
contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;
lewerage features;
prepayment and extension terms;

terms that limit the Group's claim to cash flows fram specified assets (e.g. non-recourse loans): and
features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of interest rates).

@ & 8 @ @

The Group halds a portfolio of long-term fixed-rate loans for which the Group has the option to propose to revise the
interest rate at pericdic reset dates. These reset rights are limited to the market rate at the time of revision. The
horrowers have an option to either accept the revised rate or redeem the loan a1 par without penalty, The Group has
determined that the contractual cash flows of these loans are 5PP| because the option varies the interest rate in a way
that is consideration for the time value of money, eredit risk, other basic lending risks and costs associated with the
principal armount outstanding.

Financial liabilities

The Geoup classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as measured at
amaortised cost or fair value through profit or loss.

(i) Derecognition
Financial assets

The Groug derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the finandal asset expire
[see alse Aiv)), or it transfers the rights ta receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nar
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset,

On derecognition of a finandial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount
allacated 1o the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i} the consideration received {including any new asset
abtafned less amy new llability assumed) and (il any cumulative gain or less that had been recognised in OCl is recognised
In prafit or loss.

Anmy cumulative gainfloss recognised in OCl in respect of equity investment securities designated as at FVOCH is not
recognised in prafit or loss on derecognition of such securities, Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for
derecognition that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability,

The Growp enters inta transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised an its statement of financial position, but
retaing either all o substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. In such cases,
the transferred assets are not derecognised. Examples of such transactions are securities lending and sale-and-
repurchase transactions.

When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent total return swap on the transferred assets, the transaction is
accounted for as a secured financing transaction similar to sale-and-repurchase transactions, because the Group retaing
all er substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of swech assers.

In transactions in which the Group neither retains nor transfiers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of

a financial asset and it retains control owver the asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset ta the extent of its
continuing invelvernent, determined by the estent 1o which it i exposed 1o chamges in the value of the transferred asser,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(e} Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
{iii}  Derecognition [contimred)
Financial assets (rontinued)

In certain transactions, the Group retains the obligation to service the transferred financial asset for a fee, The transferred
asset is derecognised if it meets the derecognition criteria. An asset or liability is recognised for the servicing contract if
the servicing fee is more than adequate (asset) or is less than adequate (liability} for pedforming the servicing.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial Bability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.
{iv}]  Modifications of financlal assets and financlal liabilities

Financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evalustes whether the cash flows of the modified asser are
substantially different. H the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the
ariginal financial assel are deemed 10 have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new
financial asset s recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received as part of the modification
are acoounted for as follows:

= fees that are considered in determining the fair valwee of the new asset and fees that represent reimbursement of
eligible transaction costs are included in the initlal measurement of the asset; and
= ather fees are included in profit or koss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition,

If cash fows are modified wien the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the abjective of the madification is usually
1o maximise recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with substantially different
terms. |f the Group plans 1o modify a financial asset in 2 way that would result in forgheeness of cash flows, then it first
considers whether a portion of the assat should be written off before the modification takes place. This approach impacts
the result of the quantitative evaluation and means that the derecognition criteria are not usually met in such cases,

If the medification of a financial asset measured a1 amortised cost or FYOC! does not result in derecognition of the
financial asset, then the Group first recalculates the gross carrying amaunt of the finandal asset using the original
effective interest rate of the aswet and recognises the resulting adpustment as a rmodification gain ar loss in profit or loss.
Far floating-rate financial assets, the ariginal effective interest rate used to calaulate the modification gain or loss is
adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. Amy costs or fees incurred and fiees recelvable
as part of the modification adjust the gross carrying amount of the modified financfal asset and are amortised over the
remaining term of the modified financial asset.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the madified lability are
substantially different. In this case, a new financial Kability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value, The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and consideration paid is recognised in
profit or loss. Consideration paid includes mon-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption af liabllitles,
Induding the new madified financial liability.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(e} Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
{iv] Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Financial liabilities [continued)

If the modification of a financial liability s not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the liability is
recaloulated by discounting the modified cash flows at the ariginal effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in prafit or loss, For fleating-rate financial liabilities, the ariginal effective interest rate wied to caloulate the
madification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs and fees
incurred are recognised as an adjustrment 1o the carnying amount of the liability and amortised aver the remaining term
of the modified finandal liability by re-computing the effective interest rate on the instrument.

v]  Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented inthe consolidated statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to set off the amounts and intend either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultanecusly,

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, ar for gaing and losses anising from
a group of similar transactions such as in the Groug’s trading activity.

{vi}  Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a Kability in an orderly transaction
betwesn market participants a1 the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous market
ta which the Group has access at that date, The fair value of a Rability reflects its non-performance risk, When cne is
available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that
instrament., A market i4 regarded a5 active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency
and volume to provide pricing information on 2n on-going basis.

If there is no quated price in an active market, then the Group uses the valuation techniques that maximize the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The chasen valuation technique incorporates
all the factors that market participants would take into account in priding a transaction. The best evidence of the fair
value of a financial instrument at initial recagnition & normally the transaction price — i, the fair value of the
consideration given or received, IF the Group determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the
transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither By a quated price in an active market for an identical asset or
lizbility mor bazed on & valuation technigue that uses anly data from abserdable markets, the finandal instrument is
Initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the falr value at initial recognition and the
transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on an
appropriate basis over the life of the instrurment bat no later than when the valuation is supported whally by observable
market data or the transaction is closed out.

If an asget or a lakdity measured a1 fair value has 3 bid price and an ask price, the Group measures assets and long
pesitions a1 a bid price and labilities and short positions at an ask price,

Portfolios of finandal assets and financial liabilities thar are exposed to market risk and credit risk that are managed by
the Group on the basic of the net exposure 1o elther market or credit risk, are measured on the basis of a price that would
be received to sell a net long position or paid to transfer a net short position far a particular risk exposure, Portfolio-level
adjustments = e.g. bid-ask adjustment or credit risk adjustments that reflect the measurement on the basis of the net
eupasure — are allocated to the individual assets and liabilities an the basis of the relative risk adjustment of each of the
indévidual instruments in the portfelio.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(e} Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
{vi}  Fairvalue measurement [contissed)

The fair value of imestments in mutual funds, private equity funds or similar investment vehides are based on the last
net asset value published by the fund manager. For other investments, 2 reasonable estimate of the fair value is
determined by reference to the price of recent market transactions involving similar investments, are based on the
expected discounted cash flows,

The fair value of a dermand deposit is not bess than the amount payable on demand, discownted from the first date an
which the amaunt caould be required to be paid.

The Group recognizes transfers between levels af the fair value hiesarehy 35 ot the end af the reparting peried during
which the change has ocowrred.

{vil} Impairment

The Bank recognises loss allowances for Expected Credit Loss (ECL) on the following financial instruments that are not
measured at FWTRL:

balances with central banks;

due from banks and financial institutions;
reverse repurchase agreements;

financial assets that are debt instruments;
loans and advances;

loan commitments issued; and

finandal guarantee contracts issued,

® ® ® % #® 8 @

Mo impairment loss is recognised on equity investments.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they are
measured as 12-maonth ECL:

#  debt imvestrment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date: and
= gther financial instrurnents on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition (see
Hote S(all.

The Group considers the above financial instruments 10 have low credit risk when its eredit risk rating is equivalent 1o
the globally understood definition of iwestment grade’.

Credit loss allowances are measured using a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since
arigination:

®  Stage 1-="Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition of a financial
instrumendt, an amount equal to 12 months expected credit loss is recorded. The expected credit foss is computed
using a probability of default occurring over the next 12 months. For those instrements with a remaining maturity
of less than 12 months, a probability of default corresponding to remaining term to maturity is used.

®  Stage ! = When a financial instrument experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but is not considered to be
impaired, it is inchuded in Stage 2. This requires the computation of expected credit loss based on the probability of
default over the remaining estimated life of the financial instrament.

*  Stage 3 - Financial instruments that are considered 1o be impaired are included in this stage. Similar vo Stage 2, the
allowance for credit losses captures the lifetime expected credit losses.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(e} Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
{vil})  Impairment (continued)
Measurement of ECL

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are:
«  Probabilivy of default ("PD®);

= Lossgiven default ("LGD");

#  Exposure at default ("EAD™)

These parameters are generally derived from statistical models and other histarical data, They are adjusted to reflect
forward-looking information. Additionally, the Growp has elaborate review process to adjust ECL for factors not available
in the model,

Details of these statistical parameters/finputs are as follows:

PD— The prabability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon,

»  EAD = The exposure at default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected
changes in the exposure after the reporting date

®  LGD - The loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time, It is
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive,
induding fram the realization of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD.

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

# financdal assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shartfalls [l.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive);

= financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carmying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

= undeawn oan commitments: a4 the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are due
10 the Group if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flaws that the Group expects to receive; and

» finandal guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the Group
expects 10 recover.

Restructured financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or maodified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due
1o financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be
derecognised and ECL are measured as follows.

= |f the expected restructuring will nat result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash fllows
arising from the modified financial asset are included In calculating the cash shortfalls fram the existing asset. If the
expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected falr value of the new
asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition.

= This amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted from
the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the existing
financial asset.

)
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(e} Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
{vil})  Impairment (continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether finandal assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets
carried at FYOCI, and finance lease receivables are credit-irmpaired (referred 1o as "Stage 3 finamcial assets’). A financial

asset s ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the finandal asset have occurred. Evidence that a financlal asset is credit-impaired indudes the following observable

data:

#«  significant financlal difficulty of the borrower ar issuer;

*  abreachof contract such as a default or past due event;

= therestructuring of a boan or advance by the Groug on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;
# it s becoming probabile that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial rearganisation; or

»  thedisappearance of an active market for 2 security because of financial difficulties.

Purchased or Originally Credit Impaired ["POCE] financial assets

POC financial assers are assets that are credit-impaired on initial recognition, For POCI assets, lifetime ECL are
incorporated an initial recognition.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the staternent of financial position
Lioss allowances for ECL are presented in the staterment of financial position as follows:

finandial assets measured at amoartised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;

*  |pan commitments and financial guarantes contracts: generally, a5 a provision; and
debt instruments measured at FWOCE: no loss allowance i recognised in the consclidated statement of financial
position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair valwe. However, the loss allowance is disclosed
and is recognised in the fair value reserve,

Write-off

Loans and debt securities are written off [either partially or in full} when there is no reasonable expectation of recowvering
a finandal asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the
borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off. This assessment |s carried out at the individual asset level.

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in 'net impairment charge’ in the statement of profit or less.
Finangial assets that are written off could still be subject 1o enforcement activities in arder to comply with the Group's
procedures for recovery of amaunts due,

Central Bank of UAE {"CBUAE") provision requirements

As per the CBUAE notice no. CBUAESBSD/2018/458 dated 30 April 2018, clause 6.4, if the specific provision and
generalfcollective provision comulatively is higher than the impairment allowance computed under IFRS 9, the
differential should be transferred to an “Impairment Reserve™ a4 an appropriation fram the Retained eamings. This
impairment reserve should be split to that which relates to difference in specific provision and generalfcallective
prendsion. The Impairment resernse will not be svailable far payment of dividend.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
{d) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, balances with central
banks and due from banks and financial institutions with original maturities of less than three months, which are subject

to insignificant risk of changes in fair value, and are wsed by the Groupin the management of its short-term commitments.

Cash and cath equivalents are non-derivative financal assets stated at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

{e) Due from banks and financial institutions
These are non-derivative financial assets that are stated at amortised cost, less any allowance for impairment.

1fh Investments at fair valee through profit or loss
These are securities that the Group acquire principally for the purpose of selling in the near term ar holding as a part of
portfalio that is managed together for shor-term profit or position taking. These assets are initially recognised and
subsequently measured a1 fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position. All changes in Tair values are
recagnised as part of profit or loss.

&) Reverse repurchase agreements.
Aszets purchased with a simultaneous commitment to resell a1 a fixed price an a specified future date are nat recognised,
The amount paid to the countérparty under these agreements is shown a3 réverse repurchase Jgreements in the
consalidated staverment of finandal position. The difference between purchase and resale price is treated a5 inberest
incame and acerved over the life of the reverse repurchase agreement and charged to the consolidated staternent of
profit or loss using the effective interest rate methad.

{h} Loans and advances
‘Leans and advances’ captions in the statement of financial position indede:
#  |oans and advances measured at amortised cost; they are initially measured at falr value plus incremental direct

transaction costs, and subsequently at their amartised cost using the effective interest method; and
*» finance lease receivables.

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fived or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
acthve market and that the Group does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term.

When the Group is the lessor in a lease agreement that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the asset to the lessee, the arrangement is dassified as 2 finance lease and a receivable equal to the net
imvestment in the lease is recognised and presented within loans and advances.
In determining whether an arrangement is 2 leace, the Group asceraing the cubnance of the arrangement and Jsesces
whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a spedfic asset or assets and whether the
arrangement conveys a right 1o use the assets.
These are derecognised when either the borrower repays its obligations or the koan are sold or written-off.

il Islamic financing and investing contracts

The Group engages in Sharia’a compliant slamic banking activities through various |slamic instruments such as ljara,
Murabaha, Mudaraba and Wakala.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
{i) Islamic financing and investing contracts (continued)
{ Definktions

ljara
Ipara consists ﬂ“i&fﬂ muntahia bitamilesk.

ljara financing is an agresment whereby the Group (lessor) leases or constructs an asset based on the customer's [lessee)
request and promise to lease the assets for a specific period against certain rent instalments. ljara could end in
transferring the ownership of the asset to the lessee at the end of the lease period. Also, the Group transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of the leased asset to the lessee, [jara income is recognised on an
effective profit rate basis over the lease term.

Murabaha

A sale contract whereby the Group sells to a custemer commaodities and ather ausets at an agreed upon prafit mark up
on cast. The Group purchases the astets based on a promise received from custamer 1o buy the item purchased according
to specific terms and conditions. Profit from Murabaha is quantifiabde at the commencement of the transaction. Such
Income is recognised as it accrues over the period of the contract on effective profit rate method on the balance
outstanding,

Mudaraba

Acontract between the Group and a customer, wihereby one party provides the funds (Rab Al Mal] and the other party
[the Mudarib) imests the funds in a project or a particular activity and any profits generated are distributed between the
parties acoording to the profit shares that were pre-agreed in the contract. The Mudarib would bear the loss in case of
default, negligence or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Mudaraba, otheraise, losses are borne by the
Rab Al Mal. Income [s recognised based on expected results adjusted for actual results on distribution by the hMudarib,
whereas if the Group is the Rab Al Mal the losses are charged to the Group's consolidated income statement whien
incurred,

Wakala

An agreement between the Group and customer whereby one party (Rab Al Mal) provides a certain sum of money toan
agent (Wakil), who Invests it according to specific conditions in return for a certain fee (@ lurmp sum of money or a
percentage of the amount invested]. The agent (s obliged to guarantee the invested amount in case of default, negligence

or viclation of any of the terms and conditions of the Wakala. The Group may be Wakil or Rab Al Mal depending on the
nature of the transaction.

Estimated income from Wakala is recognised on the effective profit rate basis aver the period, adjusted by actual income
when received, Losses are accounted for when incurred,

{i) Revenue recognition
ljara

Income from ljara is recognised on a declining-valuwe basis, until such time a reasonable doubt exists with regard to its
collectabdlity.

Murabaha

Income fram Murabaha is recognised on a declining-value basis, until such time a reasonable doubt exists with regard to
its callectability.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[l islamicfinancing and investing contracts (continued)
i} Revenue recognition {continued)

Mudaraba

Incame or losses on Mudaraba financing are recognised on an sccrual basis if they can be reliably estimated, Otherwise,
income is recognised an distribution by the Mudarib, whereas the lomes are charged to the consolidated statememt of
profit or loss on thedr declaration by the BMudarib,

Wakala

Estimated income from \Wakala is recognised on an accreal basis over the period, adjusted by actual income when
received, Losses are accounted for on the date of dedaration by the agent.

{ib Mon-trading investments
The ‘nan-trading investments’ captionin the statement of financial position includes:

=  debt investment securities measured at amortised cost; these are initially measured at fair value plus incremental
direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amartised cost using the effective interest method;
debt securities measured at FVOC);
equity investment securities designated as at PVOCI; and
Investment in associate and joint wertwre

For debt securities measwred at PYOC], gaing and losses are recognised in OCI, except for the following, which are
recagnised in prafit or boss in the same manner as for financial assets measwred at amortised cost:

»  [nterest revenue using the effective interest method;
»  ECL and reversals; and
+  foreign exchange gains and losses.

Wien debt security measured 3t FVOC is derecognised, the cumulative gain ar loss previeudy recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to prafit or s,

The Group elects to present In 000 changes in the faér value of certain iwestments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading. The election is made on an instrument-by-instrurment basis on initial recognition and s irrevacable. Fair
value gains and losses on such equity instruments are never reclassified to profit or loss and o impairment is recognised
in profit or loss, Dhvidends are recognised in prafit or loss unless they clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of
the investment, in which case they are recognised in OC1, Cumulative gaing and losses recognised in OC) are transferred
to retained earnings on disposal of an investment.

k) Investment properties

Investment properties are measured nitially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value which reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair values ofinvestment properties are included in the consolidated income statement under
‘gther income” in the year in which they arise,

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is
permanenthy withdrawn from wse and no future economic benefit is expected from it dispasal, Any gaing or losses on

the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the consolidaved income statement in the year
of retirernent o disposal,

31
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
n Property and equipment
{ Recognition and measurement
All items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if amy,
except for land, which is measured at fair valuve. Capital projects in progress are initially recorded at cost and regulariy
tected for impairment and upon completion are trandferred to the aporopriate categary of praperty and equipment and
thereafter depreciated,

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is
integral vo the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

Gains and bosses on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from
dispasal with the carrying amount of progerty and equipment and are recagnised net within other operating income in
the comsolidated statement of profit or boss.

Subsequent expenditures are anly capitalised when it is probable that the future economic benefits of such expenditures
will flew 1o the Group, On-going expenses are charged to consolidated statement of prafit or loss as incurred,

If significant parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as
separate items (major companents) of progerty and equipment,

Any gain or lass on dispesal of an itern of propenty and equipment is recognized within other income in profit or loss.
fi}  Deprediation

Depreciation is recognised in the consolidated staternent of profit or loss an a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of all property and equipment. Freehold land and capital work in progress are not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives of assets for the current and comparative period are as follows:

Buildings and willas 20 to 50 years
Office furniture and equipment 5o T years
Fit-gurt leased prémises 10 years
Safes 10 years
Computer systems and equipment 3o T years
Viehicles 3 years

Depreciation methods, useful ives and residual values are reassessed at every reporting date.

fiiiy  Capital work in progress
Capital work in progress assets ane assens in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes,
are carried 31 cost, less any recognised impairment loss, Cost indudes all direct cost attributable to design and
construction of the property capitalised in accordance with Group's accounting policy. When the assets are ready for
the intended use, the capital work in progress is transferred to the approgriate property and equipment category and is
depreciated in accordance with the Group's pollices.

(v} Impaimment of non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying ameunts of its nen-financial assets {other than investment

properties and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. IF any such indication
exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated, Goodwill is tested annually for impairment,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)

m Property and equipment (continued)
{iw}  Impairment of non-financlal assets (continued)

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that is largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs. Goodwill arising from a business
combination is allocated to CGUL or group of COUL that are expected benefit fram the synergies of the combination,

The ‘recoverable amount” of an asset or COU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value bess cost 10 sell. "Value in
use’ is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their presant value using pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific 1o the asset or OGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amownt of an asset or CGU exceeds [ts recoverable amount.

The Group's corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are used by more than one CGU. Corporate
assets are allocated to CGLUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part of the testing of the
CGUs o which the corporate assets are allocated.

Impairment bosses are recognised in profit or boss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amaunts of any ather assets in the CGU on a prorate basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amartization, if ng impairment |63 had been recognised,

[m) Intangible assets

Goodwill arises an the acquisition represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
contralling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date Tair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over
the fair walue of the identifiable net assets acquired. If the total of consideration transferred, non-contrelling interest
recagnised and previously held interest measured at falr value is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidary
acquired in case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and license acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of
the CGUs, or groups of CGLS, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each wnit or group of
units ta which the goodwill is allacated represents the lowest lewel within the entity at which the goodwill is monitared
fer internal management purposes. Goodwill is manitored a1 the operating segrment level,

Goodwill and license Impalrment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the
recaverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair valwe less costs of disposal. Any Impairment is
recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed,

The Group's intangible assets ather than goadwill inclede intangibile assets arising out of business combinations, The
cost of intangible asse1s acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets
acquired separatefy are measured an inftlal recognition at cost. Following initial recagnition, intangibie assets are carried
at cost hess any acocumulated amaortisation and acoumalated impairment losses.

The useful ives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
amartised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired, The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting pericd, Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or
method, 35 apprapriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amartisation expense on intangible
assets with finite lives is recognised in the consolidated incame statement,

i3
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)

[m) Intangible assets (continued)
The estimated useful lives of the intangible assets for the caleulation of amartisation are a3 fellows:

Custormer relationships 7.5 =15 years
Core deposits 2.5 years — 15 years
Brand 20 years

[p)  Callateral pending sale

Real estate and other collateral may be acquired as the result of settlement of certain loans and advances and are
recorded as assets held for sale and reported in "Other assets™, The asset acquired is recorded at the lower of its fair
value bess costs bo sell and the carrying armount of the loan (net af impairment allowance] a1 the date af exchange, Na
depreciation is provided in respect of assets held for sale, Any subsequent write-down of the acquired asset to Fair value
less costs to sell is recorded as an impairment lass and Induded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Amy
subsequent increase in the fair value less costs to sell, 1o the extent this does not exceed the cumulative impairment lass,
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The Group's collateral disposal policy is in line with the
respective regulatory requirement of the regions in which the Grouwp operates.

[e)  Due to banks and financial institutions, Customer accounts and other deposits and Commercial Paper

Duwe to banks and financial institutions, customer deposits and Commerdial Paper are financial liabilities and are initially
recognised at their fair value minus the transaction costs and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method,

(p) Repurchase agreements

Assets sold with a simultanecus commitment 1o repurchase at a fived price on a specified future date are not
derecognised, The liability 1o the counterparty for armounts received under these agreements is shown as repurchase
agreements in the consolidated statement of financlal pasition. The difference between sale and repurchase price is
treated as interest expense and accrued over the life of the repurchase agreement and charged to the consclidated
statement of profit or loss using the effective Interest rate methad.

[g)  Term borrowings and subordinated notes

Term borrowings and subordinated notes include convertible notes that can be converted into share capital at the option
af the holder, where the number of shares issued do nat vary with changes in their fair value, are accounted for as
compound financial instruments. The equity component of the convertible notes is caloulated as the excess of issue
proceeds aver the present value of the future interest and principal paymenits, discounted at the market rate of interest
applicable 1o simidlar liabilities that do not have a conversion option,

Term borrowing which are designated at FYTPL, the amount of change in the Fair value of the liabiity that is attributable
to changes in its credit risk is presented in OCI as a liability credit reserve, On initial recognition of the financial lability,
the Group assesses whether presenting the amount of change in the fair value of the liabdity that is attributable 1o credit
risk in OC1 would create or enfarge an accaunting mismatch in profit or loss. This assessment is made by using a regression
analysis to compare:

=  theexpected changes in the fair value of the liability related 1o changes in the credit rigk: with
»  theimpact an prafit or boss of expected changes in fair value of the related instruments,

Amounts presented in the lability eredit reserve are not subsequently translerred 10 profit or loss, When these

Instruments are derecognised, the related cumulative amaunt in the [fability credit reserve is transferred to retained
eamings.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[q) Term borrowings and subordinated notes [cantinued)

Term borrawings and subordinated notes withaut corverdan aption and that are #t fair value thraugh profit or loss are
finamcial liabilities whéch are initially recognised at thelr fair value minus the transaction costs and subseguently
measured at their amonised cost using the effecthve interest rate method and adjusted to the extent of fair value
changes for the risks being hedged,

[f)  Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are acquired {treasury shares) are deducted from the equity and accounted for at
weighted average cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement on the purchase, sale, issue
arcancelation of the Bank™s ownequity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amouwnt and the consideration,
if reigsued, is recognised in share premium, If treasury shares are distributed a4 part of 3 bonus share isswe, the cast of
the shares is charged againgt retained earnings. Voting rights relating to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and
no dividends are allocated to them respectively.

[s}  Fiduciary assets

Assets held In trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and accordingly are not incuded in
these consolidated financial statements.

[t)  Share option scheme

On the grant date fair value of options granted to staff is estimated and the cost is recognised as staff cost, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period required for the staff to become unconditionally entitied to the
options. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of share options for which the refated
service conditions are expected to be met; as such the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the
nurmber of share options that do meet the related service and non-market perfarmance conditions at the vesting date.
These shares may contribute ta the caleulation of dilutive EPS ance they are deermed as potential ordinary shares.

[u} Interest income and expense
Effective interest rate

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective interest
rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument to:

= the grods carrying armount of the finandal asset; or

»  the amortised cost of the financial liability.

‘When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instrurments other than purchased or onginated credit-impaired
assets, the Group estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not ECL

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial akility,

Amortised cost and gross carrying amaount

The ‘amartised cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the armount at which the financial asset or financial liability
Is measured on initial recogniticn minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between that indtial amaount and the maturity amount and, for financial
assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance [or Impairment allowance before 1 lanuary 2018).

The *gross carrying amaunt of a financial asset’ is the amortised cost of a finandal asset before adjusting for any expected

credit loss allowance,
a5
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[u) Interest income and expense (continued)
Caleulation of interest income and expénse

The effective interest rate of a financizl asset ar financial Fabllity is calculated on initial recagnition of a financial asset
or 2 financial liabdlity, In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset {when the asset is not credit impaired] or to the amortised cost of the liability. The effective
interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate instruments to reflect
meverments in market rates of interest, The effective interest rate is also revised for fair value hedge adjustments at the
date amaortisation of the hedge adjustment begins,

For infarmation on when financizl assers are credit-impaired, see Note 3(c){vi).
Presentation

Interest income caloulated using the effective interest method presented in the statement of profit or loss and 00
includes:

interest on financial assets and finandcial liabilities measwed at amortised oost;

interest on delbt instruments measured at FVOCT;

the effective partion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow hedges of

variability in interest cash flows, i the same period as the bedged cash flows affect interest income/expense; and
«  theeffective partion of fair value changes in qual ifying hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedges of interest

rate risk.

Interest expense presented in the statement of profit or loss and OQ includes:

financial liabilities measured at amortised cost; and
the effective partion of Fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow hedges of
variability in interest cash flows, inthe same period as the hedged cash flows affect interest incornefespense,

= the effective portion of Fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives désignated in fair value hedges of interest
rate risk.

Intveres income and expense on financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are presented as in interest income or
interest expense from financial instruments at FYTPL

[w)  Income from Islamic financing activities
ljara income is recognised on a time-proportion basis over the lease term.
Murabaha Income is recognised on a time apportioned basis over the period of the contract based on the prindpal
amounts outstanding. Mudaraba income & recognised based on expected results adjusted for actwal results on
distribution by the Mudarib, whereas if the Group is the Rab Al Mal the losses are charged to the Group's consolidated
income statement when incurred,

[w) Depositors’ share of profit
Depoesitars’ share of prafit is amount accrued as expense on the funds accepted from banks and customers in the form

of wakala and mudaraba deposits and recognited as expenses in thi consalidated staterment of prafit ar lass, The
amoaunits are calculated inaccordance with agreed terms and conditions of the wakala deposits and Sharia'a principles.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[x) Fee and commission income and expense

The Group earnd fee snd commission incorme fram o diverse range ol services provided 10 its customers. The basis af
accounting treatment of fees and commission degends on the purposes for which the fees are collected and accordingly
the revenue is recognised in consolidated staternent of prafit or loss. Fee and commission income is accounted for as
follows:

income earned fram the provision of services is recognised as revenue as the sendces are provided;

income sarned an the execution of a significant act is recognised a3 revenue when the act is completed;

income which forms an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument is recognised as an
adjustment to the effective interest rate and recorded in “Interest income™,

A contract with a customer that results in 3 recognised financial instrument in the Group's consolidated financial
statements may be partially in the scope of IFR5 % and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case, then the Grouwp
firgt applies IFRS 9 to separate and meaiure the part of the contract that is in the scape of IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS
15 ta the residual,

Fee and commission expense relates mainly 1o transaction and service fees which are expensed as the services are
received.

Customaer loyalty programma:

The Growp operates boyalty programs, which allow customers to accumulate points when they use the Bank's products
and services that can then be redeemed for free or discounted products or services, subject to certain conditions. The
layalty programs give rice to separate performance obligations under the separate schemes, The fair value of issued
points is generally estimated based on equivalent standalone prices for the mix of awards expected and |s recognized in
other liabfiities until the peénts get redeemed or lapsed. Management jodgment s imobred in determining the
redemption rate to be wsed in the estimate of points to be redeemed as evidenced by the Group's historical experience,

(v) Zakat

Zakat s only pald on behalf of shareholders in jurisdictions where zakat payment is made mandatory by the regulations
of the jurisdictions. Such payment is made in accordance with the regulations of the jurisdictions.

[z) Met gain/loss on investments and derivatives

Neét gain en imestments and derivatives comprises realised and unrealised gaing and losdes on investments at fir value
threugh profit or loss and derivatives, realised gains and losses on non-trading investments and dividend income, Bet
gain on investment at fair value thraugh prafit or loss includes changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities designated at fair value.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of FYOl assets are recognised In the staterment of other
comprehensive income and recarded in fair value reserve with the exception of ECL, interest calculated using the
effective interest rate method and foreign exchange gains and losses on manetary assets which are recognised directly
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Where the investment is sold or realised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in equity under fair value reserve [s reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in
case of debt instruments,

Neon-trading investment Includes FWOC and amortised cost instruments.

The Groug also holds investments in assets issued in countries with negative interest rates. The Group discloses interest
paid on these assets in the line where its economic substance of transaction is reflected (note 31}

EF)
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[z) Met gain/loss on investments and derivatives [continued)

Amaortised cost investments, which are not close to their maturity are not ordinarily sold. However when they are sold
or realised, the gain o loss is recognised in the consalidated statement of profit or loss,

Diwidend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
[aa) Foreign currency
ik Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated inta the respective functional currencies of the Groug entities at spot
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Manetary assets and labilities denominated in forelgn currencies at the
reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the spot exchange rates at the reporting date. The foreign
currency gain or loss on monetary items (s the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the
beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the pericd, and the amortised cost in fareign
currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period,

Mon-monetary assets and Gabdites than are measured at fair value inoa foreign currency are translated into the functional
currenty at the spat exchange rate at the date an which the fair value is determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
that are measured in tesms of historical cost in a forelgn currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of
the transaction.

Foreign currency differences arising on transaction are generally recognised in profit or loss. However, foreign currency

differences arising from the transaction arising from the transiation of the following item are recognised in OCI,

=  zvailable for sale equity instruments / FYOC! equity instruments

*  afinancial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign cperation to the extent that the hedge
is effective

*  qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedge is effective.

{ii}  Foreign operations

The activities of subsidiaries and branches based outside the UAE are not deemed an integral part of the head office
operatiens, as they are financially and operationally independent of the head office. The assets and labéities of the
fareign operations are wranstated into WAE Dirhams at rates of exchange at the reporting date. The income and expense
of foreign operations are translated at awerage rates, as approgriate. Exchange differences (including those on
transactions which hedge swch investments} arising from retranslating the opening net assets, are taken directly to
foreign currency translation adjustment account inother comprehe nsive income,

When a foreign operation is disposed of such that controd is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related
ta the fareign operation is reclassified to profit or loss a5 part of the gain or loss on dispasal, If the Group disposes of only
part of its interest in 2 subsidiary that incudes a foreign operation while retaining control, then the relevant praportion
of the cumadative amount ks reattributed to NCIL

If the settlement of a monetary receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in the
foreseeable future, then forelgn ourrency differences arising on the item form part of the net investment in the foreign
operation and recognised in OC, and acowmnulated in the translation reserve in the equity.

[ab} Owerseas income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises of current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except 1o the extent it relates
to items recognised directly in equity ar OCI.

38
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[ab} Owerseas income tax expense [continued)

Current tax is provided for in accardance with fiscal regulations of the redpective countries in which the Group aperates
and is recognesed in the consalidated statement of profit or loss. Current tax |s the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustrnent to tax
payable in respect of previous years,

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carmying amounts of assets and Habilities for
financial reparting purposes and the amounts used for tavation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following
temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction
that is net a business cambination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable prafit or less, and differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they probably will net reverse in the foreseeable future, Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates that are expected 1o apply to the pericd when the asset s realised or the liability is settled,
based o laws that have been enacted at the reporting date.

Adeferred tax asset |s recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that suffident taxable profit will be available to allow for all or part of
the deferred tax assat to be wtilised.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group
expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group considers the impact of tax exposures, including
whither sdditional taxes and interest maybe due. This assewment relies on estimates and asiumptions and may invalwe
a series of judgements about future events, Bew infarmation may become available that causes the Group to change its
Judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes 1o tax liahllities would impact tax expense in
the periad in which such a determination is made.

[ac) Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initizlly recognised, and subsequently measured at fair value with transaction costs taken directly to the
consolidated staterment of profit or loss, The fair value of a derivative is the equivalent of the unrealised gain or loss from
marking to market the desivative or using valuation technigues, mainly discounted cash flow models,

The method of recagnising the resulting fair walue gaing or losses depends on whither the derivative is held for trading,
or i5 designated as a hedging instrurnent and, if so, the nature of the risk being hedged. All gains and losses fraom changes
im fair value of derivatives held for trading are recognised in the condolidated statement of prafit or loss, When derivatives
are designated as hedges, the Group classifies them as either: (i) fair value hedges which hedge the exposure to changes
in the Fair value of a recognised asset or liability; (i) cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows
that is either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or [fabflity or a highly probable forecast
transaction; {iii} hedge of net inve stment which are accounted similarly to a cash flow hedge. Hedge accounting is applied
to derivatives designated as hedging instrumenss in a fair value or cash flow, provided the criteria are met.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement (2 host contract). The Group accounts for an

embedded derivative separately fram the hast contract when:

= the host contract is not an asset in the scope of IFRS 3;

#  the host contract s not itself carried at FVTFL

= the terms of the ermbedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative if they were contained in a separate
cantract; snd

= the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded dervative are not dosely related to the econamic
characteristies and risks of the host contract.

k]
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[ac) Derivative financial instruments and hedging {continued)
Embedded derivatives (cantinued)

Separated embedded derivatives are measured at fair value, with all changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss
unless they form part of a qualifying cash flow or et investment hedging relationship. Separated embedded derivatives
are presented in the statement of financial position together with the host contract.

Hedge accounting

It is the Group’s palicy 1o document, at the inception of a hedge, the relationship between hedging instruments and
hedged items, as well as risk management objective and strategy. The pelicy also requires decumentation of the
assessment, at inception and on an on-going basis, of the effectiveness of the hedge.

The Growp makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an on-going basis, as to
whether the hedging instrument{s] is {are] expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or
cash flows of the respective hedged item(s} during the period for which the hedge is designated. The Group makes an
assessment for a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, as 1o whether the forecasted ransaction is highly probable
o oecur and pregents an exposure 1o variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect profit or logs.

Fair value hedge

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the change in fair value of a recognised asset or
liability or a firm commitment that could affect profit or loss, changes in the fair valuve of the derivative are recognised
immediately in profit or loss. The change in fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is recognised in
profit er loss. If the hedged itern would otherwise be measured at cost or amertised cost, then its carrying amount is
adjusted accordingly.

If the hedging dervative expires or is sold, 1erminated or exercised, or the hedge no longer meets the eriteria far fair
value hedge accounting, or the hedge designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively.
However, [ the derivative is novated to a clearing counterparty |“CCF”) by both parties as a consequence of laws or
regufations without changes in its terms except for those that are necessary for the nowvation, then the derivative is not
considered expired or terminated,

Any adjustment up 1o the point of discontinuation ta a hedged item for which the effective interest methad is used is
amartised ta profit or léss as an adjustment 1o the recalculated effectivi interest rate of the item over its remaining life,

On hedge dscontinuation, any hedging adjustment made previously ta a hedped finanaal instrument for which the
effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss by adjusting the effective interest rate of the hedged item
fram the date on which amortization begins. If the hedged item Is derecognised, then the adjustment is recognised
Iimmediately in profit or loss when the item is derecognised.

Cash flow hedge

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrumena in a hedge of the variability in cash fow anributable 1o a
particular risk associated with a recognised assets or liability that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion of
changes in the fair value of the derivatives is recognised in OCl and presented in the hedging reserve withén equity. Any
ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the profit or loss. The
amaunit recognised in OC1 is reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same period as the hedged
cash flows which affect profit or loss and in the same line in the statement of profit or lass and OCL
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[ac) Derivative financial instruments and hedging {continued)
Cash flow hedge [conbinyed]

If the hedging derivative expires is sold, terminated or exercised or the hedge, no longer meets the criteria for cash flow
hedge accounting the hedge accounting is discounted prospectively. However if the derivative is novated to a central
counterparty by both parties as a consequence of laws or regulations without changes in its terms except for those that
are necessary for the novation, then the derivative is not considered as expired or terminated, If the hedged cash flows
are no longer expected 10 occur, then the Group immediately reclassifies the amoun? in the hedging reserse from OC) e
profit or less. For terminated hedging relationshigs, if the hedged cash flows are still expected to ooour, then the amoant
aceumulated in the hedging reserve is not reclassified until the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss: if the hedged cash
Mows are expected 1o affect profit or loss in multiple reporting periods, then the Group reclassifies the amount in the
hedging reserve from OC1 to profit or loss on a straight-line basis.

Net investments hedges

When a derivative instrument or 3 non-derivative financial liability is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of
a net investment in a fereign operation, the effective portion of the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument
is recognised in ather comprehensive income in the translation resene. The effective partion of the change in fair value
of the hedging instrument is computed with reference to the functional currency of the parent entity against whose
functional currency the hedged risk is measured. Any ineffective portion of the changes in the fair value of the derivative
or foreign exchange gains and losses on the non-derivative i recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss. The amaunt recognised under other comprehensive income is fully or partially reclassified to staternent of
prafit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation or partial disposal of the foreign operation, respectively.

Cther derivatives

Other non-trading derivatives are recognised on balance sheet at fair value. If a derivative is not held for trading, and is
not designated in a qualifying hedging relationship, then all changes inits fair value are recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a component of net galn on investments and derivatives or net forefgn exchange gain.

{ad} Provisions

A pravision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Where the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash
Mows, at 2 pre=tax rate, that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropeiate,
the risks specific to the lakbility,

[ae) Employees’ end of service benefit
The Group provides end of service benefits for its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the
employees” length of service and completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are
accrued over the period of employment.

With respect ta its UAE national employees, the Group makes contributions to the relevant government pension scheme
calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group's obligations are limited to these contributions, which
are expensed when due,

Defined contribution plan
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity of to a government organisation and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amowsnts.

Oblgations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognizsed as an employee benefit expense in
consolidated staterment of profit or loss in the periods during which senvices are rendered by employees.

41
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[ae) Employees’ end of service benefit fcantinued)
Defined contribution plan fcantinued)

Pension and national insurance contributions for eligible employees are made by the Group 1o Pensions and Benafits
Fund in accordance with the applicable laws of country where such contributions are made,

Defined benefit plan

A defined benefit planis a pest-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan, The liability recognised
in the staternent of finandial position in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans is the present value of the defined
benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period together with adjustments for unrecognised past-service costs. The
defined benefit abligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using
interest rates of high-guality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency In which the benefits will be paid,
and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation,

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets
[excluding interest) and the e ffect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest], are recognised immediately in OCIL Net
interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in 51aff cost in consolidated
statement of profit or loss. When the benefits af a plan are changed or when a plan [s curtailed, the resulting change in
benefit that refates 1o past service or the gain or loss on curtallment is recognised immediately 1o profit or loss. The
Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement oocurs.,

[af) Directors’ remuneration

Pursuant to Article 169 of the UAE Companies of 3015 and in accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association,
Directors’ shall be entitled for remuneration which shall not exceed 10% of the net profits after deducting depreciation
and resenves,

[ag) Fiduciary activities

Aszers held in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as ascets of the Group as they are only held in trust where the Group
acts a3 a custodian on customers’ behalf, The Groug has no liakility er obligations towards the customer an these assets
hiedd in trust. Accardingly, these assets are not included in these consolidated financial statements,

[ah} Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its erdinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by
dividing the profit or boss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ardinary
shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares gutstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential
ardinary shares, which comprise of convertible notes and share options granted to staff,

(ail) Segment reporting

An eperating segrment is a component of thi Group that engages in Busings activities fram which it may earm revenues
and ingwr expenses, inchuding revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group's other
components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group's Chief Executive, being the
chief operating decision maker, 1o make decisions about resources 1o be allocated o the segment and 1o assess its
perfarmance for which discrete financial information is available. S5egment results that are reported to the Group Chief
Executive include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basls,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[aj) Leases

The Group has spplied IFRS 16 using the modified retrespective approsch and therefare the cemparative infarmation
has nat been restated and centinues to be reparted under 1AS 17 and IFRIC 4. The detalls of accounting policies under
14517 and IFRIC 4 are disclosed separately.

Policy applicable from 1 Januwary 2019

At inception of 3 contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or containg, a lease, & contract is, or containg, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to contrgd the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. To assess whether 2 contract conveys the right 1o contral the use of an identified asset, the Group uses
the definition of a lease in IFRS 16,

This policy is applied to contracts entered Into {or changed) on or after 1 lanuary 2019,
i) Group acting as a lessee

At commencement o on modification of 2 contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates consider ation
in the contract to each lease component on the Basis of its relative standalone price. However, for leases of branches
and affice premises the Group has elected not to separate non-lease companents and accounts for the lease and non-
lease components as a single lease companent.

The Growp recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset
Is initialty measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease Nakbility adjusted for any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove any impravements made to branches or office premises.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method fram the commencement date ta the
end of the bease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment bosses, if any, and adjusted
for certain remeasurements of the lease |iability.

The lease liabslity is indtially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not pald at the commencement
date. discounted using the interest rate implidt in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Group determines its incrémental borrowing rate by analysing its borrowings from various external sources and
makes certain adjustments 1o reflect the terms of the lease and type of asset leased.

Lease payments induded in the measurement of the bease liabllity comprise the following:

fined payments, intluding in-substance fied payments;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, indtially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amaunts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

ther exercise price under a purchase option that the Groug is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments inan
aptional renewal periad if the Greup is reasonably eertain to exercise an extension aption, and penalties for early
termination of a lease unless the Group s reasonably certain not 1o terminate early.

The lease |iability s measured at amartised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there s a
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amgunt expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it
will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[a]) Leases [continwved)
Policy applicable from 1 Janweary 2019 (cantinwed)
i Group acting &% a lessee (continwed)

When the lease liability s remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
era,

The Group presents right-of-use assets in ‘property and equipment’ and lease lfabilities in “other liabilities' in the
statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Growp has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease labilities for leases of low-value assets and short-
term leases, including leases of IT equipment. The Group recognizes the lease payments associated with these leases as
an expense an a straight-line basis over the [ease term,

{il}  Group acting as alessor

At inception or on medification of a contract that contains a lease compaonent, the Groug allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether the lease s a finance lease or an operating
lease,

To dassify each lease, the Graup makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not,
then It is an aperating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease
is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the net investment in the lease, The
Group further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in calculating the gross imvestment in the
lease,

Policy applicable before 1 January 2019

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incldental to ownership of the leased
itern, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of
the minimurm lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease
liability 50 as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability, Finance charges are charged
directly against income, Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the
asset or the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating
leases, Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement on a straight line
basis over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asser,

[ak) Settlement date accounting

Purchases and sales of financial ascets are recognised on the settlement date, |.e. the date that the Group settles the
purchase or sale of an asset,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[al) Taxes

Cursent incarme tax asets and lisbilities for the eurrent period are meadured a1 the ameunt expected ta be recovered
fram or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are
enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date |nthe countries where the Group operates and generates taxable
income. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated income statement because it excludes [tems of
income ar expense that are takable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductitie,

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and thelr carrying amounts for finandal reporting purposes, Deferred incorme tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax lesses, 1o
the extent that it is probabde that taxable profits will be avaflable against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.

[am) Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because a specified party fails to meet its obligation when due in accordance with the contractual terms.

Certain financial guarantes contracts in the nature of credit default guarantees are not held for proprietary trading
purpodes and are treated a5 insurance contracts and aecounted for under IFRS 4.

For other financial guarantee contracts, these are initially recognised at their falr value {which is the premium received
on issuance]. The received premium is amortised over the life of the financial guarantee. The guarantee liability is
subsequently carried at the higher of this amortised amount and the present value of any expected payment (when a
payment under the guarantee has become probable). The premium received on these financial guarantees i induded
within ather liabilities,

Financial guarantees are reviewed periodically so as to determine the credit risk to which they are exposed and, if
appropriate, 1o consder whether a provision is required. The credit risk i determined by application of criteria similar
ta those established far quantifying impairment losses on loans and advances. If a specific provision is required for
financial guarantees, the related unearned commissions recognised under other liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheet are reclassified to the appropriate provision,

[an} Mew standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January
2019 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Growp has not early adopted them in preparing these
consolidated financial statements.

The following amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements,

*  Amendments to References to Conceptuwal Framewaork In IFRS Standards.

«  Definition of a Business [Amendments ta IFRS 3.

= IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

4 Transitional impact

On transition to IFRS 16, the Group recognised additional right-of-use assets and additional lease abilities. The impact
on transition is summarised bebow,

1 Jan 2019

AED ‘000
Right-of-use assets presented in praperty and equipment 130,152
Lease labilities 110,998
Cther assets (19,154}

When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the Group discounted lease payments
using its incremental borrowing rate at 1 lanuary 2019,

5 Financial risk management
Introduction and overview

Risk management framewark

The primary objective of the Group is to manage risk and provide risk adjusted returns to the shareholders in line with
the accepted risk profile, In the course of doing its regular business activities, the Group gets exposed to multiple risks
notably credit risk, market risk, liquidity and funding risk, interest rate risk, operational risk and ather risks like
compliance risk, strategic risk, reputation risk, infarmation security risk and business continuity, & well-established risk
governance and ownership structure ensures oversight and accountability of the effective management of risk at the
Groug. The Risk management tane is set right at the tep from the Board of Déirectars (“BOD"} and gets implemented
thraugh 3 well-defined risk management structure and framework,

Composition of Board

The Board of Directors ("BOD") is responsible for the overall direction, supervision and control of the Group, The Board
has delegated authority for the day-to-day management of the Group is conducted by the BOD committees, and the
Groug Chief Executive Officer ("GOEQ™} and the Graup Executive Committee, The BOD has everall respongibility for the
Group incleding approving and oversesing the implementation of its strategic objectives, risk strategy, corparate
governance and corporate values within the agreed framewark in accordance with relevant statutary and regulatory
structures, The BOD currently comprises nine mermbers, Each Director holds his position for three years, which may then
be renewed for a further three year term. The Board of Directors of the Bank's subsidiaries has the same fiduciary
responsibilities towards their respective entities as the Group®s Directors have towards the Bank,

Corporate Governance Framework

The Group has a comprehensive Corparate Governance Framework that puts in place rules, processes and policies
threugh which BOD and Senior Management manages the Group, The BOD drives the implementation of the corporate
governance standards and in accordance with its charter has eversight responsibility for the Groups corporate
governance framewaork. The Group’s corporate governance standards bind its signatories to the highest standards of
professionalism and due diligence in the perfformance of their duties. The Group Chief Risk Officer ["GCRO®) is the
custodian of the Corporate Governance Framework document.

Risk Management Structure

The BOD approves risk managerment plans for the Bank, its subsidiaries, its associates and international affices including
representative offices and overseas branches, Under autharity delegated by the BOD, the Board Risk and Compliance
Commitee ["BRCCT) through its separately convened risk management meetings formulates high-level enterprise risk

management policy, exercises delegated risk authosities and oversees the implementation of risk management
framework and controls. The GORO functionally reperts to this Committee,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
5 Financial risk management (cantinued)
Board Level Committees within the Group
Board M c e (BMCY)

BML comprises three members of the BOD and the GCED, BMC oversees execution of the Group's business plan as per
the strategy approved by the Board and oversees and reviews material aspects of the business of the Group. The
Commimnee meets quarterly or more frequently as deemed necessary. The compesition, guiding principles and detailed
roles and responsibilities are covered in the BMC charter.

Board Kisk and Compliance Commities [TBROCT)

BRCC comprises three members of the BOD and the GCEQ, The BRCC provides oversight and advice to the Group Board
in relation 1o current and potential future risk and compliance expasures af the FAB Group. It also considers and helps
direct future risk strategy, including determination of risk appetite and tolerance as well as promate a risk and
compliance awareness culture among the Group. The Committee meets quarterly ar mare frequently as deemed
necessary. The compasition, guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibilities are covered in the BROC charter,

Board Audit Committee (TBACT}

BAC comprises theee members of the BOD and the GCED, BAC ensures oversight of the effectiveness of the internal
control systems and the quality and integrity of financial statements and fnancial reporting. In addition, it reviews,
approves and eversess the internal and external awdit pragrarms and ensures coordination between internal and external
auditars. The Group Chief Audit Officer ("GCAD"} provides repors to the Committee on Internal contrals. The Head af
Compliance provides reports to the committee on compliance related matters such as fraud and whistleblowing. The
Committee meets quarterly or more frequently as deemed necessary. The composition, geiding principles and detalled
roles and respansibilities are covered in the Board Audit Committee charter.

rati inati i

REMCO comprises three members of the BOD and the GCED. REMCD recommends and oversees the appaintment and
termination of Directors and succession planning for the Group Executive Committes members, This includes an
assessment of the skills, knowledge and expertise needed to ensure they are pasitioned to discharge their responsibilities
in the interests of the shareholders and FAB Growp. The Cammittee also reviews and recommends to the Board FAR's
reward policy framewark, approves and oversees reward design and ensures it is appropriate and consistent with the
Groug's cultwre, values, business performance and risk sirategy. The Committee meets at beast twice a year or more
frequently as deemed necessary, The composition, guiding principbes and detailed roles and responsibilities are covered
in REMCO charter,

Management Lewel Commitbees within the Group

Management committees are respansible for implementing the Risk management framework, The major functions of
the ten management committees are listed below:

r i i " ¥

EXCCis FAB Group™s most Senicr Management level committes operating under a delegated authority from the Board,
It is responsible for identifying matters required or approgriate for escalation to the Group Board or Board Committees,
The Group EXCO also supports the GCED to determine and implement the Bank's strategy as approved by the FAB Board,

The key recponsibilities af the Carmmittes indude deciions an the Bank's strategy, annual budgets, eapital management,
risk management and FAB's more material polides and procedures. The Group EXCO may delegate certain autharities
and powers to management committees and individuals, but the Group EXCO reserves the authority to deal with
strategy, annual budget and structure; financial reporting and controls; capital management; risk and internal control;
contracts; corparate governance matters; executive remuneration and human resources policies, and group policies
generally; general meeting of shareholders and communication and any other matters inits discretion, EXCO consists
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (cantinued)
Risk management framewark {continued)
Management Level Committees within the Group [cantinged)
Group Executive Committes ENCO™) (eantimed)

of the executive management team and is chaired by the Group Chief Executive Officer. The compaosition, guiding
principles and detailed roles and responsibilities of EXCO are covered in the EXCO charter.

I i i i

CIBCC assists EXCO inthe development and implermentation of the Group's Corparate and Investrment Banking business
credit strategy and policies and procedures. The purpaose of the CIBCC is to oversee the credit and lending strategies and
objectives of the Group, induding identifying and managing the Group's Corporate and Investment Banking credit
exposures and its response to trends affecting those exposures. It also assists in reviewing the guality and performance
of the Group's credit portfolio; and overseeing the Corparate and Investment Banking credit function of the Group,
including reviewing internal credit risk and credit policies and establishing portfolio limits, The composition, guiding
principles and detailed rales and responsibilities of CIBCC are cavered in the CIBCC charter,
Lk ki i i =

PBCC assists EXCO in the development and implementation of credit strategy for Group's Personal Banking busi ness. The
Committee ensures 3 holistic overview of the business strategies across the Personal Banking business of the Groug. It
enswres 3 seamless coordination across the business to meet customer requirements within the framewoark of the FAB
Group strategy. The Committee oversees the credit and lending strategies, kentifies and manages business credit
strategy and strategic response to trends affecting the businesses; reviews the quality and performance of the port folio;
and gversees the credit risk management function including establishing product portfolio limits. The composition,
guiding principles and detailed rales and responsibilities of PBCC are covered in the PBCC Charter.

Group Risk Committes ["GRC")

GRC assists EXCO in overseeing Group-wide risk strategy and exposures to enable integrated risk management in an
effective manmer, The committee defines, develops and periodically monitors the Group's risk appetite along with its
related methodaology, parameters, targets and tolerances taking into account the Bank's strategy and business planning.
Thee GRC reparts relevant matters to the Group EXCO, and as appropriate ta the BRCC, advising and infarming them as
required on the Group's risk appetite and framewark, The compasition, guiding principles and detailed robles and
responsibilities of GRC are covered in the GRC charter,

Group Compliance Committee ["GCC™]

GCC assists EXCO In fulfilling its objective of overseeing the Bank's regulatory responsibilities as well as ensuring the
Bank's compliance with the applicable laws and regulations issued by various regulatory authorities across the Group,
The Committee also oversees that the relevant policies and procedures, including, but not limited to the Grouwp Code of
Ethics are complied with across the Groug. The GOC reparts relevant matters 1o the Group EXCO, and 24 appropriate to
the BRCC, advising and informing thern as required on the Group's compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The
compoasition, guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibilities of GOC are covered in the GCC charter.

: Asset Ligbility M . tee (“GALCO"]

G-ALCO is the driving force and key decision maker behind the structure and quality of the balance sheet. G-ALCO is
directly accountable to the BRCC for ensuring that the risks within the Group Asset and Liability position are prudently
managed by way of strong Group palicy and procedures and an appropriate risk framework. The G-ALCO must be
constantly aware of and actively manage these risks and their potential impact on the Bank's business and strategic
objectives, The compasition, guiding printiples and detailed roles and responsbilities of G-AL0O are covered in the G-
ALCO charter,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (cantinued)
Risk management framewark {continued)

Management Level Committees within the Group (continued)
M ri mi H

HRSC assists the EXCD and the REMCO in fulfilling its duties with regard to implementing strategic as well as operational
HR initlatives in order to defiver long term value. It provides a forum to discuss and approve HR initiatives and palices
to ensure that the needs of the arganization from an employee perspective are considered and changes, as necessary,
are approved or are submitted for approval to the relevant gowernance body. The Committee is the formal sponsor of
all material HR initiatives across FAB in line with its Employee Value Propasition ("EVP"), The composition, guiding
principles and detailed rales and responsibilities of HRSC are covered in the HRSC charter,

i # E Luall ]

GORC assists EXCO in fulfilling its objective of overseeing the Bank's operational and fraud risk management related
business continuity responsibilities. It ensures that appropriate framework is in place for Operational risk management,
Fraud Risk Management and Business Continuity Management including review and approval of such frameworks, The
GORC reports relevant matters to the Groug EXCO, and as appropriate to the BRCC, adwvising and informing them as
required an the Group's Operational and Frawd Risk matters and business continuity frameweork, The composition,
guiding principles and detailed roles and respansibilities of GORC are covered in the GORC charter.

Infior mation Secwrity Committes [“15C7)

I5C assists the EXCO in overseeing, reviewing and taking decisions on the implementation of FAB"s security contrals to
ensure that Information assets of the Bank are adequately protected. It also serves as an independent and objective
governance forum which ensures the adequacy and effectiveness of the Bank’s information security framessnork. The 15C
reports relevant matters to the Group EXCO, and as appropeiate to the BRCC, advising and informing them as required
an the Group's security controls framework, The composition, guiding principbes and detailed roles and responsibilities
of I5C are covered in the I5C charter.

Group Technology Steering Committes [“GTSC"

The GTSC assists in fulfiling EXCO™s corporate governance and oversight responsibilities of all technology and information
systems acrass the FAB Group and supports the work of the Board Risk and Compliance Committee [“BRCCT) in its
oversight of the Group IT gowernance framewark, The GTSC will make recommendations to EXCD regarding significant
technology investments in support of the Group's strategy. The GTSC ensures alignment of business strategies with
technology priorities and acts to protect and enhance the sharehalder’s investment in technology. The compoasition,
guiding principles and detailed rales and resgonsibilities of GTSC are covered in the GTSC charter,

Group Risk Management

The Group has a centralized Risk Management and Legal functions led by the GCRO. The Risk Management function
comprises Enterprise Risk, Credit Risk, Operational and Fraud Risk Management Unit, Market and Liguidity Risk
Management Unit, Information Security and Business Continuity Management unit. The Legal function supports business
and enabling functions through dedicated units and also indudes the Group Carporate Governance function.

Enterprise Risk Management Policy Framework

FAB's Enterprise Risk Management Palicy ["ERMP®) framewark aims to accamplish its eore values and purpase of being
a world class organization maximizing its risk adjusted returns for all stakeholders by establishing an enterprise wide risk
management framework across FAB Including local and international branches, subsidiaries, associates and foreign
representative offices, Core objective of ERMP is to provide a reasonable degree of assurance to the BOD that the risks
threatening FAB's achievement of its core purpase are being identified, measured, monitored and controdled through an
effective inegrated risk management system. The ERMP framewark consists of specific policy documents covering all
material risks acrass FAB: which include ERM policy, Risk Appetite Palicy, Corporate and Investment Banking Credit
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framewark {continued)
Entérprise Risk Managerment Palicy Framework (cantinued)

Policy, Personal Banking Credit Policy, IFRS 9 Impairment Palicy, Market and Liquidity Risk related policies, Operational
Risk Management Policy, Fraud Risk Policy, Compliance Risk related policies, Information Security risk related policies,
BCM Policy, Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process [ “ICAAFT) Policy, New Products Approval policy, Outsourcing
Policy, Model Governance policy, Strategic Risk Policy, Reputational Risk Policy, Corporate Governance Policy and
Framework etc. In addition to these risk management policies, the Group has also put in place detailed operational
policies, procedures and programs whergver needed,

FAB manages risks wsing theee lines of defense comprising of business wnits and enabling funations, contral units and
Internal Audit. Business units and enabling functions, as the first line of defense, identify and manage risk in thelr day-
to-day activities by ensuring that activities are within the Group’s risk appetite and are in compliance with all relevant
internal palicies and processes. Groug Credit, Group Risk and Legal and Group Compliance, as the second line of defense,
establishes risk contrals comprising of policies and processes while also providing oversight and independent challenge
to the first line of defense. The Group Chief Risk Officer ["GCRO) has a direct reporting line to the BRCC to ensure the
independence of Group Risk from business. Internal audit, as the third line of defense, provides assurance to
management and the Board of the effectiveness of risk management practioes employed by the first two lines of defence,
The Group Chief Audit Officer has a direct reporting line 1o the Board Audit Committee,

[a}  Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty to a financial asset fails to meet [ts contractual obligations and
cause the Group to incur a financial loss. W arises principally from the Group's loans and advances, due from banks and
financial institutions, reverse repurchase agreements and non-trading debt investments, derivative financial instruments
and certain other assets,

Management of credit risk

Credit rigk identification and assessment at FAB Group is carried out through a comprehensive mechanism comprising
three levels of defense. The first level of defense lies with the business undts and is responsible for maintaining a sound
credit quality of Assets in line with the approved business strategy and credit risk appetite. The second level of defense
is with the Group Credit Uinit that assesses the risk on a customer and facility level and ensures proper documentation
of customer, facility and security documents along with Group Risk management unit that assesses credit risk on a
portfolio basis and maintaing credit risk polices and credit risk rating models up to date, Internal Awdit acts as a third
level of defense with regular reviews of credit analysis and the risk functions to check the compliance with policies and
procedures of the Group. The unit abio reviews the policy documents on a regular basis,

Az a part of credit risk monitaring and contral frarmewark, regular risk monitoring at bath individual and portiolio levels
i carried out along several parameters which include credit quality, provisioning levels, exposure limits across several
dimensions, financial and operating performance, account conduct, end wse of funds, adequacy of credit risk mitigants,
adherence to financial and non-financial covenants, recovery performance, rating system performance among others.

The Growp has set up a framework for oredit risk mitigation as @ means towards redudng credit risk in an exposure, at
facility beved, by a safety net of tangible and realizable securities including approved third-party guarantees/ insurance,
The types of Credit Risk Mitigation (CRM} include netting agreements, collaterals, guaramees, credit derivatives, Stand
by Letter of Credit [SBLC) and Comfort Letters, The Group encures that all documentation wsed in cellateralized
transactions and for docurmenting on and off-balance sheet netting, guarantees, credit derivatives and collateral is
binding an all parties and is legally enforceabie in all relevant jurisdictions. The Group alse endures that all the documents
are reviewed by approgriate authority and have apgropriate legal opinions to verify and ensure its enforceabllity. In
certain cases, the Group may alse close out transactions ar assign them to ather counterparties to mitigate credit risk.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5

(a}

Financial risk management (cantinued)

Risk management framewark {continued)

Credit risk [continued)

Credit quality analysis

The following tables set out infermation about the credit guality of financial assets measured at amortised cost, and
FWOCI debt investments without taking into account collateral or other credit enhancement. Unless specifically indicated,

for financial assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts. For boan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts, the amounts in the table represent the amounts committed or guaranteed, respectively.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
5 Financial risk management (cantinued)
Risk Management Framewark [continued)
[a}  Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality anabysis [continued)
Classification of investments as per their external ratings:
Non-trading investments Investments at fair value
through profit or loss
2019 M8 2019 2018
AED'000 AED'000 AED‘DO0 AEDQ00
Aulut, 16,237,301 14,156,082 4,076 16,562
Ad oA 71,921,751 5§, 732,451 9,030,149 73278091
BEE 10 B 21,514,326 14,650,910 6,577,622 3,981,306
CCC and below - 20,780 - 21
Unrated 4,972,064 2,876,087 4,487,334 3,255,130

114,645 442 90,436,310 20,099,181 14,620,920

Unrated investments primarily consist of investments in Private equity funds and investrments in equity which doesn't
carry credit risk. Imvestrments at fair value through profit or loss are neither past due nor impaired.

Collateral held and other credit enhancements

The Growp has set up a framewaork for credit risk mitigation as a means towards reducing credit risk in an exposure, at
facility level, by a safety net of tangible and realizable securities including approved third-party puarantees) insurance,
The types of Credit Risk Mitigation | “CRM”} include netting agreements, collaterals, guaramees, credit derivatives, Stand
by Letter of Credit (“SBLC") and Comfort Letters, The Group ensures that afl documentation used in collateralized
transactions and for docurmenting on and off-balance sheet netting, guarantees, credin derivatives and collateral is
binding an all parties and is legally enforceable in all relevant jurisdictions. The Group also ensures that all the documenis
are reviewed by the appropriate authority and have appropriate legal opinions to verify and ensure its enforceability. In
certain cases, the Group may also close out transactions o assign them to other counterparties to mitigate credit risk.

The Group holds collateral and other credit enhancements against certain of its credit exposures, An estimate of the
collateral coverage [after application of haircut) against net credit-impaired loans and advances is shown below:

2019 2018
AED"DOD AEDDOD

Collateral value cover
0 - 50% B, 069,457 6,599,383
51 - 100% 3,861,786 3,424,391
Above 100% 1,598,753 1,474,542
Total net credit impained loans 13,529,996 11,498,316

The Growp’s policy is to pursue timely realisation of the cellateral In an orderly manner. The Group does not generally
use the non-cash collateral far its own operations.

While the Group might not have repossessed significant amount of collateral in 2018 and 2019, maintaining repossession
rights @ssist the Group in the restructuring and settfement of credit-impaired loans,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (continued)
Risk Management Framewaork [continued)
[a}  Credit risk (continwed)
Derivatives, reverse sale-and-repurchase agreements and securities borrowing

The Graup mitigates the credit risk of derivatives, reverse sale-and-repurchase agreements and securities lending by
entering into master netting agreements and holding collateral in the form of cash and marketable securities.

Derivative transactions are transacted on exchanges, with clearing counterparties [“CCPs") or entered inte under
International Swaps and Derivatives Association (I5DA) master agreements. In general, under these agreements, in
certain circumstances — e.g. when a oedit event such as a default occurs - all outstanding transactions under the
agresment with the counterparty are terminated, the termination value is aitessed a5 per the jurisdiction netting rules
and the amount (due or payable] in settlement with the caunterparty, The Groug usually executes a credit support annex
in conjunction with the I1SDA agreement, which requires the Group and its counterparties to post collateral 1o mitigate
counterparty credit risk. Collateral is also posted daily in respect of derivatives transacted on exchanges and with CCPs.

The Group’s sale-and-regurchase, and reverse sale-and-repurchase, transactions and securities borrowing and lending
are oovered by master agreements with netting terms similar to those of ISDA master netting agreements.

Loans and advances to customers

The general creditworthiness of a corporate eustamer tends to be the most relevant indicater of credit quality of a lean
extended to [t However, collateral provides additional security and the Group generally requests that corporate
borrowers provide it. The Group may take collateral in the form of a first charge over real estate, floating charges over
all corporate assets and ather liens and guarantees.

Because of the Growp’s focus on corporate customers’ creditworthiness, the Group does not routinely update the
valuation of collateral hebd against all loans to corporate customers, Valuation of collateral is updated when the loan is
put an a watch list and the loan is monitored more closely, For credit-impaired loans, the Group obtains appraisals of
collateral because it provides input inta determining the management credit risk actions.,

Armounts arising from ECL

Inputs, assumptions and technigues used for estimating impairment

See accounting policy 3(c)(wi),

Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the risk of default on 2 financial instrument has increased significantly since indtial
recagnition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue
cost or effort. This incledes bath quantitative and qualitative infarmation and analysis, based on the Group’s historical

experience and expert credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit risk has ocourred for an exposure
by comparning;

*  theremaining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the reporting date; with
= theremaining lifetirme PD for this point in time that was estimated a1 the time af initial recognition of the expoasure,

For retail portfielio historical payment behaviar of the exposure is evaluated to determine significant increase in credit
risk,

In addition to the quantitative test based on movernent of PO, the Growp also applies experienced credit judgement 1o
incorparate the estimated impact of factors nat captured in the modelled ECL results.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (cantinued)
Risk Management Framewark [continued)
[a}  Credit risk (continued)
Amounts arising from ECL {continued)
Credit risk grades

The Growp allocates each Corporate exposwre to a oredit risk grade based on a variety of data that is determined to be
predictive of the risk of defawit and applying experienced credit judgement. Credit risk grades are defined using
qualitative and quantitative Factars that are indicative of risk of default, These factors vary depending an the nature of
the exposure and the type of borrower,

Credit risk grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default occurring increases exponentially as the credit
risk deteriorates so, for example, the difference in risk of default between credit rsk grades 1 and 2 is smaller than the
difference between credit risk grades 2 and 3.

Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk grade on initial recognition based on available information about the borrower,
Exposures are subject to ongoing monitaring. which may result in an exposure being moved to a different credit risk
grade.

Determining whether credit risk has increased significanthy

The Group assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since [ndtial recognition at each reporting date.
Determining whether an increase in credit risk ks significant depends on the characteristics of the financlal instrement
andd the barrower, and the geographécal region. What is considered significant differs for different types of lending, In
particular between corparate and retail,

The credit rick may also be deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition based on qualitative factors
linked to the Groug's credit risk management precesses that may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative
anabysis on a timely basis, This will be the case for exposures that meet certain heightened risk criteria, such as placement
on & watch list. Such qualitative factors are based on expert judgment and relevant historical experienoes.

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase i credit risk relative to initial recognition, then the loss
allowance an an instrument returns to being measured as 12-manth ECL Some qualitative indicators of an increase in
credit risk, such as delinguency or forbearance, may be indicative of an increased risk of default that persists after the
indicator itself has ceased to exist, In these cases, the Group determines a probation period during which the financial
asset is required to demonstrate good behaviour ta provide evidence that its credit risk has dedined sufficiensly, When
contractual terms of a loan have been madified, evidence that the criteria for recognising lfetime ECL are no longer met
includes a history af up-te-date payment performance against the modified contractual terms,

Definition of default

The Group considers a financial asset 1o be in default when:

#  The barrower is uniikely 1o pay its credit obligations 1o the Graug in full, withoan recourse by the Group to actions
such as realisimg security {if any is held);

= For retail, 2 facility or any material credit abligation to the Group is mare than 90 days past due;
Overdrafts are considered as being past due once the customer has breached an advised limit or been advised of a
limit smaller than the current amount outstanding.

Inpasts into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time to

reflect changes in circumstances. The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the Group for regulatory
capital purposes (see S{e)).
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
5 Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framework (continued)
[a)  Credit risk [continued)
Amounts arising fram ECL {eontinued)

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the credit risk of an
instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement of ECL,

The Group fermulates these econamic scenarios: a base case, which is the medisn deenario asdgned a 408 probability
of oocurring, and two bess lkely scenarios, one upside and one downside, each assigned a 30% probability of occwring.
External information considered indudes econamic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and menetary
authorities in the countries where the Group operates, supranational organisations such as the QECD and the
International Maonetary Fund, and selected private-sectar and academic forecasters.

The Group has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio of financial
instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between macro-economic variables and
credit risk and credit losses,

The economic scenaries wied as 3t 31 Decernber 2009 included the following key indicators for the years ending 31

December 202010 2024,
Macrs
Region Variablet? Scenario 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
B 208% 2E1% 0.93% 157 2.06%
il Price Upside 13.55% 1.23% 0.83% 0.41% 0.3r%
Dowinside -F9.25% 14.29% 10.30m% 10400 F.32%
UAE Equity Base BALN LE1% 7.24% [ 547
Index Upside 2F94% 22.12% 16.95% 5.61% 0.52%
MENA Downside 12.08% G540 1.15% 534% 5.01%
Base BTN L51% 5.68% 561% 5.54%
Egypt GOP Wpside B.rew R T ] 5.2r% 5.41% 4%
Diewmnside 4.1 S5.44% 6.10% 5700 5.54%
Egypt Base 13.22% 13.5%% 11.64% 9.31% E.TE%
Equity Uit 21.96% 14.45% 11.75% 9.15% B.75%
Inclex Downskde 10T G820 10.00% 8.54% 4.91%
Base D.96% 1.00% 1.11% 1.20% 1.28%
UK GDP Upside 1320% 1Lr2% 113% 0.9 1.16%
i Dirwns ke 2A0% 0.34% Lars 136% 1.55%
UK Equity Barse 0.2 5.3 4,13% EN S 1T
index Upside 1297% L% 1.36% 312% 2.3
Drowins e -11.15% 10.98% B.1M% 6. 28% 1B

1] Represens e sverage ansuabned increase [ decrense e tha period.
2] T G BB nal M WAt es TATIa Lt Bar O Rer FE@ans WArth BUe Nl 10 TRE1F marke

Madified finandal assets

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, induding changing market conditions,
custamer rétention and other factars not related ta a current or potential credit deterioration of the customer. An
existing loan whase terms have been madified may be derecognised and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan
at fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Mote 3{c)(iv).

When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in derecognition, the determination
of whether the asset’s eredit risk has increased significantly reflects comparison of:

= jtsremaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms; with

®  theremaining lifetime PD estimated based on data an initial recognition and the ariginal contractual terms,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (cantinued)
Risk management framewark {continued)
[a}  Credit risk (continued)
Amounts arising from ECL {continued)
Madified finandal assets fcontinued)

The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as forbearance activities'} to maximise
collection opportunities and minimise the rsk of default. Under the Grouwp's forbearance policy, boan forbearance is
granted on a selective baiis if the debtor is currently in default on its debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is
evidence that the debtor made all reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor is
expected 1o be able 1o mest the revited terms.

The revized terms usually indude extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest payments and amending the
terms of loan covenants. Both retail and corporate loans are subject to the forbbearance policy. The Group Credit
Committee regularly reviews reparts on forbearance activities,

For financial assets modified as part of the Group’s forbearance policy, the estimate of PD reflects whether the
medification has improved ar restored the Group's ability to collect interest and principal and the Group's previows
experience of similar forbearance action. As part of this process. the Group evaluates the borrower’s payment
performance against the modified contractual terms and considers various behavioural indicators,

Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an expectation of forbearance
may constitute evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired (see Mote 3{cl{vii)]. A customer needs to demonstrate
consistently good payment behasviour over a period of time before the expasure is no longer considered to be oredit-
impaired/fin default or the PD is considered to have decreased such that the loss allowance reverts to being measured at
an amouwnt equal to Stage 1.

Loans with renegotisted terms

Loans with renegotiated terms are loans that have been restructured due to deteriaration In the borrower's financial
position and where the Group has made materizl concessions that it would nat otherwise consider. Once a loan is
restructured, it rermains in this category for @ minimum period of twelve months, in order to estabiish satisfactory track
recard of performance under the restructuring agreement. The Group determines the twelve-month period to
commence from the date of signing of the agreement for restructuring. As at the reporting date, the Group has
renegotiated the following exposurnes:

2019 2018
AEDDOO AED'DDD
Loans with renegotiated terms
Gross carrying amount 11,323,570 7312938
Impaired amount 2,742,663 2,719,912
Albowanoe for impairmient 2,976,105 3,008,807
Measurement of ECL

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are;
«  probabilivy of default [PD);

= loss given default (LGDY; and

®  pxposure at default (EAD).
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (cantinued)
Risk management framewark {continued)
[a}  Credit risk (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)

The Lifetime PDs are determined based on maturity profile. The maturity profile looks a1 how defaulis develop on a
portfolio throwghout the remaining life of the loans. The maturity profile is based on historical observed data,

LGD Is the magnitude of the Bkely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD term structure based on current
collateral, counterparty industry, country of risk and recovery costs that is integral to the financial asset. LGD estimates
are recalibrated for different economic scenarios incorporating the impact of change in il prices, equity index and other
parameters.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD fram the current expasure
to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed wnder the contract and arising from
amaortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at the time of default. For lending commitments,
the EADs are potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical
observations and forward-looking forecasts. For financial guarantees, the EAD represents the amount of the guaranteed
exposure when the financial guarantes becomes payable, For some financial assets, EAD is determined by modelling the
range of possible exposure outcomes at various points in time using statistical technigues.

As described above, and subject to using 2 maximum of a 12-manth far Stage 1 financial assets, the Group measures ECL
considering the risk of default owver the maximum contractual period {including any borrower's extension options] over
which it s expoesed to oredit risk, even if, for credit risk management purposes, the Group considers a longer period. The
maximum contractual period extends to the date at which the Group has the right to require repayment of an advance
or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee,

However, for credit card facilities that inciude both a loan and an undrawn commitment component, the Groug measures
ECL over a period longer than the maximum contractual period if the Group’s contractual ability 1o demand repayment
and cancel the undrawn commitment does nat limit the Group™s expasure 1o credit [osses 1o the contractual notice
period. The Group can cancel them with immediate effect but this contractual right is net enforced in the normal day-
to-day management, but anly when the Group becomes sware of an increase incredit risk at the facility level. This longer
period is estimated taking into account the credit risk management actions that the Group expects to take, and that serve
to mitigate ECL. These include a reduction in limits, cancellation of the facility andfor turning the outstanding balance
inte a boan with fixed repayment terms,

Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis
af shared risk characteristics that include:

instrument type;

collateral type;

LTV ratio for retail morigages;

date of initial recognition;

rémaining term 1o maturity;
industry; and

peographic location of the borrower.

The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particslar group remain appropriately
homogeneaouws.

Far portfolios in respect of which the Group has limited historical data, external benchmark information is used to
supplement the internally available data,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (cantinued)
Risk management framewark {continued)
[a} Credit risk ([continued)
Amounts arising from ECL {continued)
Loss allowance fcontinwed)
The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the dosing balance of the loss allowance by dass of

financial instrument. The bass for determining transfers due to changes In credit risk Is set out in the Group's acoounting
policy; see Note 3{c)lvil.

Purchased

credit 2019

Stage 17 Stage 2 Stage 3 Impaired Total

AED'DO0 AEDOOD AED'000 AED'DOD AED D00

Beginning of the period 1,838,329 4,481,031 4819715 1,630,135 12,769,210
Transfers:

Transfer fram Stage 1 to Stage 2 {154,401) 154,401 - - -

Transfer fram 5tage 1 to Stage 3 153,470) - 53,470 - -

Transfer frarm Stage 2 10 S1age 1 151,137 {151,137) - - -

Transfer from 5tage 2 to Stage 3 - (1,142,873) 1,142,873 - -

Transler frarm Stage 3 1o Siage 2 - 197,841 {197,841 - -

Transfer fram 5tage 3 to Stage 1 46,493 - (46,493) - -

(10241)  (941,768) 852,009 2 3

Impact of change In provision 376,231 {40,094) 1,604,096 {54,495) 1,885,738
Write-affs and ather
Adjustments {721} 110,304)  (2,489,889) (96,665)  (2,597,579)

2,203,598 3488865 4885931  LATEOTS 12,067,369
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
5 Financial risk management (cantinued)
Risk management framewark {continued)
[a}  Credit risk (continued)
Amounts arising from ECL {continued)
Loss allowance fcontinwed)
Purchased
credit 2018
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 impaired Tatal
AED'D00 AEDOO0 AED'000 AEDD00 AEDMO00
Beginning of the periad B,146,848 - 4,581,263 - 12788111
Impact due 1o IFRS 9 adoption [5,953,631) 6,406,571 264,455 2333559 3090,954
2,193,217 6405571 4,845,718 2383559 15B18.065
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 {129,413} 129,413 . . .
Tranafer frarm Stage 1 1o Stage 3 (152,427} - 152,427 -
Transfer fram Stage 2 to Stage 1 141,307 (141,307
Transfer from 5tage 2 1o Stage 3 - (2,535, 498) 1535498 -
Transfer from 5tage 3 to Stage 2 - 177,075 (177.075) -
Transfer frorm Stage 2 1o S1age 1 10,4323 - (10,423) -
(130,120} (2370317} 1,500,427 E .
Impact of change in pravision {188,697} 657,932 1,708,792 (364204} 1,813,822
Write-offs and other adjustments (35,081} (212,155} (4,235,222) (389,220} (4.872,678)

1,838,339 4481031 4819715 1830135 12768210
.| T I - ]

10n certain assets induded as part of other assets, ECL Is computed based an dmplified approach and reparted as part of
stage 1.

Bl
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (cantinued)
Risk management framewark {continued)
[a}  Credit risk (continwed)
Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements
The table below shows the maximum expasure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet, including

derivatives. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting
and collateral agreements.

Gross Grogs

maximum maxmum

EXpOSUre EXpOsLne

2019 2018

MNote AED'O00 AEDDOD

Balances with Central Bank &8 167,863,667 181,469,100
Inwestments at fair value through profit or loss 9 17,385,250 11,679,960
Duwe from banks and finandal institutions i 17,074,471 19,226,248
Reverse repurchase agreements 11 24,678,789 19,048,807
Loans and advances 12 421,730,328 366,817,683
Non-trading investments 13 114,582,043 90371169
Other assets 19,757,095 20,484,753
Total 783,071,647 709,087,720
Derivatives held for trading 40 15,064,074 11,258,237
Derivatives held for hedging 40 853,247 1,825,955
Total 15,917,321 13,084,192
N —————

Contingent liabilities g 157,922,102 165,134.974
Commitrment 39 39,442 026 45,659,602
Taotal 207,364,128 210, 794576
Tatal credit risk exposure 1,006,353,096 932976488

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk
expasure but nat the maximum risk exposure that could arise inthe future a3 a result of changes in values,

62
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
5 Financial risk management (continued)
[a})  Credit risk {continwed)
Classification af investments ai per their counterparties:
Investments at fair value
Non-trading investments through profit or loss
2019 08 2019 2018
AED'DO0 AEDO00 AEDDOO AEDDO0
Government sector 58,151,621 41,637,190 7,973,070 2,680,485
Supranational 1,EDE,646 2,504, 208 1,851 821 810,394
Public Secter 23,953,560 22,515,002 1,442 491 1,251,552
Banking sectas 23,045,215 17,552,792 6,718,571 B,790,243
Corporate [ private sectar 7,684,400 6,227,028 2,113,228 3,088,235

114,545,442 50,436,310 20,099,181 14,620,910
Less: allowance far impairment {expected
credit loss} on amertised cost securities {1.020) 12,738} - -

114,644,422 00,433,574 20,099,181 14,620,910

Settlernent risk

The Groug's activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement risk [s the risk
of loss due to the failure of counterparty to honour its obligations 1o deliver cash, securities or other assets as
contractually agreed, Any delay in settlement is rare and manitored.

Derivative related credit risk

Credit risk in respect of derivative financial Instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on its
contractual obligations and is limited to the positive market value of instruments that are favourable to the Group. The
positive market value is also referred to as the "replacement cost”™ since it is an estimate of what it would cost to replace
transactions at prevailing market rates if a counterparty defaults, The majority of the Group's derivative contracts are
entered into with ather banks and financial instintions.

(b)  Liquidity risk

Liquidkty risk is defined as the risk that the Group is unable to meet its financial ebligations as and when they fall dee or
that it can anly da 5o 2t an excessive cost.

Liquiskty risk arises from cash flows generated by assets and liabilitles, including derivatives and other off-balance sheet
commitrments, not being matched in currency, size, and term. FAB ensures that all liabilities can be met as they fall due
under both businesses as wsual and stress conditions without incurring undue cost,

Managemant of liguidity risk

The Growp has defined the liquidity risk appetite at a level 0 a5 to endure that the Group has a contralled liquidity risk
position with adequate cash or cash-equivalenis to be able to meet its financial obligations, in all foreseeable
cireumstances and withaut incurring substantial additianal easts, for a rolling periad of three months. | The risk appetite
Is supported by a comprehensive risk management framewark that includes Growp ALCO approved limits for key funding
and lguidity metrics, stress testing and a contingency funding plan.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (continued)
[b)  Liguidity risk {continued)

Management of liguidity risk [cantinued)
The liquidity risk appetite is also defined at a level to ensure continued compliance with current and proposed Houldity
regufation from both domestic and international regulators, and aligned to support the Groug’s external credit rating
objectives.
One of the critical means 1o measure adequacy of liquidity 25 per extant global regulation is through Liquidity Coverage
Ratia {"LCR"), FAB has been internally reparting Basel Il LOR numbers for a considerable period of time, and has invested
heavily in ensuring systems and controls framework is in place 1o comply with all the qualitative and gquantitative aspects
of Basel 111, In addition the Group also ensures that it is compliznt with UAE Central Bank liquidity regulation on Eligible
Liquid Assets Ratio ("ELAR™} at all times.
Liquisty limits are defined at the Group level and are cascaded down throughowt the organisation to ensure that the
Group complies with the defined Group Liquidity Risk appetite. Similarly International limits are cascaded to ensure
compliance with any additional local regulatory requirements on liquidity management.
Al ligguidiny policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by G-ALCO,
Exposure bo liguidity risk

The contractual asset and liability maturity mismatch report without considering the Group's retention history isdetailed
below.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (cantinued)
(e} Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the Group®s inceme or capital will luctuate on sccount of changes in the value af a financial
instrument because of movermnents in market factors such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and
market prices of equity and commadity.

Management of market risk

The Group separates its exposure 1o market risk between trading, investment and non-trading portfolios. Trading and
investment portfolios are held by the Global Markets Division and are managed on a fair value basis,

Investment Management Committee (“TIMCD") is responsible for owversight and guidance to Global Markets® trading and
investment activities. It ensures effective management of market risks in accordance with the principles laid down in the
market risk management policy. IMCO acts a sub-committee of Group Asset and Uabdlities [“G-ALCO") which has the
overall authority and responsibility to manage market risks.

Market Risk Group is responsible for the development and implementation of detailed market risk appetite, risk
management methodologies and policies induding the contral framework that is reviewed by IMCD and submitted 1o G-
ALCO and BRCC for approval,

Exposure to market risks - trading portfolios

The principal analytical tool used to measure and control market risk exposure within the Growp's trading portfolios which
comprise of investments at fair value through profit or boss and trading derivatives is Value at Risk {*VaR"). The Vaf of a
trading portfolic Is the estimated loss that will arise on the portfolio over a specified peried of time (halding period} from
an adverse market movement with a specified probability {confidence levell. The Vak model uses historical simulation
based on a 95% confidence level and assumes 2 1-day holding period. Using market data from the previous two years, and
ohserved relationships between different markets and prices, the model generates a wide range of plausible future
soenarios for market price movernents,

The Group uses VaR limits for forelgn exchanges, interest rates, credit spread and equities. The overall structure of Trading
WaR Hrits s subject to review and approval by the IMOO and then ratified at G-ALCO. VaR limits are then cascaded down
to trading desks,

WVaR is driven by actual histerical observations and hence, it is not an estimate of the maximum loss that the Group could
experience from an eéxtreme market event. As a result of this limitation the VaR is further supplemented with other
position and sensitivity limit structures, including limits to address potential concentration risks within each trading
portfolio. Moreover the 1rading activity at Group and desk level (s subject to Management Action Triggers ["MAT) that
are limits on maximum losses that trigger actions from management. The VaR Is as follows:

2019 2019 2015 2019 2018
AED'DOO AELY000 AED'DDD AED‘DOO AED'0O0
A at Bverage Mhax Min A at

VaR - Trading Boak
All 24,736 37,287 71,388 13,957 14,660
Imerest rate 24,863 34,782 1,154 11,339 11,076
Credit 9,132 6,317 13,222 3,738 4,520
Fareign Exchange 6,010 T.844 32,805 4,089 B.062
Exqurity 683 1,741 4,887 555 4,023
Diversification Benefit (15,952)  (13,397)  (s0,680) {5,805) (13,021}

Cormmodity risk (4 not currently captured in the VaR model. This is under regular monitoring by the Risk Group through a
se1 af market risk sensitivities, notianal Bmits, and managerment action triggers.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (continued)
(e} Market risk [continved)
Exposure bo market risk — banking portfolios

Exposure to Market Risk in the banking portfolios which comprise of non-trading investments, reverse repurchase
agreements and certain derivative instruments which are designated as hedging instruments arise primarily from the
investment portfolios, interest rate gaps in the banking ook, and the Group's overall FX positions.

The principal analytical toal used to measure and contral the imestment risk exposure within the Group is Value at Risk
["WaR™]. The VaR model is the same as the one used for the trading portfolios, The Group uses VaR [imits far contralling
the averall investment risk, including foreign exchange, interest rate and eredit spread. The everall strocture of Banking
WaR limits is subject 1o review and apgroval by IMCO and then ratified by G-ALCO. VaR limits are then cascaded to different
Investment desks, The investment risk VaR s as follows:

019 2019 2019 2019 2018
AED'DO0 AED'000 AED 00 AEDYDOD AE D000
As at Average Max Min As at

VaR - Banking Book
Al 166793 160,245 210,750 105,706 112,130
Interest rate 26,499 20,185 50,000 14,598 20,400
Credit 180,865 161,191 208,516 115,210 115,533
Foreign Exchange 15,548 14,374 36,792 6,241 17,078
Equity 6,901 5612 10,545 4,142 4,147
Diversification Benefit (63,020) {41,117} (95,117 {34,485) {45,028}

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial instruments and reflects the possibility that changes in Interest
rates will adwersely affect the value of the financial instrurments and the related income. The Group manages this risk
principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by matching the re-pricing profile of assets and liabilities. Overall
interest rate risk positions are managed by using derivative instruments Yo manage overall position arising fram the
Group's interest bearing financial instruments. The use of derivatives to manage interest rate risk is described in note 40,

Interest rate risk is also assessed by measuring the impact of reasonable possible change in interest rate mowements. The
Group assurmes a fluctuation in interest rates of 50 basis points (2018 50 basis points) and estimates the following impact
an the net prafit for the year and equity at that date:

Net profit for the year Equity
2019 2018 2015 W18
AEDD0O AEDFO00 AED'000 AED'ODO
Fluctuation in yield 534,036 +472,083 773,385 +532 858

The interest rate sensitivities set out above are based on AED 616,651 million (2018: AED 555,714 milion) interest bearing
assets and AED 533,118 million (2018: AED 472,889 milion) interest bearing liabdlities with interest re-pricing less than
ane year, for assessing the impact an net profit. The impact an equity as given in the table below is based on the sensitivity
of interest bearing assets and liabilities. The sensitivity does not incorporate actions that could be taken by management
to mitigate the effect of interest rate movements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

5 Financial risk management (cantinued)
(e} Market risk [continved)
Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange
rates and arises from finandial instruments denominated in a foreign currency. The Group’s functional currency is the UAE
Dirham. The Board of Directors has set limits on positions by currency. Positions are closely monitored and hedging
strategles are used to ensure positions are maintained within established Fmits. At 31 December, the Group had the
follewing significant net exposures denominated in forgign currencies:

et spot Forsrard Total Tatal
position position 2019 208
(short)/long (short)/long {short)/long {shart)/long
AED'O00 AED'000 AED"ODO AED'DO0

Currency
U5 Dollar {50,151,9596) 82,463,912 32,311,916 15,130,919
UK Sterling Pound 5,493,681 (5,213,708) 179,973 98,062
Eura 70,140,725 {B3,726,056) 414,669 578,735
Kuwaiti Dinar 1,023,458 (3,410,922) (2,387,464) (1,200,923}
Saudi Riyal 7,070,935 (14,715,788} {7.645,853) (611,589]
lapanece Yen 5,280,776 {4,659,905) 620,871 512,919
Swiss Frane {3,584,727) 3,675,666 90,939 51,394
Bahraini Dinar 2,093,754 {3,245,230) {1,151,476) {783,968)
Egyptian Pound 1,404,667 {1,553,355) {143,732) 252,866
Jordanian Dinar 6,820 55,454 62,274 266,597
Indian Rupees 1,130,245 (78,700) 1,051,545 718524
Malaysian Ringgit [853,051) 898,291 45,240 261,117}
Libnyan Dinar 300,239 - 300,239 263,663
Dthers 2,245,030 {1,573,276) 671,754 110,139

S

As AED, SAR and BHD are pegged against US Dollar, the Group's risk exposure to these currencies is limited to that extent.
Exposure to other foreign currencies is insignificant.

The tables below indicate the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December 2009 and 2018 onjits

manetary assets, liabilities and net derivatives forward pasition, The analysis estimates the effect of a reasonably possible

maovernent of AED against other currencies, with all ether variables held constant on the consolidated income statement.
Currency EUR GEF 13 IME
Assumed change in exchange rates 1% 1% 1% 1%

Impact on net income in exchange rate:

2019 [AED'D0D) 4,147 12,000 16,209 110,516
2018 [AED 00O} t 35,797 £081 5129 £7,185

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the effect of the assumed changes in exchange rates on equity is insignificant.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (cantinued)
{e}  Market risk {continuead)
Equity price risk

FAB is exposed to equity price risk on equity investments, either theough holding of equities of anather entity or through
equity derivatives such as forward contracts, options or swaps. The fair value of these instruments will Auctuate due
changes in the market price of the underlying equity instruments. The Group manages this risk through setting Equity Delta,
Wega and Gamma limits. The Group also enforces diversification of investments in terms of geographical distribution and
industry concentration,

The following table estimates the sensitivity 10 8 possible change in equity markets on the Group's incame staternent. The
sensitivity af the income statement is the effect of the assumed change in the reference equity benchmark on the fair value
of investments carried at fair value through the income statement.

Impact Impact
Assumed on net on net
lewel of income: income
change 2019 2018
% AED'D00 AED'OO00

Investrnents at fair value through profit or loss

Reference equity benchmarks:

Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange Index 5% 230 1172
Desibai Financial Market Index o% 50,743 41,508
et asset value of managed funds S% 74,319 91,366
Crther equity exchanges 5% 10,354 13,009
135 896 147,055

The effect on equity as a result of a change in the fair value of equity instruments held as available for sale at 31 December
2019 and 1018, due to a reasonably possible change in equity indices, with all other variables held constand, Is as follows:

Impact Impact
Ansumed on net on net
level of Incoma: I
change 2019 018
%% AED'D00 AEDOO0
Non-trading Inwestments [excuding investment n
associates and joint ventures)
Reference equity benchmarks:
Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange Index 5% 9,772 9,719
Dubai Financial Market Index 5% 1,692 618
Other equity exchanges 5% 17,215 8,351
Unequoted 5% 1,124 1,126
29,803 19,814
—oi 1
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (continued)
{d} Operational risk

Operational risk i4 defined a5 the risk of lesses resulting fram inadequate ar failed processes, people and systems or fram
external events.

Operational risks arise across all businesses in the Group, The primary responsibility to ensure that risks are managed
and monitored resides with the businesses within the Group. Group's businesses are supported by Embedded risk
resources and Group O perational Risk Management as "secand line of defense’ to ensure robust risk management.

Further, there are reviews conducted by Groug Intemal Audit as the “third line of defense’, The results of internal audi
reviews are diseussed with the management of the respective divisions and sumnmaries are submitted 1o the Board Audit
Commimes,

The Group has an established Cperational Risk framework consisting of palicies and procedures to identify, assess,
manitar, contral, report and to manage risks and to natify, identify and rectify incidents. The Operational Risk framework
also provides the interrelation with other risk categories. Where appropriate, risk is mitigated by way of insurance,

Typically, Operational Risk events are classified as:

»  [Internal frawd: Risk of unauthorized activity and fraud perpetrated by employees

=  Extermal fraud: Risk of fraud or breach of system security by an external party

= Employes practices and workplace safety: Risk of failures in employee relations, diversity and discriminaticn,
and health and safety risks across the Group
Damage to physical assets: Risk of impact to the Group due to natural disasters
Clignts, Products and Busingss Practices; Risk of failing in assessing client suitability, fidusiary responsbilities,
impraper busingss practices, flawed products and advisory activities,

»  Basiness Disruption and System failures: Risk of not planning and testing business continuity and disaster
recaviry for eystems

»  Execution delivery and process management: Risk of falled transaction execution, customer intake and
documentation, vendor management and monitoring and reporting.

The Board has oversight responsibilities for operational risk management across the Group, These responsibilities are
delegated and exercised through the Group Operational Risk Committee, which is the senior management forum
respansible far the aversight of Operational Risk,

Key responsibilities of Operational Risk Committes with regards to Operational risk include to ensure:

=  Approval of the Growp Operational Risk Managerment Framework and oversight over its implementation
=  Approve the strategy and direction for Crperational Risk across the Group,

= Establish an effective Governance structure across the Group

[e}  Capital management

CBUAE regulations govern regulatory capital requirernents for the Group; in addition the overseas branches and
subsidiaries may be directly supervised by their local regulators. The capital management process for the Group s linked
to the overall business strategy to ensure that capital is adeqguate to the level of inherent risk in the Business and within
the firm"s capital risk appetite The Group conducts capital planning in canjunction with the financial buedgeting exercise.

The Board and top management define the long term strategic direction for the Group. This provides the framework far
the development of a bottormn up plan based on the projections from indéividual business units. The bottom up plan isan
input ta the annual budgeting process and is conducted a1 a business unit and country level, These are consalidated for
each business division and finally, for the entire Groug. Business units, within each division, develop farecasted balance
sheet and income staterments for the next year, by considering the following key pararmeters:
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (continued)
(e} Capital management [contfinued)

the short term (one year) goals
risk appetite and strategy
target growth rates

target returns

The Group's capital management policies aim to ensure that it has sufficient capital to cover the risks associated with its
activities and the allocation of capital acrass the Group The assessment of the various risks acrass the Group and their
likely impact is carried out in conjunction with the ICARP undertaken annually. As part of the ICAAP process, Group Risk
function identifies the various risks the Group is exposed 1o as part of its day-to-day operations. Mext, the Group assesses
these risks against the existing policies and procedures, frameworks and methodologies, contingenty plans and other
processes to measure, manage and mitigate the impact of such risks. Finally the Group determines the capital
requirements for the material risk exposures.

The key objectives of the Group's capital management process are:

«  Maintain sufficent capital to mee? minimuam capital requiremnent set by CBUAE.

= Maintain sufficient capital to support Groug's Risk Appetite and strategic objectives as per lang-term strategic
plan.

=  Maintain adequate capital to withstand stress scenarios induding Increased capltal requirements determined
through ICAAR,

#  Tosupport the Growp’s credit rating-

The Group conducts regular stress test exercises inwhich the Balance Sheet and Profit or Loss statements are determined
for base case and stress scenarios. The risk factors are impacted by the assumptions made for the base and stress
scenarios and the corresponding impact an the capital adeguacy is determined. The Group uses macroeconomic stress
tests in order to project capital need and capital levels under varicus unfavourable scenarios, The stress testing is
perceived as an importan? 1ol ininternal capital planning, The stress test resalt dusing 2019 shows that the Group has
adequate capital even under adverse scenarios.

During the year, CBUAE finalized BASEL Il Capital adequacy standards and guidance barring the standards for Credit Risk
and ICAAF. CBUAE has also introduced additional requirements with respect to leverage ratio which Domestic-
Systernically Important Banks (D-51Bs) must maintain at least 3.5%. CBUAE also release a revized set of disclosures and
reporting frequencies for Pillar NI, These standards shafl be applicable from June 2020 omwards,

As per the CBUAE standards regarding the capital definition; the expected [ proposed dividends are to be deducted from
CETL. Consequently, the Capital Adequacy ratio as computed below takes into account the impact af propased dividend,

7
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
5 Financial risk management (cantinued)
[e} Capital management [contfinued)
2019 2018
AED0D0 AED'00D
Tier 1 capital
Ordinary share capital 10,920,000 10,857,545
Share premium 53,434,451 53,188,043
Retained carnings 18,469,164 16,678,196
Statutaory and special reserae 10,629,011 9,102 750
General resenee and share option scheme 478,081 4495, 106
Fair value resense 611,744 [s98,021)
Nan-controfling Interests 330,417 361,722
Foreign currency traralstion resere {354,657) 1310,931)
Lesia: Proposed dividisnd (8,080,800} {8,064, 183)
Eligible Tier 1 capital (a) B6,438.421 81,840,136
Deductions:
Treasury shares {18,564) (25,530
Deferned tax assots {40,335) (72,635)
Goodwill and Intangibe assets (20,621,922) [20,606,448)
Other deductions {141,752} {197 465)
Total deductions (20,822 874) (20,902 07E)
65,615,547 60,938,158
Additional Tier 1
Tier 1 capital notes 10,754,750 10,454,450
76,370,297 71,692 908
Tier 2 capital
Qualifying subordinated Rabilities 305,084 361,782
Allewance for collective impairrment 5,292,741 5,340,007
5,597,785 5,001,099
Taital regulatory capital base B1,968,082 11,394,007
Risk werighted assets;
Credit risk 433,419,311 427,201,365
Market risk 15,737,601 19,475,312
Dperational sk 35,913,142 35,606,011
Risk weighted assets 485,070,054 452372688
Ratigs with transition impact:
CET 1 ratio 13.5% 12.4%
Tier 1 capitad ratio 15.7% 14.6%
Capital adequacy ratio 16.9% 15.7%
EE— _—

The Group and its averseas branches and subsidiaries have cormplied with all externally imposed capital requirements
far all periods presented,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (cantinued)

[} Country risk

Country rigk is the likelihoed af econamie, social, and political events in a foreign country negatively influending the
willimgness or ability of state owned and/for privately owned custamers in that country to pay their debts on time.

The Group undertakes a detailed qualitative analysis pertaining to country risk as a part of the business decision pracess.
These factors indude economic, social and political stability in each country, the monetary policy, the foreign exchange
control measure, the transparency of Information, the financlal and market structure, banking regulations and
supervision, the legal system, and the accounting standards among others. Country risks are manitored and controlled
using country limits set by the Group; these limits are in accordance with overall busingss strategy, capital adequacy and
provisions for potential risks, risk rating of each country, acceptable level of risk, and business opporiunities in each
EOUNIFY.

[g)  Strategicrisk

Swravegic risk refers to the risk of current or prospective impact on the Group's earnings, capital, reputation or standing
arising from changes in the emvironment the Group operates in and from adverse strategic decisions, improper
implementation of dedisions or lack of responsiveness to industry, economic ar technological changes, It is a function of
compatibility of Group's strategic goals, strategies developed to achieve those goals, resources deployed to meet those
geals and the quality of implementation,

The Growp uses several factors 1o identify and assess impact of strategic risk on its books, including level of integration
af risk management policies and practices in the strategic planning process, aggressiveness of strategic poals and
compatibility with developed business strategies, capital support for the strategic initiatives to take care of eamings
vaolatility, effectiveness of communication and consistency of application of sirategic goals, objectives, corporate culture,
and behaviour throughout the Group.

Strategic risks are monitored and controlled as part of the strategic planning process wherein the Group reviews the
Progress on Stratégic initiztives vis-a-vis the plan and considers whether the progress is in line with the plan and the
external busingss enviranment. The strategic plan is periodically reviewed and updated subject ta an approval process
which is also a part of the strategic planning process,

[h) Compliance risk

Compliance risk refers 1o the risk 1o eamings or capital ar reputation or continued business existence arising fram
vicdations of or non-conformance with laws, rules, regulations, prescribed practices, or ethical standards.

The Group, on a continuous basis, identifies and assesses such risks inherent in all new and existing “material™ products,
activities, processes and systems. The assessment includes risks assessment on non-conformance with laws, rules,
regulations, preseribed practices, or ethical standards. The Greup Compliance function has a group-wide compliance unit
that develops internal controls 1o manage such risks and it is supported by the Risk Management, Internal Audit and
Legal functions.

In arder to manitor compliance and anti-money laundering risks, the Group has set in place the due diligence processes,
reviews of policies and procedures across the Group, implementation of an integrated compliance and AML system
which manages name clearance, transaction monitoring and payment monitoring activties, assessment through
compliance checkdists etc

Compliance risk is largely mitigated by way of focused policies and procedures, extensive checklist based and on-spot
due diligence and regular training sessions.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (continued)
i Reputational risk

Reputational risk is the risk to earnings of capital arising from negative public epinion, This can be due 1o exdernal ar
internal events.

The Groug identifies and assesses reputational risk by clearly defining types of risks to be captured, establishing key
sources of reputational risk it may be exposed to, based on individual circumstances, describing the risks identified in
terms of the nature of risk and the potential consequences that the risks may bring to its reputation, The Group alse
refers to other relevant information for risk identification purposes, Such information may be sourced from media
reports, stakeholder analysis reports, internal audit and compliance reparts, management exoeption reports or ather
early warnéng indicaters,

For repartational risks, apart from the regular menitoring of external and internal events that can result in possible
reputational risks, the Group also has processes to tradk risks that may affect its reputation. These processes allow the
BOD and senlor management 1o take prompt corrective actions to address any anticipated reputational event in advance.

In order to manage reputaticnal risks, the Group has set in place a mechanism that entails drawing wp action plans to
identify reputational risk events and facilitate subsequent manitoring of the progress made; for those risks that may be
very difficult or 100 costly to eliminate entirely the mechanism requires development of contingency plans 3s responge
actians,

{ih Interest rate benchmark reform

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally to replace or referm IBOR with
alternative nearly risgk-frée rnes (referred 1o a2 IBOR reform’). The Group has éxpasure 1o interbank offered rates
[(IBORs) en its financial instruments that will be replaced or reformed a3 part of this market-wide initiative, There is
significant uncertainty over the timing and the methods of transition across the jurisdietions that the Group operates in.

The Group anticipates that IBOR reform will have operational, risk management and accounting impacts. All business
lines and most FAB international locations will ke affected. Largest areas affected are Corporate Banking, Global Markets
and Fimanee functions, The expasure to IBOR are predominantly to USD and GBP LIBOR with limited exposure to other
IBOR"S including EUR, CHF, JPY IBOR,

The Group establiched in early 2019 a cross-functional IBOR Committee to centrally manage its transition to alternative
rates. The objectives of the IBOR Committee indude evaluating the extent to which loans advanced and liabilities
reference IBOR cash flows, whether such contracts need to be amended as a result of IBOR reform and how to manage
commaenication abowt IBOR reform with cownterparties.

[ Use of estimates and judgements

In the pracess of applying the Group's accounting polices, IFRS require the management 1o select suitable accounting
policies, apply them consistently and make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent and would result
in relevant and reliable information. The management, based on guidance in IFRS and the |ASE's Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements has made these estimates and judgements. Listed below are those
estimates and judgement which could have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
finamcial statements,

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

[a} Going concern
The Graup’s management has made an assessment of the Group's ability te continue 35 3 going concern and is satishied
that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermare, management is not

aware af any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability 1o continue as 3 going
concern, Therefore, the consalidated financal statements continue 1o be prepared on the gaing concern basis.

a0
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

6 Use of estimates and judgements (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
[b)  Impairment charge on financial assets
Impairment losses are evaluated as deseribed in accounting palicy 3(e){vii).

The measurement of impairment losses both under IFRS 9 across all categaries of financial assets requires judgement,
in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining
impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk, These estimates are driven by 2 number of
factors, changes in which can result in different levels of allowances.

The Bank's ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with 3 number of underlying assumptions regarding the
chaoice of variable inputs and their interdependencies, Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting
Judgenments and estimates include:

The Groug’s internal credit grading model, which assigns FDs to the individual grades

*  The Group's criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances far
financial as4e1s should be measured an a lfetime ECL basis and the qualitative assessment

= The segmentation of finandial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis

+  Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the dolce of inputs

*  Determination of asociations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inpuwts, such as
unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDy, EADs and LGDs

*  Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive the
economic inputs into the ECL models

It is the Group’s policy to regularly review its models in the comtext of actual loss experience and adjust when necessary,
(e} Impalrment charge on property and equipment
Impairment bosses are evaluated as described in accounting palicy note 3{1){iviil.
In determining the net realizable value, the Group uses the selling prices determined by external independent valuer
companies, having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category
of property being valued. The selling prices are based on market valwes, being the estimated amount for which a property
could ke exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length
transaction.
[d] Contingent liability arising from litigations
Due 1o the nature of it operations, the Group may be invalved in litigations arising in the erdinary course af business.
Pravisian far eontingent labilities arising fram Etigations i based on the probability af sutflow of econarmic resources
and reliabllity of estimating such outflow. Suech matters are subject to many uncertainties and the cwtcome of Individual
matters is not predictable with assurance.

[e}  Share option scheme

The fair value of the share option scheme Is determined using the Black-Scholes model. The model inputs comprise of
share price, exercise price, share price volatility, contractual life of the option, dividend yield and risk-free interest rate.

(f}  Valuation of financial instruments

The valuation techniques of financial instruments may require certain unobservable inputs to be estimated by the
management. These are discussed in detail in nate 7,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

[ Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (rontinued)
(g} Defined benefit plan

The present value of the defined benefit obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial
basis using 3 number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost {incarme) for obligations include
the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions would impact the carrying amount of the defined benefit obligation.
The Group determines the appropriate discownt rate at the end of each year, This is the interest rate that should be used
to determine the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be required to settle the future
obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers interest rate of high quality corporate
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefite will be paid and that have the terms ta maturity
approximating the terms of related benefit obligation,

Other key assumptions for defined benefit obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Additional
information on these assumptions is disclosed in note 24,

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies include:
{(h} Fimancial asset and liability classification

The Group's accouwnting policies provide scope for financial assets and labdlities to be designated on Inception into
different acoounting categories in certain clroumstances. The dassification criteria is mentioned in policy 3(c) (il).

{i}  Qualifying hedge relationships

In designating financial instruments as qualifying hedge relationships, the Group has determined that it expects the
hedge to be highly effective over the life of the hedging relationship.

1] Determination of fair value hierarchy of financial instruments
The Graup"s determination of fair value hierarchy of financial instraments is discussed in note 7.

[k}  Structured enmtities
For all funds managed by the Group, the investors are able to wote by simple majority to remove the Groug as fund
manager, and the Groug's aggregate econormic interest in each fund is not material. As a result, the Group has concluded
that it acts as an agent for the investors in these funds, and therefore has not consclidated these funds.

i Operating segments
In preparation of the segment Information disclosure, management has made certain assumptions to arrive at the

segment reparting, These assumptions would be reassessed by the management on a periodic basis, Operating segments
are detailed in note 41,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

7 Financial assets and liabilities
fa} Valuation framework

The Group has an established control framewark for the measurement of fair values. Several contral functions support
this framework [Valuation Cantrol and Product Control within Finance and Market Risk Analytics within Risk functions)
that are independent of Front Office Management, Specific controls include:
=  Independent verification of market data used in the valuation process and valuation adjustments when
significant deviations are observed;
= Review of significant wnobservable and stale inputs and significant changes to the fair value measurement of
Level 3 instruments;
beasurement of exit valuation ("Bid Offer');
Vabdation and approval process for new models and frequent review of existing medels or when changes are
performed;
Quarterly calibration and back-testing of models against observed market transactions;
Badel adjustraents when inputs are avery simplified ar the model has limitations deriving the fair value of 3
pasition;
«  Analysis and investigation of sgnificant daily valuation mevements.

‘When third party information, such as broker quates or pricing sendices is used to measure fair value, Valuation Control
assesses and documents the evidence obtained from the third parties 1o support the condusion that the valuations meet
the requirements of IFRS Standards. This includes:

«  \erifiing that the broker or pricing service is appraved by the Group for use in gricing the relevant type of
financial instrument;

=  Understanding how the fair value has been arrived at, the extent to which it répresents actual market
ransactions and whether it represents a quated price in an active market for an identical instrument;

=  \When prices for similar instruments are used to measure fair value, understanding how these prices have
been adjusted to reflect the characteristics of the instrument subject to measurement; and

«  If a number of quotes for the same financial instrument have been obtained, then understanding how fair
value has been determined using those quotes,

Significant valuation isswes are reported to the Group Valuation and Audit Committees,
(b} Valuation models

The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance of the inputs used
in making the measurements,

= Level 1; Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted] in active markets for identical instruments,

= Level 2; Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (i.e. as
prices} or indirectly (i, derived from prices). This categary includes instruments valued using: quated market
prices in active markets for similar instruments; quated prices for identical or smilar instrurnents in markets
that are considered less than active; ar ather valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directhy
or indirectly observable fram rmarkes data.

= Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation technigue
indudes inguts that are not obiervable and the unobiervable inputs have 3 sgnificant effect oan the
Instrurnent’s valuation. This category Indudes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar
instrurnents for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect
differences between the Instruments,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

7 Financial assets and liabilities (continwed)
(B} Valuation models fcontinued)

Waluation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, camparisan with dmilar ingtruments
for whidh observable market prices exist, Black-5chaoles and polynomial option pricing models and other valuation
madels. Acsumptions and inputs used in valuation technigques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, oredit
spreads and other premiums used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign currency exchange rates,
equity and equity index prices and expected price volatilities and correlations.

The objective of valuation technigues is to arrive a1 3 fair value messurement that reflects the price that would be
received 1o soll the asset or paid 1o transfer the Fability in an orderly transaction betwesn market participants at the
measurement date.

The Group uses widely recagnised valuation models to determine the fair value of common and simple financial
instruments, such as interest rate and currency swaps, that use only observable market data and require little
management judgement and estimation. Observable prices or model inputs are usually avallable in the market for listed
debt and equity securities, exchange-traded derivatives and simple OTC derivatives such as interest rate swaps, The
availability of observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need for management judgement and estimation
and also reduces the uncerainty associated with determining fair values. The availability of observable market prices
and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is prone 10 changes based on specific events and general
conditions in the financial markets.

For more complex Instrurnents, the Group uses proprietary valuation models, which are usually developed fram
recagnised valuation models. 5ome or all of the significant inputs into these madels may not be observable in the market,
anid may be derived from market prices or rates or estimated based on assumptions. Examples of instruments Invohdng
significant uncbservable inputs include certain OTC structured derivatives, certain loans, securities for which there is no
active market. Valuation models that employ significant unobservable inputs require a higher degree of management
judgement and estimation in the determination of fair value, Management judgement and estimation are usually
required far the selection of the appropriate valuation model to be used, determination of expected Tuture cash flaws
on the financial instrurnent being valued, determination of the probability of counterparty default and prepayments,
determination of expected volatillities and correlations and selection of appropriate discount rates.

OTC structured derivatives

As part of its trading activities, the Group enters into OTC structured derivatives - primarily options indexed to credit
spreads, equity prices, foreign exchange rates and interest rates — with customers and other banks. Some of these
instruments are valued using models with significant unobienvable inguts, principally expected long-term valatilities and
expected correlations between different underlyings.

Measurement on the basks of net exposures to risks

If the Group measures portfolios of financial assets and financial liabdlities on the basls of net exposures to market risks,
then it applies judgement in determining appropriate portfolio-level adjustments such as bid-ask spreads. These
adjustments are derived from observable bid-ask spreads for similar instrurments and adjusted for factors specific to the
portfolio. Similarly, when the Group measures portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities on the basis of net
exposure ta the credit risk of a particular counterparty, it takes into account any existing arrangements that mitigate the
credit risk exposure = eg. master netting agreements with the counterparty.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

7 Financial assets and liabilities (continwed)
[b) Valuation madels fcontinued)
Credit and Debit Valustion Adjustments {"CVA" and "DVA")

CVA and DVA are incorporated into derivative valuations to reflect the impact an fair value of counterparty credit risk
and own credit quality respectively. These adjustments are calculated for both uncollateralised and collateralised
derivatives across all asset classes. CVA and DVA are calculated using estimates of expected positive and negative
exposures respectively, probability of default and recavery rates, at a counterparty level, Counterparties include [but are
mot limited ta) financial institutions, corporates, sovereigns and sovereign agencies and supranationals, Expected
exposure is gentrally estimated through the simulation of underfying risk factors through Monte Carle simulation
technigues.

Probability of default and recovery rate information is generally sowrced from the COS markets. Where this information
Is not available, or considered unreliable, alternative approaches are taken based on mapping the counterparty to a
sector curve hased on the rating. the region and the industry sector. Net adjustment for OVA and DVA remained constant
at AED 68.8 million [2018: AED 48.3 million} during the year,

Model-reloted odiustments
Model related adjustments are applied when éither model ingats are overly simplified or the model has limitations

deriving the fair value of a position. These adjustreents are required to correct existing model weaknesses or deficiencies
that were highlighted during the model review process.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

7 Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
[e}  Fair value of financial instruments [continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value - hierarchy

Thee table below anabyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reparting period, by the level in
the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement |5 categorised:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AED'OO0 AED0O0 AEDOOD AED'DOO

As at 31 December 2019
Fweestrent at fadr valwe through profit or loss 15,150,281 3,468,678 1,a80,223 20,099, LEL
PO - with recyde to profit or loss 102,832,350 4,766,520 - 108,598,870
PVOC] - without recycle to profit or loss 573,601 - 22,485 556, 0E6
Derivative financial instrumens [Assets) 5,383 15911928 = 15,917,321
119,561,625 24,147,126 1,502,707 145,211,458
Term barrowings - 399,025 - 355,025
Derivative financial instruments (Liabilities) 65,518 19,163,022 - 19,228,541
65,518 19,562,048 = 19,627,566

A5 at 31 Decerniber 2018
Iweestment at fadr value through profit or loss 11,188,493 1,608,298 1,823,419 14,620,910
FOQ - with recyde to prafit or loss 80,714,588 3,630,021 - 84,344,600
PO - witheoun recycle to profit or loss 373,752 - 22,513 396,265
Derivative financial instruments [Assets) 47141 13.037.051 - 13,084,152
92,323,974 18276070 1,845,932 112,445,976
Term barrowings - 352,522 - 352,522
Derivative financial instruments (Liabilities) 10,775 15,208,680 - 15,219,464
10,775 15,561,211 - 15,571,986

Theére were no tranmifers between the fair value hierarchies for any financial asiet or liability except for two securities in
fair value through OO classification which moved from level 2 to level 1 amounting to AED 68.4 million. In regards 1o
financial instruments at fair value theough profit or boss, one security was moved from level 1 to level 2 amounting to
AED 34.9 million and two securities were moved from level 2 to level 1 amourting to AED 13.9 million.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
7 Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
[e}  Fair value of financial instruments [continued)
The following table shaws a reconciliation of instruments measured at fair value and classified as Level 3:
2019 2018
AED'DO0 AED'D00
Balance as at 1 January 1845932 1,875 387
Additions 41,251 112,431
Semiements and other adjustments {384,476) (142, 866)
Balance as at 31 December 1,502,707 1,845,932

Theee Level 3 financial instruments mainly comprise of private equity investments, and their valuations are based on the
last net asset published by the fund manager. The effect of changes inits valuation is covered as part af equity price risk
included in nate S{eh.

B Cash and balances with central banks

2019 s

AED OO0 AED'DO0

Cash on hand 1,991,508 1,696,420
Central Bank of the UAE

cash reserve deposits 29,796,172 11,496,362

certificates of deposits 21,989,135 17,995,385

ather balances 883,662 4,926,819

Balances with other central banks 115,194,658 136,050,534

169,855,175 183,165,520

Less: expected credit losses {152,167) (256,793}

169,702,008 182,908,727

Cash reserve depasits are not available far the day to day operations of the Group,

k) investments at fair value through profit or loss
2019 08
AED OO0 AED'0O00
Investments in managed funds 6,380 3,917
Investment in private equity 1,551,074 1,823408
Investments in equities 1,116,477 1,113,625
Dbt securities 17,385,250 11,679,960
20,099,181 14,620,910
E— T

89
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
10 Due from banks and financial institutions
2019 puuik i
ABDDO0 AEDOO0
Current, call and notice deposits 8,058,662 10,118.93%
Margin deposits 4,597 478 5,635,525
Fived depesits 4,378,331 3,471,784
17,074,471 19,226,248
Less: expected credit losses (47,969) [50.156)
17,026,502 19,176,052

11 Reverse repurchase agreements

Thee Group enters into reverse repurchase agreements in the normal courge of business inwhich the third party tra mifers
financial Fssets to the Group for short term financing. The carrying amount of financial amets at the reporting date
amounted to AED 24,678 million (2018: AFD 19,033 million).

Expected credit allowance of AED 414 thousand has been recognised against reverse repurchase agresments during the
year (2018: AED 15,356 thowsand].

At 31 Decemnber 2019, the fair value of financial assets accepted as collateral that the Group is permitted to sell or re-
pledge in the absence af default was AED 26,675 million (2018: AED 19,378 million).

At 31 December 2019, the fair value of finandal assets accepted as collateral that have been sold or re-pledged was AED
11,729 million {2018: AED 11,903 miltian). The Group is obliged to return equivalent securities.

These transactions are conducted under terms that are usual and customary to standard lending, and securities
borrowing and lending activities,

12 Loans and advances
2019 2018
AED'DDO AED'DDD
Gross loans and advanoes 421,730,318 366,817,683
Less: interest suspended (2,799,157) (1,968,015}
Less: expected credit loss (11,028,143} (11,883,248}
Het loans and advances 407,903,028 351,966,420
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
12 Loans and advances (continued)
2019 2018
AED'DDO AED'D0D
By counterparty:
Government sector 66,387,415 17,362,994
Public sector 64,816,580 61,790,844
Banking sector 24,681,349 26,472,001
Corporate f private sector 193,210,555 186,352 910
Persanal f retail sector 72,634,429 THE3E934
Gross loans and advances 421 730,328 366,817,683
2019 018
AED'DOO AEDDD0
By product:
Orverdrafts 24,652,642 22,237,129
Term loans 324,545,497 1TE,329,346
Trade related loan 33,778,265 17,927,281
Persanal loans 31,493 689 31,261,531
Credit cards 6,019,027 6,137,491
‘ehicle financing boans 1,241,208 924,905
Gross losns and advances 421,730,328 366,817,683

Thee Group provides lending against investrent in equity securities and funds. The Group is authorised 1o liquidate these
instruments if thelr coverage falls below the certain agreed threshald. The carrying value of such loans s AED 15,930
million (2018: AED 8 276 million) and the fair value of instruments held as collateral against such loans is AED 17,390
milllon (2018: AED 13,200 milfien). During the year, the Group has liquidated insignificant amount of collateral due to
fallin the coverage ratio.

Islamic financing

Incheded in the above loans and advances are the following lslamic financing contracts:

2019 2018

AED'000 AEDC00

ljara 9,304,250 8,172,431
Murabaha 21,766,334 23,174,504
Mudaraba 649,114 58,046
Others 261,374 318422
Total Islamic financing contracts 31,401,082 31,724,403
Less: expected credit loss (785,581) [704,387)
Less: suspended prafit {130,991) [27.811)

30,484,510 30,9492 205

1
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13 Mon-trading Investments
2019 018
AED OO0 AED'0O0
Fair value through other comprehensive income:
= with recycle to profit or loss [Debt Investments) 108,598,870 B4, 344,609
- without recyde 1o profit or less (Equity Investrments) 596,086 396,265
Amartised cost 5,387, 0BT 5,630,295
Investrment in associates and joint venture 63,399 65,141

114,645,442 60,436,310
Less: expected credit losses {1,020} {2,735}

114,644,422 00,433,574

An analysis of non-trading investments by type at the reporting date is shown below:

019 18
AED'D00 AEDDOD
Quoted  Unguoted Total Quated Unquated Tatal
Equity investments 523,401 136,084 659,485 373,752 87654 461406
Debt investments 113,065,018 920,939 113985957 89,060,242 914,662 89,974,904

113,588,410 1,057,023 114645442 80,4339%4 1000316 90,436,310
Less; expected credit losses (1,002) (18] {1,020 2411 1323} [2.736)

113,587,417  LO57,005 114,644,422 85431583 1001591 90433574

Debt instruments under repurchase agreements included in non-trading investments at 31 December 2019 amounted
ta AEDr 28,428 million (31 December 2018: AED 22,971 millian),

The non-trading investments include the fallowing investments in associates of the Group:

Percentage of holding
2019 Wie
kidmak Properties LLC L1E% 165
Emirates Digital Wallet LLC 23% 3%
bercury Payrment Services LLC 0 30

Midmak Progerties LLC (“Midmak™} Is a limited liability company incorporated in the Emérate of Abu Dhabl. Midmak |s
invalved inreal estate activities. Although the Group owns 16% of the outstanding shares of Midmak, the investment has
been classified as an associate as the Group exercises significant influence due to representation of the Board of Directors.

Emirates Digital Wallet LLC, established in 2017, is jointly owned by 16 of the leading WAE national banks, supperted by
the UAE Central Bank,

Mercury Fayment Services LLC is a limited Hakility company incorporated in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi to carny on business
of investments and payment service schemes.,
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14 Investment Properties
2019 2018
AED'DOD AEDDDD
As 3t 1 January 7,388,493 6,927,692
Additions / transfer from PPE 583,789 576,004
Dispasals [ transfer to PPE {8,729) [19,439)
Fair value adjustment [6,699) (95, 764)
Ac at 31 December 7,956,854 7388403

Amounts recognised in the consolidsted staternent of income in respect of net rental income of investment properties

are as follows:
2019 2013
AED'D0O0 AED'DO0
Rental income derived frem investment properties 92,264 52,328
Operating expenses (45,154) (33.233)
Met rental incarne fram investment properties 47,110 19,005

Inwestment properties are stated at fair value which represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a lability in an arderly transaction between market participants under prevalling market conditions at the
measurement date,

Thee Group's investment properties consist of land, buildings and properties under developrment in Abu Dhabi and Dubai,
Management determined that these investment properties consist of twe elasses of commercial and retad assets, based
an the nature, characteristics and risks of each property.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, fair value of the properties is based on the valuations performed by third party valuers
and all are level 3 under fair value hierarchy, The valuers are accredited with recognised and relevant professional
qualifications and with recent experience in the location and category of investment progerties being valued, The fair
walues have been determined based on varying valuation models depending on the intended wse of the investment
properties; in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Valuation Standards.

Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation on investment properties as at 31 December 2019

and 2018:
Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs
Buildings Comparable and Residual Methad Comparable transactions
Sales Comparison Method Current market price of similar assets
Land Comparable and Residual Methad Cast of construction
Developers profit
Financing cost
Properties under development Discounted cash flow method Discount rate
Cashy inflows
Cash outflows
]
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15 Property and equipment
Land, Computer Furniture,
buildings systems  equipment, Capital
and and safes and work -in-
alterations  equipment virhicles Progress Total

AED'00D AED'Q0D AED'O0D AED'000 AED'000

Corst
As at 1 January 2018 2,954,615 1,460,521 485 872 500,323 5401331
Additions 355413 36,336 35226 B70,.695 1.337.870
Allacations from CWIP 248,985 147,769 1,752 [958,506) -
Dispasals, transfers and

write offs! (443 864) (251,798) (129,938) [75,950) [201.550)
At 31 December 2018 3,155,149 1,942,828 392912 296, 762 5837651
Additions 2ED,682 171,849 115,463 1,032,465 1,604,459
Allocations from CWIP 66,428 347,027 11,504 {424,959) -
Dispasals, transfers and

write affs! (639,471) 14,972) {8,951} L] (E53,403)
At 31 December 2019 2,862, 78R 2,506,732 514,918 904,259 6,788,707

Accumulated depreciation and

impairmaent losses
s at 1 January 2018 b6, 542 EB9, 769 349,519 - 1 EG5,E30
Charge far the year £1,447 125,073 28,066 - 235,586
Dispasals, transfers and

write offs! {20,239 (185,347) [49,394) - [254,580)
At 31 December 2018 707,750 BO9,495 328,191 - 1846436
Charge far the year 134,462 180,136 36,714 - 451,312
Dispasals, transfers and

write offs! (127,021} 2,367 (13,373) - (128,027}
At 31 December 2019 725,191 1,091,938 352532 = Z,169,721
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2018 24473599 1,183,333 63,721 296,762 3,991,215
At 31 December 2019 2,137,597 1,414,734 162396 904,259 4.618.986

P adfusted for forelgn exchonge transiotion impoct
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16 Intangibles
Customaer Core

Goodwill  relationship deposit License Brand Total

AEDO0D AED'0OD AED'000 AED'000 AED000 AED'000
Cost
At 1 Janwary 2018 17,317,445 1813517 are028 22000 20,125,000
Business Combination

trandaction 52,804 |38,801) |382,703] 364,700

At 31 December 2018 17,370,249 1,774,716 503 315 368,700 22000 20,125,000
Agddition during the year - - -
At 31 December 2019 17,370,249 1,774,716 593,335 368,700 23000 20,129,000
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment lowses
At 1 January 2018 181,285 41,158 4,583 211616
Chasge for the year 151,761 48,802 1,100 201,663
At 31 December 2018 - 133,046 00,560 5643 410 180
Charge for the year - 145,830 49,353 - 2401 201,624
At 31 December 2019 . 482,916 139,913 - 8084 630,913
Carrying amounts
31 Decembaer 2018 17,370,249 1,441,670 502,775 38,700 16317 19,650,711
At 31 Decembser 2019 17,370,249 1,291,500 453422 368,700 13,916 19498087

Testing goodwill for impairment invobves a significant amount of judgment. This includes the identification of
independent OGU's and the allocation of goodwill to these units based on which wnits are expected 1o benefit fram the
acqursition.

Thee recoverable amount for the CGUs have been calculated based on their value inuse . determined by discounting the
future cash flows expected to be generated from the continuing ute of the OGUs , assets and their ultimate disposal.

Ma irmpairrment losses were recognized during the year ended 31 December 2019 [2018: nil) because the recoverable
amounts of the CGU's were determined to ke higher than their carrying amounts.

Thee key assumptions described above may change s economic and market conditions change. The Group estimates that
reasaonably possible changes in these assumptions would not cause the recoverable amount of above CGls to decline
befow the carrying amount.

95
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17 Other assets

2019 2018
AED'000 AEDQDD
Interést receivable 9,866,628 9,169,190
Acceptances 7,529,457 6,899,762
Sundry debtors and ather receivables 2,550,441 4,546,623
Deferred tax asset 40,336 711,916
19,986,862 20,687,451
Less: expected credit lasses (63,511) (103,889
19,923,251 20,583,602

Thee Group does not perceive any significant credit risk on interest receivable and acceptances.

Acceprances arise when the Groug is under an obligation 1o make payments against documents drawn under fetters of
credit. After acceptance, the instrument becomes an unconditional ability of the Group and is therefare recognised as
a financial labilivy in the consolidated statement of finandal position. However, every acceptance has a corresponding
contractual right of reimbursement from the customer which is recognised as a financial asset.

18 Due to banks and financial institutions

2019 2018
AED'O00 AEDQ0D

Bonks ond financial institutions
Current, call and notice depasits 2,210,422 8,158,400
kargin 1,917,342 897,243
Fixed deposits 12,758,412 16,177 477
16,946,176 25,233,120

Central banks

Current and call deposits 144,066 50.759
Fived and certificate of deposits 18,917,633 14,982 656
J.H,l:ﬁl‘.m 15,033,415
36,007,875 40,266,535

Duse to banks and financdial institutions are denaminated in various currencies and carry a rate of interest in the range of
0.57% to 4.44% (2008: -0.50% to 16,659,

19 Repurchase agreements

Thee Group enters into repurchase agreements in the normal cowrse of business by which it transfers recognised financial
assets directly to third partles.

The carrying value that is alse the fair value of financial assets collateralised at the reporting date amounted to
AED 28,763 million (2018: AED 23, 707 mililen] and their associated financial lkabslites amounted 1o AED 38,822 million
[2018: AED 34,770 milllon). The net difference between the fair value of the finandal assets collateralised and the
carrying value of the repurchase agreement is a shortage AED 10,055 million (2018: shortoge AED 11,063 milian], The
shortage is covered by re-pledging finandial assets received as collateral against reverse repurchase agreements ar
throwgh security borrowing arrangement from custadian,
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20 Commercial Paper

Thee Bank has established two Euro Commercial Paper Programmes with programme limits totaling up to USD 10.5 billian
im aggregate. The Bank has a "US Dallar commercial paper programme” with a pragramme limit of USD 5 billion,

Thee notes gutstanding as at the end of the reporting date amounted to AED 21,237 million (2018: AED 18, 144 milion)
and have maturity period of less than 12 months,

Thee Group has not had any defaults of principal, interests, or ather breaches with respect to its Commercial Paper during
2019,

21 Customer accounts and other deposits

2019 20138
AED'000 AEDO00

By eccount:
Current acoounts 163,661,767 150,416,721
Savings acoounts 10,338,002 10,125,980
bargin accounts 2,921,202 2822821
Hotice and time deposits 311,441,557 271,251,828
AR, 362 568 434,857,350
Certificates of deposit 30,799,289 30,579,716
519,161,857 465,237,066
2019 20138
AED'ODO AEDYODD

By counterporty:

Governmaent sector 152,374,406 141,661,679
Public sectar £8,803,076 73,231,345
Corporate [ private sectior 166,584,489 149, 324,566
Fersanal f retail sectar 0,600,597 F0434, 760
48R, 362,568 434,657,350
Certificates of deposit 30,799,289 30,579,716
519,161,857 465,237,066
2019 1018
AED'DO0 AEDAO0D

By location:
LIAE 394,392,055 333,024,490
Europe 31,836,181 35,862,559
Arab countries 34,296,726 27,451,582
Americas 16,872,179 31,768,355
Asia 59,531,168 5411063
Oithers 1,434.259 1,139,301
488,362,568 434,657,350
Certificates of deposit 30,799,289 30,579,716

519,161,857 465,237,066

7
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21 Customer accounts and other deposits (continved)
Islamic customers” deposits
Incheded in the above Customer accounts and other deposits are the following Islamic term deposits:
019 2018
AED'000 AEDVDDO
Wakala deposits 1,754,317 L213,3E80
hudaraba depasits 136,227 523,985
1,850,549 1,737,365
22 Term borrowings
2019 1018
AED'D00 AEDYD0D
At amortised cost 55,352,794 41,915,651
At falr value through prefit or loss 399,025 351522

55,751,819 42,268,173

Convertible notes included USD S00 million notes that rmatured in March 2018 and carried a fixed coupan that was paid
semi-anmually in arrears. The value of the conversion option at inception was AED 108,265 thousand and as such was
classified as a part of equity under convertible note = equity component reserve. Ugon the maturity and as none of the
option was exercised, the same has been transferred to General Reserve.

Duaring the year, the Group has issued various fixed and floating rate notes, The nominal values of the notes issued during
the year are stated below:

2019 2018

AED'D00 AEDDO0

As at 1 January 42,268,173 42,145,718
Hew isuances 23,906,212 2076645
Redemptions {13,529,379) {7.735,417)
Fair valuation, exchange and ather adjustments 3,106,813 {1.218,773)
As at 31 December 55,751,819 42,268,173
— j—————

98
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

22 Term borrowings (continued)

During the year, the Group has issued variows fixed and floating rate notes. The Group hedges its currency and interest
rate exposure on these notes. The nominal values of the notes issued duwring the year are stated below:

2019 2018
AED'000 AED'DO0

Eixed rate
AED 96,677 .
CHF 1,856,474 744,638
CHH 1,409,954 1,455,069
EUR 213,306 -
UsD 10,572,180 5,176,395
GEP 232,633 117,564
HKD 400,003 187,543

L)

AUD 77,331 -
5D 10,627,704 1,384,631
EUR 1,768,581 .

27,695,253 9,065,891

The Group has hedged the interest rate and foreign currency expasure on term borrowings. The nominal value hedged
are AED 45,71 billion (2008: AED 33.52 billion] and the risks being hedged have a net positive fair value of AED 499,27
millian {(2018: net megotive fair value of AED 1,264 millian), The Graup has net had any defaults of principal, interests,
or ather breaches with respect to its term borrowing s during 2019 and 2018,

23 Subordinated notes

2019 018
AED 000 AED'000

10 December 2012 issue (4,75 peroent fived rote maturing on
2 December 2027) 381,305 401,979

The Groug has hedped the interest rate and foreign currency exposure on the subordinated notes. The Group has not
had any defaulis of principal, interests, or other breaches with respect 1o its subardinated notes during the year ended
31 December 2019,

24 Other liabilities

2019 2018

AED 000 AEDDHD

Interest payable 8,631,724 8,329.375
Acceptances - net of discounting {note 17) 5,039,143 5,668,650
Provision employees’ end of service benefits 4659, 854 472,607
Accounts payable, sundry ereditars and other liabilities 9,005,759 10,943,162
Chverseas incame tax 194,359 192,546
23,330,779 25,606,380
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

24 Other liabilities {continued)
Employees end of service benefits
Defined benefit obligatians
Tiee Groug provides for end of service benefits for its eligitde employees, An actuarial valuation has been carried out a5
at December 31, 3019 to ascertaln present value of the defined benefit obligation. A registered actuary in the LAE was
appointed to evaluate the same. The present value of the defined benefit obligation, and the related current and past
service cost, were measured using the Frojected Unit Credit Method.

The following key assumptions [weighted average rates] were used to value the liabilities:

2013 2018
Discount rate 3.13% per annum 3,53 % per annum
Salary increase rate 2.30% per annum 177 % per annum

Demographic assurmptions for mortality, withdrawal and retirement were used in valuing the liabilities and benefits
under the plan. Because of the nature of the benefit, which is a lump sum payable on exit due to any cawse, a combined
single decrernent rate has been used.

A shift in the in the discount rate assumgption by +/= 50 basis points would impact the liability by AED 10,313 thousand
and AED 10,852 thousand respectively. Similarly, a shiftin the salary increment assumption by +/- 50 basis points would
impact the liability by AED 10,895 thousand and AED 10,441 thowsand respectively.

The maowement in the employees’ end of service obligation was as follows:

2019 018

AED"000 AED'DO0

Balance at 1 January 472,607 512,346
Met charge during the year 68,354 66,285
Remeasurement gaing/lesses in 00 21,980 21,91
Paid during the year and other adjustments {93,047) {127,925}
Balance at 31 December 469,854 72607

Defined contribution plan

The Groug pays cantributions for i1s eligible employees which are treated as defined cantribution plans. The charge for
the year in respect of these contributions is AED 91,718 thousand (2018: AED 89,955 thausand). As 3t the reporting date,
pension payable of AED 12,662 thousand [2015: AED 10,795 thowsand] has been classified under other liabilities,

Overseas income tax

The Group has provided for overseas incame tax in accordance with management’s estimate of the total amount payable
based on tax rates enacted or substantially enacted as at the reporting date. Where approgriate the Group has made
payments of tax on account in respect of these estimated lizbilities.

The owerseas incorme tax charge for the year is caleulated based upon the adjusted net profit for the year. The moverment
in the provision was as follows:

2019 2018

AEL'000 AED'DO0

Batance at 1 January 192,546 160,834
Charge for the year 314,963 325,004
Overseas incame 1ax paid, net of recoveries (212,750) {293,342)
At 31 December 154,259 192,546
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25 Capital and reserves
Share Capital
2019 2018
AED'000 AED'OOO0
Ordinary shares of AED 1 each 10,920,000 10,887,545
Treasury shares of AED 1 each 1E,864 25,530

At the Annual General Meeting (AGM| held on 25 February 2019, the shareholders of the Bank approved a cash dividend
of AED 0.74 per ordinary shares amounting 1o AED 8,064 million (2017: AED 0.70 per ardinary share amounting to AED
7.628 million). Further, the AGM also approved 1o Increase the authorized and paid up share capital from 10,898 millon
to 10,920 million. The new shares were ssued ta the Bank’s subsidiary [MBAD Employee Share Option Limited) in
connection with share option scheme,

Statutory and special reserves

In accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association and the requirements of the Union Law No. {10} of 1980, a minimum
of 10% of the annual net profit should be transferred to both statutary and special reserve until each of these reserves
equal ta 509 of the paid-up share cagital, The Statutory and special reserve are not available for distribution 1o the
shareholders.

Dividends

The following dividends were paid by the Group during the year ended 31 December:

2019 2018
AED000 AED'0O0
Dividend on ardinany shares paid during the year 7,843,642 1578784
Other reserves
Other reserves include the following:
Farelga
ClTEncy IFRS 9 IFRE S
Ferlr warlue General  ronsetion  Rewrhuorti- FESETVE - FELRrVE -
RV RSEn FRSEIVE OV FERRIVE speclfie  collmctive Total

AED 000 AED'000 AED D00 AED' 000 AED'DOD  AEDDOO AED'0OD

As.at 1 January 2018 625, X100 100,000 |63,075) 280,601 . = GG2, 736

Impact of adopting IFRS 9 at 1
January 2048 {124,078} . . B - - (154,078}
441,132 100000 |&3,075] 2an601 - - TTE,658

Gther comprehensive income
fosr thie paricd [1,039,153} . [247 R56] . o = [1,287.009)
Transfer during the year : 108,265 . . . - 108, 265
IFRS 9 resenve mavernent a i ' . 297,621 64,988 362,609
Asat 31 December 2018 |598,021) 218,265 [310,531) 280,501 297621 64,9838 [37,477)

102
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25 Capital and reserves (continued)
Other reserves [continued)
Foreign
ELNTEACY IFRS & IFRS 9
Ferir werline General  trandetion  Rewrlorh- FESENAAT —  FESereE —
resEVE resenay FESEIVE N FERRIVE speclfie  colfechive Tehal

AED' 000 AED' 000 AED 000 AEDF OO0 AED'0O0  AEDODO AED' 000

As at 1 January 2019 (5598,021) 218265  (310,931) H0,E0 257,511 £4,98% (27,477)
Oeher comprehenshe income

foor this pitriod 1,968,488 = [43,7286) - - - 1,924,762
Transfer during the year g - - 34 T 5 <
IFRS 9 reserve mavement - . - - 18287  ST7EM 555,921
Reaksed gain on sale of FYOO
Fveitment 19, 174] - - - - - [9.174)
B4 4t 31 December 2019 1,361,293 118,265 [354,657) 280,601 315508 G262 2474032

(i) Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of non-trading investments, until the
investment is derecognised or impaired, and cash flow hedge reserve,

Rewaluvation Hedging
FesEne = FEMETE =
irmstraments af cath flow
FYoL! hedge Tetal
AEDO00 AED 000 AED'0O0
Aaat 1 January 2018 &7, 495 |52,285) B25,210
Impactof adopting IFRS 9 at 1 Janwary 2008 {184,078} - (124,078}
493,417 {52,285) 441,132
Hetfair value changes (1,137,657} (32,869])  [1,170536)
Metoumu lative realised gains recognised in thi
corsolidated statement of profit or loss during the year 136 412 - 135,412
Impactof ECL 15,029} - [5,028)
A5 at 31 December 2018 1512 8E7) 185,154 (528,021}
As at 1 farwary 2018 {512,867} 85,154) (598,001}
hat fair value changes 2,633,928 70,090 2,704,018
Met cumulative realised gains recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit o loss during the yeas (B61,904) - (B61,904)
Impactof ECL 117200 117,200
A at 31 December 2019 1376357 [15,064) 1,361,293

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging
instruments related 1o hedged transactions. During the year, there has been no significant transfer from cash flow hedge
reserve 1o profit or loss,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {confinued)

25 Capital and reserves (continued)
Other reserves [continued)
{ii} General reserve
The general reserve |s available for distribution to the shareholders at the recommendation of the Board of Directors.
fiil}  Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve of AED 280601 thowsand [2018: AED 280,601 thousaond)] is related to land incuded under
property and equipment.

(W) Foreign currency translation reserve
Fareign curreéncy translation reserve represents the exchange differences arising from transiation of the net investment
in foreign operations, During the year, there has been no significant transfer from foreign cerrency translation resene
to prafit or loss.

[w) IFRS 9 reserve
In accordance with CBUAE circular, during any period if provision under CBUAE guidance exceed provision calculated

under IFRS 9, such excess is required to be apportioned from retained earnings to IFRS % reserve and this reserve shall
not be adjusted for future excess provision. The detalls of the same as below:

2019 s
AED 000 AED'000
Impairment reserve = Specific os at 31 December

Specific provisions under Circular 283010 of CBUAE 6,341,245 6,723,798
Less: Stage 3 provisions under [FRS 9 (6,348,700) (6,426,177}
Specific pravision transferred 10 the impairment reserve - 297,621
Balance carried forward from previous period 315,908 -
Cosing balance 315,908 297,621
2019 s
AED'D0D BED'0O0

Impairment reserve = Collective as af 31 Decemher
Collective provisions under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE 6,351,290 b,408,021
Less: Stage 1 and Stage I provisions under IFRS 9 {5, 708,668) (6,343,033}
Collective provision transferred to the impairment reserve 642,622 b4,988
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26 Tier 1 capital notes
9 018
AED" 00D AED'000
Government of Abu Dhabi Notes AED 8,000,000 B,000,000
[6 month EIBOR plus 2.3 percent per annum)
U0 750 million Notes usn 2,754,750 2,754,750
[5.25 pencent fixed rate until 2020, thereafier 5 year mid
swap rate phus 3.35 percent per annum)
10,754,750 10,754,750

Tier 1 capétal notes are perpetual, subordinated, unsecured and carry coupons to be paid semi-annually in arrears. The
Bank may elect not to pay a coupon at its own discretion. The note halder does not have a right 1o calm the coupon and
an election by the Bank not to service coupan is not considered an event of default. In addition, there are certain
ciroumstances under which the Bank is prohébited from making 2 coupon payment on a relevant cougon payment date.

If the: Bank makes a nan-payment election or a non-payment event eocurs, then the Bank will not (a} declare or pay any
distribution er dividend or (b} redesm, purchase, cancel, reduce or atherwise acquire any of the share cagital or any
securities of the Group ranking pari passu with or jundor 1o the Notes except securities, the term of which stipulate a
mandatory redemption oF conversion into equity, in each case unless or until Two CoRSeCUtive COUPON payments have
been paid in full,

During the year, coupon payment election was made by the Bank inthe amount of AED 571,855 thousand {31 December
2018: AED 495,047 thausand)],

27 Share option scheme

MBAD had introduced in 2008 a share based payment scheme (the “Scheme”] for selected employees which would vest
over three years and can be exercised within the next three years after the vesting period. The key vesting condition is
that the option holder is in continued employment with the Group until the end of the westing period. The options lapse
six years after their date of grant irrespective of whether they are exercised ar not.

The Group established a subsidiany to issue shares when the vested option is exercived by the employes, These shares
are treated as treasury shares until exercised by the option holders.

As part of the merger, the Group has continued the scheme with the same terms and conditions, Employees exercising
under the NBAD share option scheme shall be granted shares of the new entity.

During the year, 29,121 thousand aptions (31 December 2018 16,903 thowsand] had been exercised by the aption

holders resulting in an increase in the total share capital by AED 29,121 thousand (31 Decernber 2018: AED 16903
thousand) and share premium by AED 246,418 thousand (31 Decenmber 2018: AED 161,399 thousand).

28 Interest income

2019 2018
AED 000 AED'O00

Interest fram:
Central banks 976,641 GER BA0
Banis and financial institutions L1427, 102 1,040,354
Reverse repurchase agreements 700,208 388,117
Inwestments at fair value theough profit ar loss 343,327 JB5.429
Nan-trading investrments 3,194,015 2,314,943
Loang and advances 17,727,054 16,742,891
24,368,947 21,840,614
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
29 Interest expanse
2019 018
AED"000 AED'DO0
Interest o
Banks and financial institwtions 1,525 185 800,414
FRepurchase agreements 1171377 706,723
Commencial paper 481,252 A3 428
Customer accounts and ather deposits 6,669,362 5,307,623
Term borrowings 1,735,835 1,542,847
Subordinated notes 21,130 20,410
11,594,145 E,810,445
30 Met fee and commission income
2019 2013
AED"0O0 AED'DO0
Fee and commission income
Trade finance 907,730 1,053,033
Collection services 17,930 33,569
Brokerage income 25,743 25,535
Asset management and investment services 56,325 141,906
Imvestments, derivatives and risk participation 6,794 7.090
Retail and corporate lending 1,502,355 1,333 257
Cards and e-services 1,764,010 1,885,819
Accounts relared services 54,379 B0,165
Commission on transfiers 107,084 115,273
COthers 288,338 224,341
Total fee and commission income 4,730,688 4,879,983
Fee and commission expense
Brokerage commission 54,002 42,530
Credit card charges 1,076,309 1,086,900
Retail and corporate lending 78837 306,290
Cthers 52,111 51,896
Tatal fee and commission expense 1,561,259 1,487,616
Net fiee and commission income 3,169,429 3,392,372

299/332



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

oOoOooodn

gow . FABT

Firm Alns Efabi Sank
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
31 Net foreign exchange gain
201% 2011
AED"000 AED'000
Trading and retranslation gain on
foreign exchange and related derivativest? 1,950,259 1,456,886
Dealings with customers® 650,719 585,554

2,600,578 2,042,480

' D to effective hedging strategies, the offsetting impact of hedging instruments is reflected in the net gains from sale
of non-trading investments [mote 32

Indudes negative interest income of AED 366.49 million (2018 AED 285 44 million] arising from placement with ECB.

The comparatives have been restated to include customer facing portfolios which were in the prior periods included
within Trading and retranslation gain on foreign exchange and related derivatives,

32 Met gain on investments and derivatives

2019 w018
AED 000 AED'000
Met realised and unrealised gain on investments at fair valoe
through profit or loss and derivatives 611,253 E91,021
et gain [/ {loss) from sale of non-trading investments 861,902 136,412}
Dividend incame 33,122 71,616
1,506,277 826,225
33 Other Operating Income

2019 2018
AED 000 AED'DO0
Inwestment property (loss) [ income {6,068) {90,946)
Leasing related income 126,772 107,157
Cther income! 76,867 138,285
197,571 154,496

S

Inchudes gain on sale of property and equipment amounting to AED 28.9 million (2018: AED 1114 million)

300/332



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

N T
Stoneer FAB
Stronger &
Firwn Alea Bl Sk
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
34 General, administration and other operating expenses
2019 2018
AEDDO0 AED'O00
Staff costs 3,205,375 3,156,395
Other general and administration expenses 1,560,519 1,668,221
Deprecation (natel5) 451,312 235586
Intamgible amartisation (note 16) 201,624 201,663
Sponsorships and donations 80,161 66,690
5,498,591 5,328,555
35 Met impairment charge
2019 8
AED"000 AED'000
Impairment charge / [reversal} on
leans and advances 1,742,433 2,107,219
other financial aseets |28,267) 33,147
unfunded exposure 181,570 {326,543])
other non-finandal instruments 1,353 -
Recoveries {344,835) (303,770}
‘Write-off of impaired financial assets 300,726 215,741
1,842 980 1,725,794

6 Overseas income tax expense

In addition 1o adjustments relating 1o deferred taxation, the charge fior the year s calculated based upon the adjusted

et prafit for the year at rates of tax applicable in recpective overseas locations.

The charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year was as follows:

Charge for the year

37 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and balances with Central Banks
D fram banks and financial institutions

Less: Balances with Central Banks maturing after three months of placernent
Less: Due from banks and finandal institutions maturing after three months
of placement
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2019 s
AED"000 AED'000
314,463 325,004

S e
2019 2018
AED"000 AED'000
169,855,176 183,165,520
17,074,471 19,226,248

186,929,647 202,391,768

(21,453,508) (18,726,508}

{14,091,205) (7,987,484}

151,344,934 175,677,376
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

L] Leases
The Group leases a number af branch and office premises. The leases typically run for a period of 10 years, with an option
to renew the lease after that date, For some leases, payments are renegotiated every five years to reflect market rentals.
Some leases provide for additional rent payments that are based on changes in local price indices,

The Group also leases IT equipment with contract terms of one to theee years. These lexses are short-term and/or leases
of low-value iterms. The Group has elected not 1o recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these leases.

Frevigusly, these leases were classified as operating leases under 1AS 17.
Infarmation about keases for which the Group is a lessee is presented belaw:
Leases as lessee

Right-of-use aswets

The mowement during the period of right-of-use is as follows:

31 Dex 2019
AED 000
Balance as at 1 January 130,152
Met increase during the year 144,715
Depreciation and other adjustments {57 686)
Balance as at 31 December 217,181
e
Lease liabilities
31 Dec 2019
AED ‘000
Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted cash flows
Less than one year 70,455
One 1o five years. 161,209
Maore than five years 26,011
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December 257,675
e
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
AED 000
2019 — Leases under IFRS 16
Interest on lease Habilities 6,005
Depredation dharge for the year 51,789
Expenses relating to short-term leases and low-value assets 73,249
2018 - Operating leases under 1AS 17
Lease expense 120,873
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

39 Commitments and contingencies

The Group, in the ardinary course of business, enters into various types of transactions that involve undertaking certain
commitments such as letters of eredit, guarantees and undrawn loan commitrments.

There were no other significant changes in contingent labilittes and commitments during the year other than those
arising out of normal course of business,

2019 018

AED"000 AED'DOO

Letter of credit 63,227,522 59,955,337
Letters of guarantees 102,673,707 104,894,326
Financial guarantees 2,000,873 285,311
Trade contingencies 167,922,102 165,134,974
2019 2018

AED"000 AED'DOO

Undrawn commitment 1o éxtend credit 39,442,026 45,659,602
Commitments for future capital expenditure B41,722 491,968
Commitments for future private equity investments 794,001 Pk
41,077,749 47,423,892

Total commitments and contingencies 208,999,851 212,558,866

Credit risk characeristics of these unfunded faclities closely resemble the funded facilities as described
in note 5 are neither past due nor impaired.

Letters of credit and guarantee | “Trade contingencies™] commit the Group 1o make payrents on behalf of customers’
cantingen? upon the production of decuments or the failure of the customer to perform under the terms of the contract,

Commitrments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to extend loans and revolving credits. Commitments.
generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require a payment of a fee. Since
commitments may expire without being drawn upan, the total contracted amounts do not necessarily represent future
cash requirements.

Financial guarantee contracts includes credin default agreements emered with banks and financial institutions
amaunting ta AED 73.46 millian (2018: AED 73,48 millien] which are primarily denominated in US Dallars,

Financial guarantes contracts mainly pertain to the banks and financial institutions.

110
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39 Commitments and contingencies (continued)
Concentration by location:
Undrawn loan Trade contingencies
Commitments
2019 Wie 2019 s
AEDY000 AEDYO00 AEDY 000 AED'000
UAE 24,763,624 24865542 116,513,529 118,693,398
Europe 5,753,526 7422,240 15,210,556 19,593,289
Arab countries 3,092,043 2,202,963 7,491,914 6,967,012
Americas 3,057,299 3035469  12,099.805 11,956,195
Asia 2,396,190 3,659,085 9,885,439 7,755,276
Others 379,344 2,474,333 2,720,859 169,804

39,442,006 45650602 167922102 165134974

a0 Derivative financial instruments

In the ardinary course of business the Group enters into various types of transactions that involve derivative financial
instruments. Derivatives are financlal instruments that derive their value from the price of underlying ftems such as
equities, bonds, interest rates, foreign exchange, credit spreads, commodities and equity or other indices. Derivatives
enabbe users to increase, reduce or alter exposure to credit or market risks, Dervative financial instruments indude
forwards, futures, swaps and options. These transactions are primarily entered with banks and financial institutions.

Forwards and futures

Currency forwards represent cammitments to purchase fereign andfor demestic currencies, including non -deliverable
spot transactions (i.e. the transaction is net settled). Forward rate agreements are individually negotiated Interest rate
futures that call for a cash settlement at a future date for the difference between a contracted rate of interest and the
current market rate, based on a notional principal amount. Forelgn currency and interest rate futures are contractual
obligations to receive or pay 2 net amount based an changes in currency rates or interest rates, or to buy or sell foreign
currency or a fingncial instrument on a future date at 2 specified price, established in an organised financial market, The
eredit risk for futures contracts i negligible, a5 they are collateralised by cach or marketable securities, and changes in
the futwres’ cantract value are settled daily with the exchange.

Swaps

Currency and interest rate swaps are commitments 1o exchange one set of cash flows for another. Swaps result inan
economic exchange of currencies or interest rates (for example, fixed rate for floating rate) or 3 combination of all these
(i, cross-currency interest rate swaps), Mo exchange of principal takes place, except for certain oross currency swaps,
The Groug's credit rick represents the potential loss if counterparties fail to fulfil their chligation. This risk is manitored
on an angoing basis with reference to the current fair valee, notional amount of the contracts and the liquidity of the
market. To contral the level of credit risk taken, the Group Jssesces counterparties using the same techaigues as Tor its
lending acthvities.

Options

Options are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser (holder} the right, but not the
obligation, either to buy {a call option} or sefl {a put option) at or by a set date or during a set period, a specific amount
of a financial instrument at a predetermined price, The seller receives a premium from the purchaser in consideration

far the assumption af risk. Optiens may be either exchange-traded or negotisted between the Group and a eustamer
awver the counter [OTC).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
40 Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Options {continued)

Derivatives are measured at fair value by reference to published price guotations in an active market. Where there is no
active market for an instrument, fair value is derived from prices for the devivative’s components using appropriate
pricing or valuation models like counterparty prices or valuation technigues such as discounted cash flows, market prices,
yield curves and other reference market data.

The tabile below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments, which are equivalent 1o
their fair values, together with the notional amounts analysed by the term to maturity. The notional amount is the
amount of a derivative’s underlying, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of
derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the valume of transactions outstanding at year end and are
neither indicative of the market risk nor credit risk,

305/332



EDINETOOOO

oOoOooodn

306/332

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ETT
00" L8 ErE EELVEETEE SEETOE PO TL8"ES"05 e T L EsE LTETEETRT'E TeE'3EE'61 TEELTE'ST Eal
= 188186 DSLWSLE 99T LELBER'ST 617481 BLT'LTL
= = BLEWSTIT BEFFSTTT TEIERL BLT'LT s |
FAAALIGE Afurayana ulainy
- 188186 BSLWSLE LET 106 FIEEFS'Y 905 sdemg
P RDALITE 2300 1TRApL)
safipay Moyl yeoa 5o pray
Trl'OL0'es IEIRLI0E TRISSLOT BIEBSSET DLSL0'ET PP 0ST EVI'ESFE 90978
= = = = = = = a suDid o
Tri'oL'es TEI'BL'0E r1ssL'or FIEBSS LT 0L5L09°8T P 0ST EVIESKE 290'378 Sdemg
FRARDALIIR 2300 JE3ApY]
alipay anpoa rof 5o pjay
97966 TET TEQ'9O9TOT THELIVTEY EOS BT EGY BOETTOEDS FE6'0TE 56T 0oz'EISST PLOFI0ST
STH'TE EEL'ET6T THEEIST FEEEAL'T PEITE'S GRSRENTT BIEOE TOFLLTT FLOUD FAIOALAD S
L) 289’8 BLEGRYD TZFVET'EE SOEITEET ESHASL'v TLETIT LEO'RLT Sdoadn
B9 TLE T9E'ERI'L BrSBEE LY SE0'FAYETL SYLES TaT STH'STV'EEE LSHLYE'T BEL'SLLT FUERI0Y
FRALGALTD Alaiara ilaiey
BLY'LED osF'Esl GEETRE'S 1L0°T8Y'0Y 0SLP9v'ER SITOTOEEL E0Q'EaT GIO'LE saogdems g sIond0
056055 [ §174 THTTIET R0V 0V GEIRIEDT PELTE0'ED [0 TLA'TT SN F FICMIDS
S9T'TEEERE #9105 16T SPRORE LTy 5B 15t EEE"9L 01T ELA'PEEPSE"T Tov'osn'Er LRE'FTR'TE sdimg
FMROALTE AB0) JFANMY
“Bupposs sof prag
00, a3 000, a3 000,03 000.a3% 00.a3% 000,a3% 000,43 00,33
mirah 2ay EREDA 32U A3k aud Figidd.l A d TS
ek ong 09 saead, o3 sead O Sy ESTIFY ..-__.in_u:_l. VLT 1] g
40 RER{ W DI W g ke WEy) 5 i aedN BALTOS
AImIEW 0F WUa) AQ SJURDLWE |PUDIION GIOT Jaquadsag TE
{panuijuoo) sJUSWINIISU] [BIDUBLLY 3AIIBALIZQ or

{panuwjuos) SJUAWIDIE}S |BIDUBULY PAIEPIIOSUOD I} O) SBION

WUTH K] Ny Fi

gvd =

Lan ol -l e



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

oOoOooodn

¥l
TG OPT BET 60T 08T LIV LEE'ELY COT'PER'TES TPEBLTLTY LLTEWG'TRE'T FIFEIT'ST T61PE0'ET
I L69RET [ i BREERE'RD arE'era 4] eeL
G IR0'0T AL T QOTEIT BT CpUEMBOY
saviaonLp abuoLy s uliany
RTIIr LEYBLT OPE00E'R 099'E0s £ZT sdemg
SRALMMUID B0 SRR
sabipay soy Ysod 50 pray
TER'S51'90T PELTET'IR LBETET'SE PLERSS'0D 0S¥ TRT'T LPS0TT'SIE FEFLT'T ETH'STE'T
SIERLETS ESETETOC ENTNERTL QESLETTT TR0 665 B159596'801 TO9' TS EFIEES Fuondems
LITELT'ES SHE'D06'0T FLTI99'ET FEEEE'L L EIOPST'90T PIGE0T Y SETRT'T sdemg
SAAMMMUAD B J53A)0)
sEabpay anpon Jraf 50 play
D9PSRE"THT EITR0T'GTE LEGTRTFEE TER'IRL'TTS TEEPEE TP TEE S8 TOLT TPIIT6's LETRSITT
ESYNEYE HEETS S55°90'E PEOYSE'E CREORE'E SEEORD 0oT7EEN'T SIA0LIOD SIMNOALIAD S0
- LT0'GET SEETET'S 955G 'S 15T PET TP GIESTT'SE STFTET SEYLTE suondn
LY TLEESI'E GIOTIE'9T EISTES'9IT PISPIFTED FROLTRLLE S06'9£9'T £90°759'1 I
saanonap abuoyna ubiand
SATLSL SL00T0'T PLSETOE HE'ELE'TS BEELTS'T £05'98T'¥9 LEELTT STEEE suonodems B suondp
; TOFSELBE INLGET'S TEO'TED'TT SOI9T0'Es FIL'E 5818 SHNING 7§ Spremsnd
FLORITTRL EEPERTIT SETEREEDE SETSFE'LET ELLTRLPTT SLETS0'EE0'T FRLHES'L EBE'IST'E sdems
SRAFNALAD 304 153430
:Burpauy sof play
000,03 000,03% 000,03% 000,03% 000,03 000,03% 000.03% 000,03
sieak aAj sieak aady} FEEL T Sy ELTTY ELTETY
”.“ﬂﬂrue o sazad oy Jeah O Sy s Yy ””_zoEnz e FEETTOT]
BAAYG Wiy U0 WOl BN wasy uey) 553 i angeday anUE0d
Auniew o) Wwiay Ag SIUNDLUE [EUOIDN BTOZ =Owada TE
{panuijuoa) sjuBLUINIIsU] [BIDUBLLY SAIYRALRC] ok
{panupuoa) SjUualUIlE]S |EIDUEUL) PalERIOSUOD Tlf} O] Sal0ON
WG FITR Ny F

)avd 8

e e L

307/332



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

OOooOoOoOoo
Jolt kg 4 s
gow . FABT

First Al [Pabd Bani

Motes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

a0 Derivative financial instruments {cantinued)

The pasitive [ negative falr value in respect of derivatives represents the gain/loss respectively, arising on fair valuation
of the trading and hedging instrument. These amounts are not indicative of any current or futwre losses, as a similar
positive [ negative amount has been adjusted to the carrying valwe of the hedged loans and advances, non-trading
investments, term borrowings and subordinated notes,

As at December 31, 2019, the Group received cash collateral of AED 3,010.9 million {2018: AED 1,136.5 milian) against

pasitive fair value of derivative assets from certain counterparties. Correspondingly, 1he Group placed cash callateral of
AED 12,915.5 million {2018: AED &, 1244 million) against the negative fair value of derivative liabilities.

Derivative related credit risk

This is limited to the positive fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group, These transactions are primarily
entered with banks and financial institutions.

Derivatives held for trading

Thie Group uses derivatives, nat designated ina qualifying hedge relationship, 1o manage its expasuwe 1o foreign currency,
Interest rate and credit risks or initiates positions with the expectation of profiting from favourable movement in prices,
rates or indices. The instruments used mainly include interest rate and currency swaps and forward contracts. The fair
values of those derivatives are shawn in the table above.

Derivatives held as fair value hedge

The Group uses derivative financial instrurnents for hedging purposes as part of its asset and liability management
strategy by taking offsetting pasitians in order to reduce its own expasure 1o fluctuations in exchange and interest rates.
The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge against the changes in fair value arising from specifically identified interest
bearing assets such as loans and advances, nan-trading Investments, term borrowings and subordinate notes. The Group
uses forward foreign exchange contracts and currency swaps to hedge against specifically identified currency risks,
Derivatives held as cash flow hedge

The Group uses farward contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk arising from its financial instruments. The Group
has substantizlly matched the critical terms of the derivatives to have an effective hedge relationship,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

a1 Segmental information

The operating structure consists of four key Business segments across Geographic segments that are driving the business
strategy. customer valee propositions, products and channel development and customer relationships in addition to
supparting the defivery of the Groug's financial performance,

Business segments

Corporate and Investment Banking ("CIB*)

Cavers corparate and institutional elients thraugh dedicated client segments (Corparate Banking, Institutional Banking,
Commercial Banking, Privileged Clients Groups and Fimandal Institutions). CIB offers Credit facilities, Gobal Transaction
Services, Corporate Finance, Islamic Finance and Global Markets produscts to both UAE and international clients.

Personal Banking Group ("PBG”)

The business targets retail, affluent, high net-worth customers, Islamic consumer finance and SME customer segments,
The products’ ranges offered incude every day banking products such as current accounts, deposits, credit cards, loans,
sophisticated investment solutions, business banking products and services. The business furnishes variety of
distribution and cales channels, induding mobile and internet banking, branches, direct sales agents and through its
banking subsidiaries namety Dubai First, Aseel and First Abu Dhabi klamic Finance.

Subsidiaries

The buginess includes a diversified business model supported by complementary offerings. provided across real estate,
property management, brokerage and conventional banking, This business covers subsidiaries partially or fully owned
by the Group, namely FAB Froperties, ADMP, Mismak, FAB Securities and First Gulf Libyan Bank.

Head office

The Group provides centralized human rescurces, information technology, operations, finance, strategy, investor
relations, risk management, credit management, corporate commamications, legal and compliance, internal audit,
procurement, Ireadury operations, integration management office and administrative suppart to all of its business units.

Geographic segments

The Groug Is managing its various business segments thraugh a netwerk of branches, subsidiaries and representative
offices within the two defined geographic segments which are UAE and International. International business is further
sub-divided into two sub-segments which are Europe. Americas, Middle East and Africa ("EAMEAT} and Asia Pacific
{"APALT)

+  Europe, Americas, Middle East and Africa (EAMEA)
FAB network in the EAMEA region is operated through its presence in United States of America, Brazil, United
Kingdom, Franee, Switzerand, Oman, Baheain, Qatar, Egypt, Sudsn, Kuwait, Lebanan, lordan, and Kingdam of Saudi
Arabia,

+  Asia Pacific (APAC)
FAB's busiress in the Asia regian it ren through its presence in Singapore, Hong Kong, Korea, China, Malaysia and
Indka.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

42 Earnings per share

Earnings per share s calculated by dividing the net profit for the year after deduction of Tier 1 capital notes payment by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year as set owt below:

2019 18

Basic earnings per share:

Net prafit for the year (AEDDD0) 12,520,203 12,010,820
Less: payment on Tier 1 capital notes (AEDODD} {571,855) {495,047}
MNet prafit after payment of Tier 1 capital notes [AED OO0} 11,948,348 11,515,773
Weighted average number of ordinary shares:

Murnber of shares issued £ deemed 1o be outstanding

from the beginning of the year (1000} 10,872,015 10,855,112
Weighted average number of shares exercised

under the share options scheme ("000) 23,692 8,399
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (‘000} 10,895,707 10,863,511
Basic earnings per share (AED] 1.10 1.08

o ==

Diluted earnings per share:

Met prafit afver payrment of Tier 1 capital notes [AED GO0} 11,948,348 11,515,773
Add: Interest on comvertibie note (AED'D00) - 18,801
Net grafit for the year for calculating diluted earnings per share [AEDCOQ] 11,948,348 11,534,574
Weighted average number of ardinany shares ("000) 10,895,707 10,363,511
Effect of dilutive potential ardinary shares sswed {000} - 28,606
Weighted average number of dilutive shares under share options scheme ['000) 3875 10,458
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in Issue for

diuted earnings per share ["000) 10,899, 582 10,602 SRS
Diluted earnings per share (AED) 1.10 1.06

119
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

43 Related parties

Parties are considered to be related IF one party has the ability to contral the other party or exercise significant influence
over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. Related parties comprise major shareholder, directors
and key management personnel of the Group, Key management personnel comprise those executive committes
members “EXCO™ of the Group who are invalved incthe strategic planning and decision making of the Group, The terms
of thess transactions are approved by the Groug's management and are made an terms agreed by the Board of Directors
Of management.

2019 2018
Senior
management
and related Major
entities shareholders Total Tatal
AED OO0 AEDYOOO AEL'000 AED'D00

Balances with reloted parties ot the reporting date ane shown below:

Firancial assets 5,956,338 44,404,300 50,361,238 12,933,731
Financial labilities 10,934,652 33,870,159 44,804,811 12,596,616

—_—— — ———— _—
Cantingens liabilities 4,647 873 £,319,761 12,977,634 13,077,111

Transactions carried out during the yeor ended with reloted parties are shown below:

2019 2018

Interest income 222 8B4 1,626,175 1,849,058 416,238
I L} S e

Interest expense 226,489 355821 582310 262,880

44 Fiduciary activities

The Group held assets under management In trust or in a fiduclary capacity for its customers at 31 December 2019
amounting to AED 8,487.64 million (X018; AED 7.667.91 million). Furthermore, the Group provides custodian services
far some of its customers,

The underlying assets held in a custodial or fiduciary capacity are excluded from these consolidated financial statements
of the Groug.

45 Special Purpose Entities

The Groug has created Special Purpose Entities (SPES) with defined objectives 1o carry on fund management and
Inwestrnent acthitles on behalf of customers. The equity and investments managed by the SFEs are not controlled by the
Group and the Group does not obtain benefits from the SPEs’ operations, apart from commissions and fee incorme. In
addition, the Group does not provide any guarantees or assume any liabilities of these entities. Consequently, the SPEs’
assets, liabilities and results of operations are not induded in these consolidated financial statements of the Group, The
SPEs are as folbows:

120
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

45 Special Purpose Entities (continued)

Country of Holding
Legal name Activities incorporation 2019
One share PLC Irwestment Company Republic of lreland 100%

46 Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified where appropriate to conform to the presentation adopted in these
consalidated financial statements.
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2015 12 31 2016 12 31 2017 12 31 2018 12 31 2019 12 31

34.20 32.98 32.06 31.08 30.55

31.64 27.19 29.36 28.54 28.67

32.96 29.61 30.54 30.08 29.69

32.74 31.86 30.68 29.88 29.57

2019 12 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020
29.85 30.00 30.52 30.28 29.74 29.36
29.56 29.43 29.44 27.87 29.04 28.89
29.71 29.75 29.96 29.32 29.35 29.19
28.62 2020 15

UFJ
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2019 12 31

IFRS
2019 12 31

1SA

1ESBA

1ESBA

12 35

ECL
ECL

ECL
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2015 UAE
2015 UAE
13 2019 12 31
43
2019 12 31
2019 12 31 2015 UAE
34

2018 14 114
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Independent Auditors Report

To the Shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank P.J.S.C.

Report on the audit of the consolidated financid statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of First Abu Dhabi Bank P.J.S.C. (the
“Bank”) and its subsidiaries (the “ Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2019, the consolidated statements of profitor loss, comprehensive
income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising
significant accounting policiesand other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAS”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Staterments section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of

Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that
arerelevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statementsin the United Arab Emirates, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide abasis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financia statements as awhole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Impairment of |oans and advances
Refer to notes 12 and 35 of the consolidated financial statements for year-end disclosures.

The Group recognized allowances for credit losses on its consolidated statement of financial
position using an expected credit loss (“ECL") model. The Group exercises significant judgments
and makes a number of assumptionsin developing its ECL models, which include probability of
default, loss given default, exposure at default, forward looking information and staging criteria.
Qualitative adjustments or overlays may also be recorded by the Group using credit judgement
where the inputs, assumptions and / or modelling techniques do not capture all relevant risk factors.

Given the inherently judgemental nature of computation of ECL for loans and advances, thisis
considered a key audit matter.

Our response

We have performed end to end process walkthroughs to identify the key systems, applications and
controls used in the ECL process and to understand the governance framework around model
review, validation and approval of ECL model, data gathering and its integrity and underlying
estimates and assumptions used by management.

Our proceduresincluded the following:

Testing key controlsover the modelling process, including modelreview, validation
and approval;

Testing key controlsover the accuracyof key inputs used in the models;

Testing key controls over significant increasein credit risk (“SICR”) criteriainvolved testing
controlsrelating to authorisation of the criteriaand the application of the criteriain the models;

Testing key controls over internal credit grading (which is akey driver in determining SICR)
and monitoring process,to assess if the risk grades allocated to counterparties were
appropriately identified and updatedon atimely basis;

Testing the design and implementation over the assessment of model outputs and
authorisation and review of post model adjustments and management overlays;
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We involved our Financia Risk Modelling (“FRM”) specialiststo review the reasonableness
and appropriateness of the methodology and assumptions used in various components of ECL
modelling. Thisincluded challenging key assumptions/judgments relating to significant
increase in credit risk, definition of default, probability of default, recoveryrates, use of
macro-economic variables and probability weighted outcomes. FRM specialists also re-
performed key elements of the Group’ smodels calculations and evaluated the models
performance results for accuracy;

We have involved our Information Technology (“1T”) specidiststo assist in testing the
relevant general 1T and application controlsover key systemsused in the ECL process;

Sample testingover key inputsimpacting ECL calculations to confirm the accuracy of
information used and evaluating key assumptions including economic forecasts and
weightages;

Re-performing key aspects of the Group’s SICR determinations and selecting samples of
loans and advances to determine whethera SICR was appropriately identified;

Selecting a sample of post model adjustments and management overlaysin order to assessthe
reasonabl eness of the adjustments by challenging key assumptions, inspecting the cal culation
methodology and tracing to source data on a sample basis;

Performing credit assessments for a sample of selected customers, including Stage 3
customers, to test the appropriateness of the credit grades at a given point in time and assess
the financia performance of the borrower, source of repayment and future cash flows of the
borrowerto assess recoverability and ECL by comparing key assumptions to progress against
business plans and our own understanding of relevant industries and business environment
and where possible to externally derived evidence such as business performance and real
estate val uations for assessing the appropriateness of collateral valuesheld by the Group; and

Assessing the adequacy of the Group' sdisclosure in relationto the requirements of IFRS 7
and IFRS 9.
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Carrying value of goodwill

Refer to note 3 for significant accounting policies and note 16 of the consolidated financial
statements for year-end disclosures.

The Group acquired National Bank of Abu Dhabi on 1 April 2017 and finalised the purchase
price accounting in the first quarter of 2018. Management performed impairment assessment of
goodwill which arose from the acquisition. For cash generating units (CGUs) which contain
goodwill, the determination of recoverable amount being the higher of fair value less cost to sell
and value in use requires judgement on the part of management in both identifying and then
determining the recoverable amount of the CGUs.

Our response
Our procedures included the following:

We assessed the management’ s identification of CGUs,the allocation of assets to each
CGU and the methodology adopted by management in its impairment assessments
ofgoodwill;

For each of the CGUs we assessed the reasonableness of the cash flow projections
aongside with the growth rate assumption to externally available industry, economicand
financial data;

We involved our valuation specialiststo critically assess the appropriateness of the
discount rates used in order to determine estimated discounted cash flows and
benchmarking these againstexternal data sourcesand peer banks data;

We performed sensitivity analysis over the estimated discounted future cash flows and
assessed the impact of changes in the key assumptions to the conclusions reachedby
management in itsimpairment assessment and whether there were any indicators of
management bias;

We performed an assessment over management’ s abilityto accurately forecast compared to
actual resultshased on historicdata available; and

We reviewed budgets approvedby the Board Management Committeeto critically assess
whether projected cash flows for the CGUs are in line with approved plans.
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Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our
auditors report thereon (‘the Annual report’). The Annual report is expected to be made
available to us after the date of this auditors' report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility isto read the other
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the Annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we
are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate
actions in accordance with |SAs.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS and their preparation in compliance with the applicable
provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic aternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as awhole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assuranceis ahigh level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAswill always
detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materia if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with | SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to thoserisks, and obtainaudit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. Therisk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the overrideof internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal controlrelevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policiesused and the reasonabl eness of
accounting estimates and rel ateddisclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the auditevidence obtained, whethera material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors report to the related disclosuresin the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and eventsin a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the groupaudit. We remainsolely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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We aso provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financia statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these mattersin our auditors report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that:
i) we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

ii) the consolidated financia statements have been prepared and comply, in all material
respects, with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015;

iii) the Group has maintained proper books of account;

iv) thefinancia information included in the Chairman’s statement, in so far asit relates to these
consolidated financial statements, is consistent with the books of account of the Group;

v) asdisclosed in notes 9 and 13 to the consolidated financia statements, the Group has
purchased or invested in shares during the financial year ended 31 December 2019;

vi) note 43 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions
and the terms under which they were conducted;

vii) based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our
attention which causes us to believe that the Group has contravened during the financia
year ended 31 December 2019 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law
No.(2) of 2015 or in respect of the Group, its Articles of Association, which would
materially affect its activities or its consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2019;
and

viii) note 34 to the consolidated financia statements discloses the socia contributions made
during the year.
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Father, asrequired by Article(114) of the Decretal Federal Law No.(14)of 2018, we report that we
have obtained all the information and clarifications deemed necessary for the purpose of out audit.

/SEmilio Pera

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited
Emilio Pera

Registration number: 1146
Abu Dhabi

Date:27 January 2020
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